
 

 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 

Executive 
Committee 
 
 

Tue 25 Jul 
2023 
6.30 pm 
 

Council Chamber 
Redditch Town Hall, 
Walter Stranz Square 
Redditch 
B98 8AH 

 

Public Document Pack



 

 

 
 

If you have any queries on this Agenda please contact  
Jess Bayley-Hill 

 
Town Hall, Walter Stranz Square, Redditch, B98 8AH 

Tel: (01527) 64252 (Ext. 3072)  
e.mail: jess.bayley-hill@bromsgroveandredditch.gov.uk  

 
GUIDANCE ON FACE-TO-FACE MEETINGS 

 
 
Please note that this is a public meeting. 

If you have any questions regarding the agenda or attached papers, please do not 

hesitate to contact the officer named above. 

GUIDANCE FOR ELECTED MEMBERS ATTENDING MEETINGS IN PERSON 

 

Meeting attendees are encouraged not to attend the meeting if they have any of the following 

common symptoms of Covid-19 on the day of the meeting; a high temperature, a new and 

continuous cough or a loss of smell and / or taste. 

 

PUBLIC ATTENDANCE AT MEETINGS 

 

Members of the public are encouraged not to attend the meeting if they have any of the 

following common symptoms of Covid-19 on the day of the meeting; a high temperature, a 

new and continuous cough or a loss of smell and / or taste. 

 

Notes:  

Although this is a public meeting, there are circumstances when Council might have 

to move into closed session to consider exempt or confidential information.  For 

agenda items that are exempt, the public are excluded. 

 

mailto:jess.bayley-hill@bromsgroveandredditch.gov.uk


 
 

 
 
 

Executive 
 

 

 

 

Tuesday, 25th July, 2023 

6.30 pm 

Committee Room 2 Town Hall 

 

 

Agenda Membership: 

 Cllrs: Matthew Dormer 
(Chair) 
Gemma Monaco 
(Vice-Chair) 
Joe Baker 
Joanne Beecham 
Brandon Clayton 
 

Luke Court 
Lucy Harrison 
Bill Hartnett 
Craig Warhurst 
 

 

1. Apologies   
 

2. Declarations of Interest   
 

To invite Councillors to declare any Disclosable Pecuniary Interests and / or Other 
Disclosable Interests they may have in items on the agenda, and to confirm the nature of 
those interests. 
 

3. Leader's Announcements   
 

4. Worcestershire Housing Strategy 2040 (Pages 5 - 58)  
 

5. Finance Recovery Plan - Update (Pages 59 - 70)  
 

6. Approvals to Spend Report (Pages 71 - 84)  
 

7. Treasury Outturn Report 22/23 (Pages 85 - 100)  
 

8. Overview and Scrutiny Committee (Pages 101 - 110)  
 

9. Minutes / Referrals - Overview and Scrutiny Committee, Executive Panels etc.   
 

To receive and consider any outstanding minutes or referrals from the Overview and Scrutiny 
Committee, Executive Panels etc. since the last meeting of the Executive Committee, other 
than as detailed in the items above. 
 

10. To consider any urgent business, details of which have been notified to the 
Head of Legal, Democratic and Property Services prior to the commencement 
of the meeting and which the Chair, by reason of special circumstances, 
considers to be of so urgent a nature that it cannot wait until the next meeting   

 



 

 

Executive 
 

 

 

Tuesday, 25th July, 2023 

 

 

11. Exclusion of the press and public   

“That, under S.100 (A) (4) of the Local Government Act 1972, the public be excluded from 
the meeting for the following matter(s) on the grounds that it/they involve(s) the likely 
disclosure of exempt information as defined in the relevant paragraphs (to be specified) of 
Part 1 of Schedule 12 (A) of the said Act”. 
 
These paragraphs are as follows: 

Subject to the “public interest” test, information relating to: 

         Para 1 – any individual; 

         Para 2 – the identity of any individual; 

         Para 3 – financial or business affairs; 

                     and may need to be considered as ‘exempt’.  

12. Minutes (Pages 111 - 128)  
 

13. Establishment of a Programme Office (Pages 129 - 164)  
 

Should it be necessary, in the opinion of the Chief Executive, during the course of the 
meeting to consider excluding the public from the meeting on the grounds that exempt 
information is likely to be divulged, it may be necessary to move the following resolution: 



REDDITCH BOROUGH COUNCIL  

 
Executive Committee  25th July 

2023
  
 

WORCESTERSHIRE HOUSING STRATEGY 2021-2040 
 

Relevant Portfolio Holder  Councillor Craig Warhurst 

Portfolio Holder Consulted  Yes  

Relevant Head of Service Judith Willis 

Report Author Job Title: Judith Willis 
Contact email: 
judith.willis@bromsgroveandredditch.gov.uk 
Contact Tel: 0152764252 ext 3348 

Wards Affected ALL  

Ward Councillor(s) consulted  

Relevant Strategic Purpose(s)  Finding somewhere to live, 

 Aspiration, work & financial 
independence,  

 living independent, active & healthy 
lives  

 Communities which are safe, well 
maintained & green. 

Key Decision / Non-Key Decision 

If you have any questions about this report, please contact the report author in 
advance of the meeting. 

This report contains exempt information as defined in Paragraph(s)   of Part I 
of Schedule 12A to the Local Government Act 1972, as amended 

 
1. RECOMMENDATIONS 

 
 The Executive RECOMMEND that:-  
 

1) The Worcestershire Housing Strategy 2021 – 2040 be adopted. 
 

2) Officers be asked to develop a Borough Level Action Plan with 
consideration given to the proposals in this Strategy. 

 
 

2. BACKGROUND 
 
2.1 The Council adopted a Worcestershire Housing Partnership Plan in 

2017 which set out the strategic direction for housing across 
Worcestershire.   This Plan has been reviewed and partners from 
across the County have produced a Worcestershire Housing Strategy 
2021 – 2040 attached as Appendix 1. 

 

Page 5 Agenda Item 4



REDDITCH BOROUGH COUNCIL  

 
Executive Committee  25th July 

2023
  
 
2.2 The Strategy sets out a 20-year vision for the Count, recognising that 

decisions made today will have a significant impact on housing in the 
future. 

 
2.3 The strategy has been developed with representation from the 7 

Worcestershire Local Authorities, NHS providers, local housing 
providers and the Worcestershire Local Enterprise Partnership 
(WLEP). It has undergone consultation across a range of stakeholders 
in the County to ensure that it reflects the needs, challenges, and 
opportunities in Worcestershire. 

 
2.4 The strategy serves several purposes: 
 

• It is a vision for housing in the county to 2040.  
• It provides a statement of intent focused on specific priorities 
• It provides the foundation of a set of more detailed action plans to    
 cause the necessary changes and actions to happen and be 
 delivered. 
• It provides an opportunity to evolve Worcestershire’s housing market 
 offer to meet the needs of its citizens and business over the longer 
 term. 
 

2.5 The strategy sets out the vision for housing in Worcestershire: 
 

Worcestershire will be known for excellent housing. Everyone will 
have choices about how and where they live. Local homes will be 
warm, healthy and will lead the way towards Net Zero. 
Worcestershire housing will add to a better quality of life. 

 

2.6 The vision will be delivered through four priority areas, which are: 
 

a) Economic growth and jobs- this priority focusses on the 
relationship between housing and the economy and the need 
to supply the right housing for people who live and work in 
Worcestershire. 

 

b) Quality and standards- this priority focusses on ensuring 
that housing in Worcestershire is as good as it can be and 
that the County takes advantage of innovation in how 
houses are planned, built and upgraded. 

 

c) Health and wellbeing- this priority focusses on the importance 
of affordable, healthy housing that supports everybody, 
whatever their needs or circumstances as well as creating and 

Page 6 Agenda Item 4



REDDITCH BOROUGH COUNCIL  

 
Executive Committee  25th July 

2023
  
 

maintaining sustainable communities. 
 

d) Net Zero carbon and climate change- this priority 
focusses on ensuring that housing in Worcestershire is 
decarbonized in line with national targets. 

 
2.7 To accompany the Strategy a Countywide action plan has been 

developed with each Local Authority having responsibility to develop 
its own action plan to set out how it intends to meet and contribute 
towards the ambitions of the Strategy locally. 

 

2.8 Due to the strategy setting out a 20-year ambition, the proposals for 
delivery are at three levels of detail: 

 
a) A 100-day plan to create momentum and promote awareness 
 
b) A 5-year action plan setting out key priorities across each of the four 

priority areas.   These actions will be delivered through Countywide 
delivery groups. 

 
c) A twenty-year road map outlining how the components of the 

strategy will support the delivery of the vision. 
 
3. OPERATIONAL ISSUES 
 
3.1 Upon approval of the Strategy, Officers will develop an individual 

Borough-level action plan. 
 
4. FINANCIAL IMPLICATIONS   
  
4.1 There are no direct financial implications associated with adopting this 

strategy 
 
5. LEGAL IMPLICATIONS 
 
5.1 The deregulation Act 2015 abolished the statutory requirement for 

Council’s to produce a Housing Strategy. 
 

5.2 However, it is recognised across all the Worcestershire Council’s and 
partners that Housing is key to the quality of life of residents and that this 
Strategy will provide future a vision and future direction to achieve this. 

 
6. OTHER - IMPLICATIONS 
 
 Relevant Strategic Purpose  

Page 7 Agenda Item 4



REDDITCH BOROUGH COUNCIL  

 
Executive Committee  25th July 

2023
  
 
 
6.1 The Strategy will support the Council’s following Strategic purposes: 
 

 Finding somewhere to live, 

 Aspiration, work & financial independence,  

 Living independent, active & healthy lives 

 Communities which are safe, well maintained & green. 
 

Climate Change Implications 
 
6.2 Carbon reduction is a key feature of the Strategy with the fourth priority 

being ‘Net Zero carbon and climate Change.  This provides an ambition 
to reduce the impact that dwellings have climate change and help the 
Council meets its Climate Change Strategy vision. 

 
 Equalities and Diversity Implications 
 
6.3 There are a range of equality considerations which have been taken into 

account in the development of the strategy. This includes the changing 
demographics across the County where it is projected that there will be 
an increasing ageing population and therefore a greater demand on later 
living housing provision.  

 
6.4 Section 3.1 of the Strategy sets our population and Economics 

information which is then addressed within the Strategy. 
 
7. RISK MANAGEMENT    
 
7.1  Failing to influence the housing market in a strategic way could lead to a 

rise in homelessness locally, and impact upon the delivery of affordable 
housing.  

 
 
8. APPENDICES and BACKGROUND PAPERS 

 
Appendix A – Worcestershire Housing Strategy 2021 to 2024  

  

Page 8 Agenda Item 4



REDDITCH BOROUGH COUNCIL  

 
Executive Committee  25th July 

2023
  
 
9.  REPORT SIGN OFF 
  

 
Department 
 

 
Name and Job Title 

 
Date 
 

 
Portfolio Holder 
 

 
Cllr Craig Warhurst 
 

 
4.07.23 

 
Lead Director / Head of 
Service 
 

 
Judith Willis, Head of 
Community & Housing 
Services 
 

 
21.06.23 

 
Financial Services 
 

 
Peter Carpenter 

 
21.06.23 

 
Legal Services 
 

 
Claire Felton 

 
21.06.23 

 
Policy Team (if equalities 
implications apply) 
 

 
 

 
 

 
Climate Change Team (if 
climate change 
implications apply) 
 

 
Matthew Bough 

 
21.06.23 

  

Page 9 Agenda Item 4



This page is intentionally left blank



 

Worcestershire Housing Strategy |  1 

Worcestershire 
Housing Strategy 
2023 - 2040 
 

Page 11 Agenda Item 4



 

Worcestershire Housing Strategy |  2 

Contents 
1 Introduction ................................................................................................................................................. 4 

1.1 Context and Background ................................................................................................................... 4 

1.2 Content, Purpose and Objectives ..................................................................................................... 6 

2 Vision ........................................................................................................................................................... 7 

3 Local, Regional and National Context ...................................................................................................... 8 

3.1 Population and Economics ................................................................................................................ 8 

3.2 Organisation, Administration and Strategy ................................................................................... 17 

3.3 Policy ................................................................................................................................................. 19 

4 Priorities .................................................................................................................................................... 21 

4.1 Overview – What Are the Priorities? ............................................................................................... 21 

4.2 How Are the Priorities Organised? ................................................................................................. 22 

4.3 Strategy Priorities ............................................................................................................................. 22 

Priority Area 1 – Economic Growth and Jobs ............................................................................................ 22 

Priority Area 2 – Quality and standards ...................................................................................................... 26 

Priority Area 3 – Health and Well-Being ..................................................................................................... 30 

Priority Area 4 – Net Zero Carbon and Climate Change ........................................................................... 33 

5 2023-2025 Action Plan .............................................................................................................................. 37 

5.1 The 100-day plan ............................................................................................................................... 37 

5.2 Action Plan 2023-2025 ...................................................................................................................... 39 

Public engagement ....................................................................................................................................... 46 

5.3 Long-term transformational road map ........................................................................................... 46 

  

Page 12 Agenda Item 4



 

Worcestershire Housing Strategy |  3 

Foreword 
Housing has always been an important consideration for the people of Worcestershire.  Our towns and 

villages are attractive places to live, and many people aspire to move to the county.  However, the challenges 

associated with ensuring that there is enough high quality, suitable housing to meet the needs of all citizens 

have been critical issues for many years.  The cost-of-living crisis in 2022 and a continuing shortage of 

housing across all tenures has helped to highlight the importance of the role that housing plays in determining 

life chances in the county.  However, there is room for improvement.  By thinking of housing as one of 

Worcestershire’s strategic assets, we can plan more effectively to deliver better outcomes, including health, 

well-being, and our low-carbon futures. 

Local authorities play an important part in planning for future housing as well as providing services alongside 

housing including social care.  In Worcestershire, these services are provided by the six District and Borough 

Councils and the County Council, all of whom are locally accountable.  This arrangement ensures that local 

concerns are addressed in connection with housing and that new development respects local character.  

Looking forward, the role of local authorities in connection with housing can only become more extensive and 

more influential.  Social care delivered in the home alongside other services for example is set to become an 

important enabler of independent living for our older residents.  Work to improve the condition and 

performance of our homes will also play a key role in our meeting the UK’s net zero carbon objectives. 

To meet these expanded, long-term expectations, we need a long-term perspective.  We will also need a 

joined-up approach.  Whilst most of the work in connection with housing will continue to be undertaken by 

individual councils, it will make sense to approach many of our challenges in a consistent and collaborative 

way.  Whilst we value the unique character of Worcestershire’s communities, we also recognise that we can 

come together across the county to plan and to work together to deliver better outcomes for everyone who 

lives in the county. 

In response to the challenges and opportunities we face, we have developed a long-term housing strategy for 

Worcestershire.  The strategy focuses on key issues associated with how housing affects economic growth, 

jobs and health and wellbeing in the county as well as how housing can be harnessed to meet carbon and 

climate change ambitions.  In the strategy we set out a joint-vision for housing for the period up to 2040 and a 

series of medium- and long-term priorities that all bodies interested in housing in Worcestershire can get 

behind.  The benefit of having the strategy in place is that we will have a clear long-term vision for the role of 

housing in Worcestershire that we can all get behind and for which local authorities can be held accountable. 

I have thoroughly enjoyed the process of developing the Worcestershire Housing Vision and Strategy, working 

with colleagues and stakeholders across the county to develop a flexible and adaptable plan that will equip us 

to work together to deliver better housing for everyone in the county.  I am excited about the vision and the 

plan proposals and am confident that we can equip ourselves to meet the many complex issues surrounding 

housing in the county.  Worcestershire housing will add to a better quality of life, and that is something that we 

can all work towards. 

 

Kevin Dicks, Chair of the Worcestershire Housing Strategy Board 

Page 13 Agenda Item 4



 

Worcestershire Housing Strategy |  4 

1 Introduction 

1.1 Context and Background 

Worcestershire benefits enormously from being right in the heart of England. With exceptional links into the 

UK motorway network, proximity to Birmingham International Airport, and in the medium term, HS2. The 

County has enjoyed one of the highest long-term economic growth rates outside of the Greater South-East 

and has real strengths in a diverse range of sectors including advanced manufacturing, agri-tech, cyber 

security, defence, and IT.  

Worcestershire is a great place to live, with 

a diverse and contrasting choice of 

characterful urban and rural locations 

across the six districts/ boroughs. But the 

county has its challenges. Worcestershire 

has an older population than the national 

average, but the working age population is 

not growing quickly enough. Furthermore, 

the county’s over 65s will grow in number 

by over 40% by 2040. To achieve its 

ambitious economic plan through to 2040, 

Worcestershire needs to build the 

workforce needed to attract and grow new 

businesses. To do this it will need to 

attract new families to live, work and grow 

in the county and it will need to retain its 

graduate and young talent. Worcestershire 

will also need to continue to care for its 

people, dealing in particular with issues of 

homelessness and ill-health as well as 

addressing the long-term implications of 

an ageing population.  

Good quality housing is critical in attracting people to a place, but the Covid pandemic has also underlined the 

importance of fit for purpose housing in connection with people’s health and wellbeing and has further 

reinforced the link between quality of housing and housing-related services to health and social care. Housing 

is also responsible for 22% of all UK carbon emissions and policies to accelerate decarbonisation will play a 

critical role in our fight against climate change.  

Local Authorities in Worcestershire have policies and plans in place to manage housing delivery and housing 

related services in the short and medium term. However, there is the need for a long-term vision and a joined-

up plan to enable the two tiers of government in Worcestershire to cooperate and collaborate (with third 

parties as needed) to deliver the best housing outcomes. Above all, authorities must focus on a range of 

actions to create and maintain momentum towards the long-term goal.  

The 2040 Housing Strategy represents an ambitious, long term and important Vision for the County. It seeks 

to enable Worcestershire One Public Estate Partnership’s (WOPEP) Housing Workstream to ‘rebalance the 

housing market in Worcestershire in support of economic growth’. It sets out steps to support improving 

physical and mental health and wellbeing, reducing health inequalities, addressing climate change, and taking 

account of the longer-term impact of Covid-19. In short, it is a strategy that will improve the quality of life for 

the residents of, and visitors to, Worcestershire. 

The starting point is a positive one. The county has a history of collaboration and partnership working across 

multiple services. Worcestershire developed one of the first One Public Estate (OPE) partnerships and has a 

very effective integrated care strategy (ICB) underpinned by effective working of local authorities, the NHS 

Figure: Worcestershire County, its districts/ boroughs, and neighbouring 

boundaries 

Page 14 Agenda Item 4



 

Worcestershire Housing Strategy |  5 

and other health service providers across the county. Building on this well-established pattern, this Housing 

Strategy proposes further sharing of capability and best practice in a two-tier local authority context. The 

proposal, designed to ensure that services continue to be delivered in a joined-up way, is unique and has 

been developed through the collaborative working and engagement of a wide range of public sector partners, 

private sector businesses including Registered Providers1 and third sector organisations. It is a Strategy for 

Worcestershire developed by the partners of Worcestershire.  

  

 

1 Registered Provider (RP) is the umbrella term to describe Housing Associations and other third sector housing providers involved in the 

provision of social and affordable housing. RPs are actively involved in the development of for sale and shared ownership homes as part 
of a cross-subsidy model which supplements affordable homes grant funding. 

Page 15 Agenda Item 4



 

Worcestershire Housing Strategy |  6 

1.2 Content, Purpose, and Objectives 

The Housing Strategy is focused on the twenty-year period to 2040. During this period, there will be significant 

changes to the housing market in Worcestershire as well as huge challenges to meet including the net zero 

carbon transition. Housing in Worcestershire will be very different in 2040 to what it is today. 

This means that decisions taken today will have a big effect on the future of housing in Worcestershire, and it 

is right to plan for this. It is also important that short-term opportunities, that can be taken to improve the 

experience of housing now, are not missed because of the priorities of a long-term plan. 

The 2040 Housing Strategy aims to bring these priorities together, by setting a long-term vision and strategic 

plan, whilst also identifying suggestions for the tactical ‘jobs to be done’ that are set out in short-term action 

plans. 

The 2040 Housing Strategy is designed to be read in conjunction with a wide range of other policies and 

plans. Most importantly, it complements existing development plans and sets out to show how housing 

development can be well integrated with other aspects of public service focused on health and social care. 

The Housing Strategy is also aligned to other long-term plans including the Worcestershire LEP Strategic 

Economic Plan.  

The Strategy also complements existing plans aimed at setting the direction of travel for long-term policy in 

net-zero carbon and for outlining a blueprint for how housing related functions can be most effectively 

coordinated across Worcestershire. 

The 2040 Strategy has five main sections: 

• Vision – summarising the strategy and the five main challenges to be addressed for Worcestershire. 

 

• Context – describing the local social and economic factors that the strategy should address. 

 

• Strategic priorities – describing the detailed objectives, actions, and outcomes of the strategy. 

 

• Strategy review and governance – setting out the organisation required to implement the strategy. 

 

• Action plan – proposing the short and medium-term actions that may follow in the first 5-year period 

and form the basis of each district’s own action plan. 

 

The strategy has been developed by a county-wide team with representation from the 7 local authorities, NHS 

partners, local housing providers and the Worcestershire LEP, facilitated by Arcadis. We have undertaken 

extensive consultation across many stakeholders to seek a broad range of Worcestershire focused voices, to 

understand the challenges and blockers and the opportunities to be addressed by the Strategy. Whilst we 

cannot take account of all points of view, we are confident that the strategy represents a balanced approach to 

addressing the many opportunities and challenges that Worcestershire will face between now and 2040. 

  

Page 16 Agenda Item 4



 

Worcestershire Housing Strategy |  7 

2 Vision 
 

 

The Call to Action 

The strategy will set out the steps needed to make this happen focused on four priority areas: 

• Economic growth and jobs. 

• Quality and standards. 

• Health, wellbeing, and inclusion. 

• Net-zero carbon and sustainability. 

Realising the Strategy 

To make this vision a reality there are five big opportunities that need to be taken between now and 2040: 

• Creating a culture of positive action in connection with housing. This will cover housing services, 

planning and other services focused on the Home. ‘Getting things done’ will help to ensure that 

Worcestershire is dynamic, growing, and a great place for everyone to live. This will be done by 

planning, by leadership and by everyone involved taking ownership of their role in making 

Worcestershire a better place to live. 

• Reviewing aspects of housing services and planning across Worcestershire and reorganising where it 

makes sense to do so, sharing resources whilst protecting local accountability. Equipping Districts to 

take the assertive steps needed to implement the policies and aspirations that are set out in 

Development Plans.  

• Using large scale developments to set the standard for sustainable development including place-

based amenities and services. This will include getting the right mix of housing in a scheme and 

ensuring that services and infrastructure are in place from the outset.2 

• Developing and managing affordable and social housing as an integral part of new and existing 

communities to increase inclusion in Worcestershire. This includes an active role for local authorities 

as planners, development partners and housing providers. 

• Taking a leading role in the promotion of the net zero carbon agenda for housing, including organising 

and supporting public and private homeowners to meet their net zero targets. 

 

Housing will be better in 2040 because of the active, evidence-led steps that will have been taken to sustain 

economic growth and housing development and to improve services and delivery. This strategy sets out these 

active steps and the timetable by which they will be taken. The jobs/actions to be undertaken are outlined in 

Section 4 – The Priorities. 

  

 

2 Scale in housing development is context dependent. At the largest scale, the strategy describes urban extensions and other strategic 
developments that will be accompanied by large-scale social and economic infrastructure. However, in the context of rural communities, 
developments of 100 to 150 homes are also ‘large scale’ and also create and opportunity and responsibility for local authorities to set 
challenging targets around housing quality and the quality of wider infrastructure provision.  

The Vision Statement 

Worcestershire will be known for excellent housing. Everyone will have choices about how and where 

they live. Local homes will be warm, healthy and will lead the way towards Net Zero. Worcestershire 

housing will add to a better quality of life. 

 

Page 17 Agenda Item 4



 

Worcestershire Housing Strategy |  8 

3 Local, Regional and National Context 

3.1 Population and Economics 

Worcestershire is situated in the Midlands region of England and the County is home to the six districts/ 

boroughs of Bromsgrove, Malvern Hills, Redditch, Worcester City, Wychavon, and Wyre Forest. The county 

has a diverse cultural heritage and a high-quality natural and urban environment. The unique character of the 

place is appreciated by the local community and attracts visitors and in-migration from all over the country 

contributing to economic growth.  

Population 

Worcestershire is home to 598,070 residents (mid-2020 ONS estimate)3 of which circa 60% (354,064) of 

residents are of working age (16-64). The working age population has grown by less than 1% since 2015. The 

County has a higher median age of population (45.3) than the regional (39.6) and national median age (40.2). 

23% of the population is over the age of 65 which is higher than the West Midlands and England average. The 

growth rate of the older population is expected to increase steeply with the number of over 65’s expected to 

grow by 42% by 2040 (with a particularly high rate of growth in 80+ year group) against the population growth 

of 30-45’s which is expected to be 10% to 2040. 

The number of households in Worcestershire is expected to grow by 20% by 2043. This growth is largely due 

to an increase in one-person households (over 50%). The number of such households is projected to rise by 

almost 21,000 over the 25-year period from 2018 to 20434. By 2035, the number of people living alone in 

Worcestershire is expected to rise by 36%. Both trends are linked to the ageing population. 

 

Migration into and out of the County, as well as between districts within Worcestershire, conforms to the 

established national pattern of migration, with most movement being from rural to urban areas (urbanisation). 

Worcestershire tends to experience a net gain in almost all age groups. A high inflow of persons aged 75-plus 

and 60-64 is also prominent as people move into the County after retirement or early retirement.5 

In Worcestershire, just over 70% of people are defined as living in larger urban areas, with 20% of the 

population living in rural villages, hamlets, or isolated dwellings. This illustrates that Worcestershire is "less 

urban" than either the West Midlands region (in which almost 85% of the population live in urban areas) or the 

whole of England (80% living in urban areas). Over 50% of people living in Wychavon and Malvern Hills live in 

a rural area, whereas Redditch and Worcester City are almost entirely urban.6 

Worcestershire residents generally have good levels of health, with life expectancy being better than the 

national average. Some areas of lifestyle require improvement when compared to the national average. These 

include excess weight in adults, smoking at time of childbirth, breastfeeding initiation, and early years 

 

3ONS, Mid-Year Population Estimates, UK, June 2020 
4 ONS, 2018-based household projections for local authorities and higher administrative areas within England  
5 Worcestershire Demographic Report – Census 2011 
6 Joint Strategic Needs Assessment Annual Summary September 2019 

Different rates of growth in the working-age and later living cohorts are prominent issues for the housing 

strategy. 

The strategy must deliver enough housing to accommodate families to support the growth ambitions of 

the county. 

Similarly, it is important that housing supply and housing related services anticipate demand that will 

come from an ageing population. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 18 Agenda Item 4



 

Worcestershire Housing Strategy |  9 

development for children eligible for free school meals.7 Dementia will be a significant issue in future years as 

the population in the oldest age groups grows. The number of people with dementia in Worcestershire is 

forecast to increase by 56% between 2019 and 2035 from 9,560 to 14,905.  

The requirement for a long-term plan for the reshaping of later-living provision in the county is highlighted in 

the strategy. This will not only provide a wider range of housing options for the healthy later living cohort but 

will also support better provision of care services to older clients. 

Worcestershire’s population does not reflect the ethnic diversity of the wider West Midlands region. The 2011 

Census shows that Black, Asian and Minority Ethnic Persons (those not of White British origin) stand at 

around 7.6% of Worcestershire’s average. The estimate of 7.6% in Worcestershire compares to estimates of 

20.2% in England and 20.8% in the West Midlands region. 8 We anticipate that this gap will close over the 

period of the strategy which may have some implications for future service delivery.  

The graphic below summaries key population statistics across Worcestershire:  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

  

 

7 Worcestershire Health and Well-being Board, Joint Strategic Needs Assessment 2020, Executive Summary, Health Impacts of COVID-
19 
8 Worcestershire Demographic Report – Census 2011 

Page 19 Agenda Item 4



 

Worcestershire Housing Strategy |  10 

Economic Performance 

There has been good GVA growth in Worcestershire in the last five years, with one of the highest rates of any 

LEP in England. £14.1 billion GVA was generated in 2018 which is more than 10% of West Midlands total. 

Currently there are 290,000 people in employment in Worcestershire, with good growth over the last five 

years. 3.5% of Worcestershire’s economically active population are unemployed and perhaps as challenging, 

1 in 18 of working residents have no qualifications. Worcestershire overall, however, performs well when 

compared to the region and country.  

Median gross weekly earnings by residence in Worcestershire is £537 which is approximately 3% less than in 

the West Midlands and 10% less than in England. (This figure is significantly reduced by the gross weekly 

earnings in Redditch which is £460/week). Major infrastructure projects such as HS2 and private housing 

development are expanding at pace and will draw down from the labour supply. There will be a growing labour 

requirement from repair, maintenance, and improvement work, as for the demand retrofitting existing buildings 

to meet net zero emissions targets becomes more important. Covid-19 appears to have had little long-term 

impact on employment in the West Midlands based on latest data9 from ONS. Employment levels between 

May-July 2021 were above pre-Covid levels, and unemployment at 5.1% was significantly below the 5.9% 

unemployment recorded between December 2020 and February 2021. 

Skills development in Worcestershire is addressed in the 2019 to 2024 Education and Skills Strategy, which 

brings together a county-wide Education and Skills Strategy Board and the WLEP Education and Skills Board. 

Adult education is likely to be subject to significant development with the announcement of the Lifetime Skills 

Guarantee in September 2020. This is likely to channel training resources to many skills that are relevant to 

the Housing Strategy.  

 

  

 

9 HI05 Regional labour market: Headline indicators for the West Midlands, published September 2021. 

The link between employment and the housing market will be increasingly significant over the next 20 

years. 

The Strategy highlights the requirement to develop low carbon retrofit supply chains in Worcestershire 

aligned to national demand for decarbonisation. 

These supply chains will potentially be developed to take advantage of existing capability and expertise 

in the County. 

Page 20 Agenda Item 4



 

Worcestershire Housing Strategy |  11 

The diagram below summarises economic performance at a District/ Borough level across Worcestershire. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 21 Agenda Item 4



 

Worcestershire Housing Strategy |  12 

Housing Delivery and House Prices 

Worcestershire, like many other places is seeing a growing disparity between house prices and income. 

Worcestershire’s affordability ratio, calculated by dividing median house prices by median gross annual 

earnings, was 8.87 in 202010. By comparison, the West Midlands region affordability ratio is 6.78 and England 

is at 7.84.11 In Worcestershire, the rate of homelessness in terms of households owed a duty under the 

Homelessness Reduction Act is 10.3 per 1,000, this is lower than the rate in England (12.30 per 1,000) and 

the West Midlands (11.20 per 1,000)12. The rate of homelessness since the 2018-2019 financial year as 

remained steady in Worcestershire. The diagram below summarises the position at district level, of 

Countywide affordability, housing supply (including affordable housing) and homelessness. 

 

  

 

10 In 2020, the median house price was £242,000 and median gross annual earnings were £27,285. 
11 ONS: House price to workplace-based earnings ratio 
12 PHE, Public Health Profiles (indicator source: MHCLG, Table A1, Detailed local authority level tables financial year 2019-20) 

Page 22 Agenda Item 4

https://fingertips.phe.org.uk/search/homeless#page/0/gid/1/pat/6/par/E12000005/ati/202/are/E10000034/iid/93735/age/-1/sex/-1/cid/4/tbm/1/page-options/ovw-do-0


 

Worcestershire Housing Strategy |  13 

Housing affordability is closely related to the supply of new housing delivered through local development 

plans. Below is a summary of the Housing Delivery Test: 2020 measurement13 which is an annual 

measurement of housing delivery in relevant plan-making authorities. Generally, local authorities have 

performed well, with 8,103 homes being delivered across the County against a three-year target of 5,640. As 

a result of below target rates of build-out, Bromsgrove faces the NPPF's presumption in favour of sustainable 

development and Wyre Forest must produce an action plan showing how they intend to boost delivery and 

have a 20% buffer on their housing land supply. 

During the period 2017 to 2021, 4,115 affordable homes14 were delivered in Worcestershire, representing over 

45% of the total stock delivered in this period.15 

 

Table 1. Summary of the Housing Delivery Test, DLUHC 

Area Total number of homes 
required 2018-2021 

Total number of 
homes delivered 2018-

2021 

Housing 
Delivery Test: 

2021 
measurement 

Housing Delivery Test: 
2021 Consequence 

Bromsgrove 1,413 624 44% Presumption 

Redditch 0 881 n/a None 

Wyre Forest 627 618 99% None 

Worcester City  } 

  

  

Malvern Hills     } 3,281* 5,100 128% None 

Wychavon         } 

  

  
 

 

**Local Planning Authorities with Joint plans being measured jointly for Housing Delivery Test: 2020 measurement 

 

The implication of presumption in Bromsgrove is that developers are free to bring forward housing 

development sites outside of the scope of the adopted Local Plan in line with the presumption in favour of 

sustainable development embedded in the National Planning Policy Framework. This means that Bromsgrove 

District Council has much less control over local development than would be the case normally, even though 

the securing of planning consent in the district has been shown to be very difficult over the past 5 years. 

Improved housing delivery in Wyre Forest has resulted in the requirement for a 20% buffer being removed.  

As a result, Wyre Forest District Council has increased control over land in the development pipeline in the 

past 12 months. 

  

 

 

 

 

13 MHCLG, Housing Delivery Test: 2020 measurement 
14 Note: Affordable housing includes social rented, affordable rented and intermediate housing, provided to specified eligible households 
whose needs are not met by the market. It can be a new-build property or a private sector property that has been purchased for use as an 
affordable home.  Data sourced from MHCLG, Live Table 1008c. 
15 MHCLG, Live Table 253. 

The effective delivery of new housing is an important foundation for the 2040 Strategy. 

The challenge will be that the housing continues to be delivered at rates to meet growth forecasts. 

Furthermore, it is essential that new development meets the actual housing need of residents in the 

County whilst also delivering mixed, sustainable communities. 

Page 23 Agenda Item 4



 

Worcestershire Housing Strategy |  14 

Quality and performance of existing homes  

The quality of existing stock is an important consideration with respect to health and wellbeing of residents, 

and requirements for decarbonisation.  

Fuel poverty is a material issue in Worcestershire, affecting around 14.4% of households compared with 

13.4% of households in England as a whole16. A household is said to be fuel poor if it needs to spend more 

than 10% of its income on fuel to maintain an adequate standard of warmth.  Following significant increases in 

energy costs in the past 12 months, fuel poverty is expected to affect many more people, and as a result, 

might further accelerate investment in energy efficiency through programmes such as ECO+. 

The health effects of fuel poverty are far-reaching and disproportionately affect older people as there are links 

between cold homes and respiratory conditions. The five-year average for excess winter mortality index in the 

County is higher than England’s five-year average.17  

Energy Performance Certificates (EPC) can be used as a proxy for housing quality and low carbon 

performance. Data for dwellings lodged on the Register from Q4 2008 to Q1 2021 show that 87% of EPCs 

issued in the county are C or below (vs 89% in England), whereas 37% of EPCs issued in Worcestershire are 

for properties in Bands A to C (vs 39% in England) and 6% are for properties in Bands F and G (vs 6% in 

England). Worcestershire is comparable to the England average.18 

The diagram below summarises the position at district level, of the proportion of households in fuel poverty 

and the number of EPCs at C or below. 

  

 

16 ONS: Sub-regional fuel poverty data 2021.  This data was collated before the 2022 energy price crisis and reflects the long-term trend. 
17 ONS: Excess winter mortality data, England, and Wales, 2019 to 2020 (provisional) and 2018 to 2019 (final) 
18 Live tables on Energy Performance of Buildings Certificates: Table D1 

This data highlights the scale of the decarbonisation challenge in Worcestershire and the extent of work 

that will be necessary to bring homes up to net-zero carbon levels of performance. 

Page 24 Agenda Item 4



 

Worcestershire Housing Strategy |  15 

Connectivity 

Worcestershire’s central location makes the 

county excellently connected through a 

comprehensive multimodal transport network of 

railways and highways (via M5 and M42), which 

in turn gives easy access to markets and skills. 

Birmingham Airport is at the doorstep of the 

county which provides access to 100 

international locations. 

Accessibility within Worcestershire is naturally 

affected by the rural nature of much of the 

county, where low population densities are 

associated with a lower-grade road network. 

This is particularly the case in the North-west of 

the County. A limited number of road crossings 

over the River Severn are also a constraint to 

mobility and a cause of congestion. 

Worcestershire is crossed by two nationally 

important rail lines – the North Cotswold line 

from London Paddington to Worcester, Great 

Malvern and Hereford and the Bristol to 

Birmingham Line. Local services operate to 

Birmingham along the Kidderminster, 

Bromsgrove and Redditch routes which face 

challenges of overcrowding, particularly during 

peak periods. 

Cross Country services between South-West 

England, Birmingham, and the North-West and 

North-East pass through but do not stop in 

Worcestershire, and the County’s network 

suffers from various constraints such as 

mechanical signalling and single line tracks 

which have a direct impact on train service 

timetables. The opening of Worcestershire 

Parkway station in 2020 adds capacity and 

connectivity to the network and enhances 

accessibility to the North Cotswold Line and 

Cardiff – Nottingham Cross Country services.19  

Worcestershire’s rail connectivity requires 

improvement and the critical importance of rail 

as a key enabler of economic activity and 

growth is reinforced in the Local Transport Plan.  

 

 

19 Worcestershire Rail Investment Strategy, 2017 

The implication for housing development is that much-needed improvements in transport network 

connectivity are likely to free-up further land for large-scale housing development in future – creating 

opportunities for the development of sustainable mixed communities as advocated in this Strategy. 

 olihull

Figure: Location plan (top left) and transport map (bottom right) 

Figure: Rail connectivity plan 

Page 25 Agenda Item 4



 

Worcestershire Housing Strategy |  16 

Worcestershire has good digital connectivity but there is room for improvement. Over 95% of 

premises have superfast broadband (30Mbps or greater) coverage and over 98% of the geography 

has 4G signal availability. By contrast, only Redditch and Wyre Forest have more than 50% of premises 

covered by ultrafast broadband (300Mbps or greater). The Fibre to Premises (up to 1 Gbps) coverage in 

Worcestershire needs improvement with Bromsgrove having 8% of premises covered (highest in the district) 

and Worcester City and Wyre Forest having 1% of premises covered (lowest in the district). Worcestershire is 

nevertheless driving innovation and has one of the first 5G testbed networks in the UK, operating from sites in 

Malvern and Worcester.20  
Worcestershire’s digital ambition and continued investment inherently will facilitate both remote working and 

the delivery of digitally enabled home care and support services. 

The diagram below summarises the position at district level, of broadband coverage across the County. 

  

 

20 Worcestershire County Council Digital Strategy 2021-2023 

Digital capability will play a significant role in meeting the ambitions of the housing strategy. 

Following the creation of the Worcestershire Strategic Housing Partnership, this housing strategy will be 

important to maintain the close functional relationship between the districts and partners to work together 

to support the LEP’s ambitious Strategic Economic Plan. 

Page 26 Agenda Item 4



 

Worcestershire Housing Strategy |  17 

3.2 Organisation, Administration and Strategy 

Worcestershire is a 2-tier county formed of Worcestershire 

County Council and six District / Borough Councils. The 

County Council is responsible for services across the whole of 

the county such as education, transport, and social care. 

District/ Borough Councils are responsible for services such 

as housing and planning services. The table opposite provides 

a quick guide to the typical allocation of local authority 

responsibility for major services in England. 

Status of Local Plans  

The councils’ shared vision for the future of the county is the 

foundation for the development of the Housing Strategy 2040. 

All parts of the county have developed their Local Plans and 

the Housing Strategy 2040 will respect and build on those 

Local Plans. The National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF) 

reinforces the need for a plan-led approach to securing 

infrastructure as well as promoting sustainable development. 

The status of the Local Plans is listed below: 

• Bromsgrove District Local Plan (2011-2030) - review underway, consultation closed. 

• Borough of Redditch Local Plan (2011-2030) - review commenced. 

• Wyre Forest District Local Plan (2016 - 2036) was formally adopted in April 2022.  

• The South Worcestershire Development Plan (2016-2030) which is the Local Plans of the partners 

Malvern Hills District, Worcester City and Wychavon District Council. The development plan is being 

updated to 2041.  A consultation on the review closed in December 2022. 

Status of WLEP Plans 

The Worcestershire Councils have worked closely with the Worcestershire Local Enterprise Partnership 
(WLEP) over the last 10 years bringing together a strategic partnership to facilitate the collaboration of the 
private, public and education sector to deliver meaningful programmes to support economic growth in the 
county. Significant improvements have been delivered through the Counties Strategic Economic Plan (SEP) 
launched in 2014. By 2020 this plan had been successful delivered 38,000 new jobs, 15,990 homes and a 
£2.0bn increase in GVA (Gross Value Added – GVA).  
 
The SEP set up the Game Changer Programme to help meet the first objective. The programme provides 

investment opportunities by identifying key development and delivery of strategic sites for companies looking 

  
County 
Council 

District 
Council 

Education 🗸   

Environmental health   🗸 

Highways 🗸   

Housing    🗸 

Leisure and recreation   🗸 

Libraries 🗸   

Local planning    🗸 

Local taxation collection   🗸 

Passenger transport 🗸   

Public health 🗸   

Social care 🗸   

Transport Planning 🗸   

Waste collection   🗸 

Waste disposal 🗸   

Page 27 Agenda Item 4



 

Worcestershire Housing Strategy |  18 

for larger sites, HQs, and state of the art opportunities in 

some of the best locations in the country. These sites 

are shown on the adjacent map and include the Redditch 

Eastern Gateway, South Kidderminster Enterprise Park, 

Worcester Growth Corridor and Malvern Hills Science 

Park. 

The SEP recognised the challenges with housing 

affordability in many parts of Worcestershire and 

recognise its importance to support economic growth. 

The Worcestershire Housing Partnership Plan (WHPP) 

was developed, setting the strategic direction for housing 

across Worcestershire. The WHPP recognises that to 

maximise the health, wealth, and wellbeing of the 

residents of Worcestershire, and make the most effective 

use of existing resources, Councils need to work very 

closely with partner organisations across a range of 

sectors. The implementation of the national Health and 

Housing Memorandum of Understanding (MoU) in 

Worcestershire is an early example of this integrated 

approach to service delivery. The WHPP aims are:  

• Effective partnership working to delivery housing 

outcomes which will in turn support other strategic objectives, such as improved health and wellbeing, 

educational achievement of children, employment, crime reduction and sustainable communities. 

• Improved collaboration, coordination and integration of healthcare and housing in the planning, 

commissioning and delivery of homes and services. 

• Promotion of the housing sector contribution towards addressing the wider determinants 

of health, social exclusion, and re-offending. 

• Maximising the delivery of housing by co-ordinating the activities of housing developers, providers and 

support agencies which will support economic growth. 

• Addressing the housing needs of specific groups and sectors of the housing market. 

• The provision of good quality housing to improve health and wellbeing. 

• Integrated health, care and support and housing solutions to make best use of budgets across the NHS, 

local authorities, and partners to achieve outcomes for less; for example, drawing on the Better Care Fund 

to support service transformation. 

• A co-ordinated response to long term changes in population. 

• Better use of existing housing stock. 

• Co-ordinated support for vulnerable people. 

• Increasing availability of affordable homes. 

 

*This plan has now been refreshed and the WLEP has, in May 2023, outlined an ambitious and exciting 2040 

new vision for the county that will create a connected, creative, and dynamic economy for all. The aim is to 

boost the economic value of the county by £2.5bn per year and create 18,500 extra jobs.  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Figure: Economic “Game-Changer” Sites in Worcestershire  

Page 28 Agenda Item 4



 

Worcestershire Housing Strategy |  19 

3.3 Policy 

Housing and housing-related services in Worcestershire are governed by a wide range of policies. Many of 

these are developed at District level and are set out in Development Plans. They are regularly updated and 

consulted on and will continue to develop between now and 2040. The purpose of the 2040 Worcestershire 

Housing Strategy is to establish a common approach where this will improve the experience of residents 

without reducing accountability associated with local decision making and service delivery. 

The 2040 Strategy is also being developed at a time where there will be significant change in housing policy 

related to planning, regulation and carbon emissions associated with new and existing buildings. There are 

also likely to be further changes to the management of the health service and the funding and management of 

social care.  

The 2040 Strategy not only accommodates these changes but also sets out plans for a more coordinated 

Worcestershire-wide response – making better use of resources and in particular equipping authorities to 

implement changes to deliver the greatest benefit to the people of Worcestershire. 

Significant changes to provision of housing and housing-related services include: 

• Social care reform. The Social Care White Paper was published in December 2021, alongside an initial 

spending commitment of £5.4 billion for the three-year period to 2024/25.  Integrating care with housing is 

a significant theme in the White Paper, and additional funding totalling £450 million, together with an £210 

million extension to the Care and Support Specialist Housing fund (CASSH).  Relevant proposals for the 

housing strategy include: 

• Integration of housing decisions into all health and care decisions 

• Support to the specialist housing market in line with an ambition to create a more diverse range of 

housing options. 

• Expanded funding for home adaptation.  

• Encouragement of longer-term thinking with respect to lifetime neighbourhoods 

 

• Housing management reform. The implementation of the Charter for Social Housing Residents will 

require a significant change to the relationship between tenants of social landlords.  The Social Housing 

Regulation Bill will further extend the rights of tenants and the powers of the Regulator of Social Housing 

(RSH) into areas of consumer issues including complaints handling, and housing decency.  Together these 

will drive actions in connection with building safety, the introduction of consumer regulation for tenants, 

stronger resident engagement, and improved landlord performance metrics.  

 

• Building Safety Legislation. The Building Safety Act was passed in Spring 2022.  Secondary legislation 

will be passed over the next 2 years which will detail practical implementation.  Local authorities and their 

affordable and social housing providers will have new statutory duties in connection with the safe 

management of higher risk residential buildings including undertaking the duties of the Building Safety 

Manager. These requirements are likely to be implemented prior to 2025.  

 

• Planning reform. The Update was introduced into the House of Commons in May 2022.  New provisions 

will affect Local Plans that are currently under development.  Relevant aspects of the legislation include: 

• Removal of the requirement to maintain a rolling five-year supply of development land. 

• A greater focus on local planning issues through the introduction of National Development 

Management Policies dealing with issues that apply to most areas. 

• Further development in Neighbourhood Planning including a simpler neighbourhood planning tool 

called the Neighbourhood Priority Statement. 

• Replacement of SPDs with independently examined Supplementary Plans which will be used to 

create planning frameworks for new opportunities (e.g.; regeneration) or authority-wide requirements 

such as design codes. 

Page 29 Agenda Item 4



 

Worcestershire Housing Strategy |  20 

• The introduction of a new Infrastructure Levy (IL), that will replace S106 and Community Infrastructure 

Levy.  IL will be charged on sales value.  Levy rates will be set locally and can vary within the 

boundaries of a planning authority.  IL will be introduced gradually. 

• Requirements for planning authorities to produce Design Codes describing requirements for a 

planning consent to be granted, including the opportunity to produce more local design codes.  Design 

Codes will be informed by the National Model Design Code. 

• Processes for assessing environmental impact assessment will be replaced by a single Environmental 

Outcome Report process.  The level of protection will not be reduced. 

• Increase regeneration power including new CPO powers and the creation of a new form of Urban 

Development Corporation. 

• Enhanced enforcement powers associated with commencement and compliance with consents. 

• Increased fee levels to support better resourcing of the planning process. 

 

• Environment Act. This will require developers to deliver 10% biodiversity net gain (BNG) on development 

projects. Local Authorities will have an active role in approving and monitoring biodiversity plans.  BNG 

requirements will be implemented from 2023 onwards. 

 

• Net-zero carbon. Significant progress will need to be taken to improve the energy efficiency and low 

carbon performance of over 80% of homes in Worcestershire.  The Heat and Buildings Strategy was 

published in October 2021.  Relevant aspects of the strategy include: 

• Government has set a target to reduce carbon emissions from buildings by 47 to 62% by 2035.  All 

homes will need to be upgraded to EPC C by 2035. 

• All homeowners, including local authorities will have to replace all fossil-fuel heating appliances with 

clean-heat technology by 2050. 

• As part of the Clean Growth Strategy, social renters are required to prioritise fuel poor households, 

meeting EPC C by 2030. 

In the 2022 Autumn Statement, the Government also set a target for a 15% reduction in national energy 

use by 2030. 

• Levelling-up.  Levelling up is a flagship policy of the Government.  The Levelling Up and Regeneration Bill 

currently passing through Parliament includes a number of provisions to promote the levelling up agenda.  

These are in addition to the planning reforms noted above: 

• Levelling-up missions.  Establish legal duty and powers to set and report on levelling-up missions 

designed to reduce spatial disparity. 

• Expanded devolution of powers in England to all areas that want devolved powers – e.g., 

opportunities for bespoke devolution deals, and the creation of a new combined county authority 

model. 

Enhanced regeneration powers including updated compulsory purchase processes described under 

planning and measures to reinvigorate high streets. 

  

Page 30 Agenda Item 4



 

Worcestershire Housing Strategy |  21 

4 Priorities 

4.1 Overview – What Are the Priorities? 

The Vision for Housing, set out in section 2 is: 

The vision will be delivered through four priority areas. Section 4 sets out the actions associated with the 

priority areas in detail. We describe the four priorities and explain how actions are organised to be delivered 

over the twenty-year life of the Strategy. 

 

The priorities are the first level of structure of the Strategy. They relate to the greatest challenges facing public 

authorities in Worcestershire and the policy framework within which they operate. The priorities have played 

an important role in the development of the Strategy including detailed engagement focused on how housing 

is affected by activities in each priority area. The priorities are: 

 

 

• Economic growth and jobs describe the relationship between housing and the wider economy of 

Worcestershire. This priority includes the supply of the right housing for people who live and work in 

Worcestershire and the creation of employment opportunities close to where people live. By focusing on 

this priority, Worcestershire will become a more attractive location for employers and more prosperous, 

and it will make it easier for people to get to their place of work. 

 

• Quality and standards are about making sure that Worcestershire housing is as good as it can be and 

that people benefit from changes in how houses are planned, built, and upgraded. This priority will help 

Worcestershire take advantage of housing innovation whilst respecting the character and quality of the 

existing housing and communities. Making this a priority emphasises the need to plan and prepare for 

changes that are coming to housing markets including forthcoming planning reforms, ensuring that the 

greatest benefit is secured from these developments as they occur.  

 

• Health, wellbeing, and inclusion focuses on links between healthy housing, places, and well-being for 

everyone. This priority highlights the importance of affordable healthy housing that supports people at all 

stages of their lives, whatever their circumstances. It is also about the creation of sustainable communities 

The implications of the current wave of policy development and legislation are firstly that housing 

functions in Worcestershire will be required to implement notable change across most of their activities. 

This creates an opportunity to rethink some of the existing delivery models, taking advantage of modern 

technologies and remote and collaborative working. The new policy landscape also means that local 

policies will need to be reviewed and updated to take account of new priorities. The 2040 Strategy aims 

to start this process. 

The Vision Statement 

Worcestershire will be known for excellent housing. Everyone will have choices about how and where 

they live. Local homes will be warm, healthy and will lead the way towards Net Zero. Worcestershire 

housing will add to a better quality of life. 

 

Page 31 Agenda Item 4



 

Worcestershire Housing Strategy |  22 

that have all the facilities residents need and which are well connected. Making this a priority will focus 

attention on improving the quality of existing housing, the planning of new development, as well as thinking 

about how health and social services can be delivered alongside housing.  

 

• Net-zero carbon, and sustainability is the essential focus on making sure that housing in Worcestershire 

is decarbonized in line with national targets whilst also making sure that the places and communities which 

we create are resilient, self-supporting, and safe. Making sustainability a priority highlights the long-term 

nature of investment in places and homes and the critical role that housing will play in addressing the 

climate emergency. 

4.2 How Are the Priorities Organised? 

Each of the priorities is described at four levels of detail: 

 

• The Vision. This describes the high-level outcome in 2040 that the Strategy will deliver if all the actions 

are taken. 

• Strategic levers. These are long-term, joined-up multi-party initiatives that will result in a change to the 

development, operation, or use of homes in Worcestershire. 

• Jobs to be done. These are medium term actions necessary to make progress and address blockers to 

progress. The detailed jobs to be done will evolve during the life of the strategy, partly to reflect progress 

on the agenda and partly to account for new needs or opportunities. 

• Worcestershire’s Plans (the outcome – how Worcestershire will be different). This describes how the 

experience of housing in Worcestershire will be different when the strategy is implemented. 

4.3 Strategy Priorities  

Priority Area 1 – Economic Growth and Jobs 

Vision Statement or Objective for 2040 

Worcestershire has a competitive housing offer based on thriving 

communities that attract employers and employees and which support 

economic growth: 

Housing of all types is available to meet all needs including affordable housing 

and housing for later living. New housing is located conveniently for jobs and 

other amenities. 

 

Why? 
• Worcestershire housing stock needs to be aligned to local demand as well 

as the wider market. 

• Ample affordable stock is needed because earnings in Worcestershire are 

below the national average.  

• An expanded Later Living provision is important to deal with the expected 

growth in the elderly population. 

• There are wider opportunities to attract a workforce by freeing-up and 

improving existing housing for use by young families. 

Worcestershire’s 

median population age 

is over 45 – 5 years 

older than the median 

for the West Midlands. 

The number of over 

60’s will grow by 85% 

by 2035. 

In Worcestershire 

average full-time 

earnings are 10% 

lower than the national 

average. 

Page 32 Agenda Item 4



 

Worcestershire Housing Strategy |  23 

• Steps taken by Local Authorities in Worcestershire support the viability and delivery of housing across a 

range of tenures. 

• Worcestershire has made good progress delivering a high proportion of 

affordable housing, but this does not meet the needs of all residents.  

• By partnering with developers, and actively participating in housing 

delivery through the release of public land and direct development, local 

authorities will have greater influence over the housing that is delivered.  

 

Strategic Levers 

Lever 1 

Active use of land in public 

ownership that is available for 

development to support mixed 

community development.  

Lever 2 

Consistent and joined-up 

approach to the setting of 

Infrastructure Levy21 contributions 

across the county to secure the 

necessary supply of affordable 

housing. 

Lever 3 

Appropriate use of regeneration 

tools including compulsory 

purchase and permitted 

development rights, to support 

residential development as part of 

town centre revitalization. 

Jobs to be done 

Job 1 

Examine opportunities for 

coordination and collaboration of 

planning resources across the 

county that is compatible with 

local accountability. Share 

resources where this will support 

greater capability or accelerate 

response to planning reforms.  

Job 2 

Use large-scale development 

opportunities including urban 

extensions as the engine for high 

quality, mixed-tenure sustainable 

communities. Actively coordinate 

or participate in development if 

needed to secure desired housing 

outcomes. 

Job 3 

Equip local authorities in 

Worcestershire to participate in 

the development of public land for 

housing. 

Consider the establishment of a 

county-wide development 

capability in line with proposals for 

Urban Development Corporations 

 

Who is involved? 

• District Council housing, development, and planning 

• County Council transport planning 

• One Public Estate Team 

• Worcestershire LEP 

• Registered Providers and other housing providers 

• Partnership housing developers 

• DLUHC 

• General public – through general and project specific consultation 

 

The outcome – how Worcestershire will be different: 

• A thriving housing market in the public and private sector, with more choice for everyone.  

• More diverse communities that feature a range of house types and tenures.  

• The joint planning of housing and employment land so that homes are located near jobs. 

• Land values and development models that support the development and maintenance of 

sustainable communities. 

 

21 The Infrastructure Levy (IL) is being introduced as part of a package of planning reforms included within the scope of the Levelling-Up 

and Regeneration Bill.  The IL is planned to be a non-negotiable fixed % fee charged on the development value of a project.  Planning 
authorities will be able to set the level of the levy, which can vary across the area served by the authority.  IL will ultimately replace 
Section 106 and the Community Infrastructure Levy 

Worcestershire’s housing 

affordability ratio in 2020 

was 8.87, compared to 

6.78 for the West 

Midlands. 

 

Page 33 Agenda Item 4



 

Worcestershire Housing Strategy |  24 

Making it happen (essential actions): 
 

Strategic Lever 1: Active use of land in public ownership 

Opportunity 

• Public land owned by Local 

Authorities, Public Bodies and 

Central Government can be 

used to increase the delivery of 

low-cost affordable and social 

housing. 

• The equity value in public land 

will enable Local Authorities in 

Worcestershire to participate as 

partners in mixed community 

development. 

Solution 

• Public land can be directly 

developed by a Local Authority.  

• Partnership arrangements can 

be used to participate in mixed-

tenure development schemes. 

• Land can be developed for the 

private market to create the 

capital needed for additional 

affordable housing 

development. 

Outcome 

• Capital released from public 

land can be invested directly 

into affordable housing. 

• Local Authorities have the 

means to participate in 

development. 

• Local authorities are in the 

position to incorporate 

affordable housing in the scope 

of mixed-tenure partnership 

development. 

Jobs to be done1: Maximise coordination / collaboration in use of planning resources  

Opportunity 

• With the upcoming planning 

reforms and the need to plan for 

the net zero carbon transition, 

there are more specialist 

planning jobs to be undertaken. 

Coordinating common 

approaches and resources 

across Worcestershire is the 

best way to respond to these 

challenges. 

• This approach builds on the 

successful collaboration that 

has already taken place in 

South Worcestershire. 

Solution 

• Planning reform. Where 

possible Districts should 

develop a coordinated 

response to proposed planning 

reform including plan 

development processes, digital 

systems, and design code 

templates. 

• Specialist resources (e.g., 

energy network planners) 

should operate on a cross-

boundary basis. 

• Strategic responses to shared, 

long-term challenges (net zero 

carbon, ageing population) 

should be developed on a 

county-wide basis. 

Outcome 

• Achieve benefits of scale in the 

delivery of planning services. 

• Resource-efficient response to 

major changes in planning such 

as the development of design 

code templates. 

• Increase ability of 

Worcestershire to recruit 

specialist resources. 

• Joined-up approach to long-

term strategic objectives. 

 

 

Other Strategic Levers: 

Consistent and joined-up approach to negotiation. Sharing data and adopting a common approach to 

negotiation with developers with respect to development standards, contributions and sustainability 

requirements will reduce opportunities for negotiation arbitrage between districts. 

Appropriate use of regeneration powers. Permitted Development Rights (PDR) and Compulsory Purchase 

(CP) are expected to play a valuable role in facilitating development as a part of town centre revitalization. 

Districts should be able to actively use the provisions of PDR and CP to achieve a balance of investment, 

appropriate regeneration, and development quality. 

  

Page 34 Agenda Item 4



 

Worcestershire Housing Strategy |  25 

Other jobs to do: 

Use large-scale development opportunities to set development benchmarks. The strategy highlights the 

importance of balanced, mixed tenure communities with appropriate amenity provision. Districts should view 

large scale housing developments including urban extensions as one-off opportunities to deliver these 

communities. This may require active development participation to deliver the required tenure mix.  Proposed 

reforms to planning including Supplementary Plans and Urban Development Corporations, will provide 

Districts with the tools to actively engage with developers.  

Establish a development capability. To make best use of publicly owned land assets and to be able to 

influence development outcomes, local authorities could benefit from creating their own development 

capability. This might involve direct development or partnership working with housebuilders such as Housing 

Associations or SME developers. Such a capability could facilitate the optimization of the use of local authority 

assets by enabling the consideration of a wider range of options including the use of Infrastructure Levy funds 

as finance for direct development.  There may be opportunities to build some shared capability at a county-

wide level.  Specialist District Council resources and initiatives focused on development, could be shared, 

particularly if this reduces the overall headcount for a development function.  A development function 

managed on a county-wide basis could still support dedicated, District-level development.   

  

Page 35 Agenda Item 4



 

Worcestershire Housing Strategy |  26 

Priority Area 2 – Quality and standards 

Vision Statement or Objective for 2040 

Worcestershire needs to plan and prepare for changes to the way in which 

housing is built and managed so that the greatest benefit is secured and 

that the character and quality of existing communities is respected: 

 

Local Authorities make it a priority to prepare for changes in how homes are 

planned, built, and upgraded. 

Why? 

• Housing will be subject to a lot of change during the strategy period, 

including changes to planning rules, housing management and the wider 

adoption of Modern Methods of Construction (MMC) for both new build and 

retrofit. Local Authorities in Worcestershire have an opportunity to 

influence this change but will need to act quickly and consistently to have 

an impact.  

• Changes to processes and standards are likely to be complex and challenging to implement.  

Stakeholders must plan to ensure that sufficient resources are available to implement the planned 

changes effectively, and that opportunities to share expertise and common approaches are taken where 

appropriate. 

• Local Authorities should be ambitious with respect to the quality and safety standards that they set, 

particularly in connection with the quality and performance of new-build housing, the safety of existing 

high-rise housing and retrofit to ensure issues with low energy performance and damp and mould are 

addressed. 

Strategic Levers 

Lever 1 

• Support the wider adoption of 

housing delivered using 

Modern Methods of 

Construction (MMC) by 

collaborating across 

boundaries to consolidate 

public sector and Registered 

Provider demand to support 

MMC investment in the region. 

 

Lever 2 

• Use the planning reforms 

proposed in the Levelling-Up 

and Regeneration Bill to 

encourage great quality 

development.  

• Develop local standards, design 

guides and codes as needed to 

secure high-quality 

development. 

• Secure that sufficient resource 

is in place for any changes to 

the Local Plan process. 

 

Lever 3 

• Prepare to implement the digital 

technologies envisaged for 

planning as part of the reforms 

to the planning system. 

Jobs to be done 

Job 1 

• Collaborate with local 

businesses, training providers 

and other partners to plan for 

development of supply chain 

capacity in order to meet 

changing needs and quality 

requirements. 

• The housing strategy should 

consider wider aspects of 

delivery capacity in order to 

Job 2 

• Develop a common approach to 

Design Codes across the 

county. 

• Districts and distinct areas 

within districts have the 

opportunity to have their own 

codes based on a county-wide 

framework. 

Job 3 

• Implement Fire Safety 

requirements for existing 

residential buildings over 11m 

high.  

• Implement changes introduced 

by the Charter for Social 

Housing Residents. 

87% of EPCs for 

dwellings lodged on the 

Register between Q4 

2008 and Q1 2021 are C 

or below. 

 

By 2035, the number of 

people living alone in 

Worcestershire is 

expected to rise by 36%. 

 

Page 36 Agenda Item 4



 

Worcestershire Housing Strategy |  27 

 

Making it happen (essential actions): 

 

Strategic Lever: Support the wider adoption of housing delivered using MMC 

Opportunity 

• Traditional methods of house 

building are less well suited to 

the production of high-

performance, net-zero carbon 

homes. 

• The increase in the capacity of 

the MMC housing industry will 

be supported by the 

consolidation of demand from 

across Worcestershire. A large 

visible pipeline of opportunity 

can be used to attract 

investment to factories in the 

county. 

Solution 

• The consolidation of demand 

for MMC housing will be led by 

the public sector and by 

Registered Providers when 

delivering their own 

programmes. 

• A ‘clearing house’ function is 

required to bring together the 

demand from multiple 

programmes, along the lines of 

those developed for Greater 

Manchester Combined 

Authority and Sheffield City 

Region. 

• The clearing house will support 

the procurement of MMC 

homes from a range of 

suppliers on behalf of local 

clients.  

Outcome 

• Access to MMC capacity in 

Worcestershire will be 

enhanced by the development 

of a clearing house function that 

consolidates demand from 

multiple clients. 

• The clearing house will simplify 

procurement and encourage 

investment. It might potentially 

encourage the development of 

MMC factories in 

Worcestershire. 

• The most important outcome 

will be the quality of homes 

produced which will contribute 

to reduced carbon emissions.  

meet expected supply 

requirements.  Key areas 

including skills for new build and 

retrofit construction trades, local 

developer, constructor and 

housebuilder capacity and 

access to specialist developers 

in areas including co-living and 

extra-care. 

•  A well-developed design code 

will enable Districts to deliver 

much needed housing whilst 

ensuring that the character of 

Worcestershire is embedded 

within local housing standards. . 

• These measures will contribute 

to a better quality of life for 

affected residents in the county 

Who is involved? 

• County Council – planning, public health, and transport 

• District/ Borough Council – housing, management, housing development and planning 

• Registered Providers and other housing providers 

• National, regional and SME housing developers 

• Housing third parties including funders, insurers etc. 

 

Worcestershire’s plan – how it will be different: 

• The safety and quality of housing in the private and public sector will be a top priority evidenced by 

a proactive response to legislative changes to the management of social housing. The build quality 

of homes in Worcestershire will be enhanced by the implementation of ambitious design guides and 

development standards appropriate to place. 

• The encouragement of a diverse supply chain including local SME developers and investment in 

MMC capacity related to pooled demand from schemes in Worcestershire. 

The successful implementation of digital planning systems and other changes will increase popular 

engagement with planning and other housing related issues. There will be sufficient capable local supply 

chain capacity to meet all needs of the strategy related to new build and retrofit housing markets. 

Page 37 Agenda Item 4



 

Worcestershire Housing Strategy |  28 

Jobs to be done: Plan for the development of supply chain capacity 

Opportunity 

• Investment associated with the 

delivery of the housing strategy 

will create significant 

opportunities for business 

growth and local employment 

over the next 20 years. 

• New skills in developing areas 

including low-carbon heat will 

be needed, whilst traditional 

skills associated with 

housebuilding will also be in 

high demand. 

• Expanded housebuilding, 

combined with support for SME 

and self-build housing will 

encourage the creation of 

additional housing development 

capacity.  

• As part of the Housing Strategy, 

Districts and the County Council 

should collaborate with the 

county business and skills 

ecosystem so that requirements 

are known and planned for. 

  

 

 

Solution 

• Skills requirements specific to 

the housing strategy should be 

included in county skills 

planning including the 

Worcester Local Skills Plan and 

other skills initiatives. 

• The Worcester LEP and other 

stakeholders dealing with skills 

and industry capability should 

have a defined role in the 

delivery of the housing strategy. 

• Planning powers should be 

used where appropriate to 

support an SME supply chain 

and skills development across 

the county in line with wider 

economic planning. 

• Skills development should be 

aligned to the creation of 

capable and competent low-

carbon supply chain (See net 

zero carbon). 

Outcome 

• There will be sufficient business 

and workforce capacity to meet 

the opportunities created by the 

Worcestershire Housing 

Strategy.  Planners, 

developers, and customers will 

have confidence that planned 

developments are deliverable. 

• Local people will have the 

opportunity to participate in the 

housing sector including new 

areas associated with low-

carbon construction. 

• The housing sector will be 

properly integrated into skills 

and capability markets in 

Worcestershire and the wider 

West Midlands region.  

 

Other Strategic Levers: 

Use opportunities created by planning reforms to encourage great quality development. The Levelling-

Up and Regeneration Bill contains provisions that should enable Districts to raise the bar in terms of housing 

quality and infrastructure provision in line with local needs. Measures include ‘Build Better, Build Beautiful’ 

provisions, new Supplementary Plans and the funding transparency secured from a locally set Infrastructure 

Levy. A key objective of the housing strategy will be to encourage Districts to plan, organise and resource to 

secure the greatest leverage from the reforms to deliver better housing outcomes.  

Prepare to implement the digital technologies envisaged for planning. Planning reforms will also 

accelerate the adoption of digital technologies to increase the level of public engagement with the planning 

process and to support the consent process. Districts should develop the capabilities to implement the 

required digital change programme.  

Other jobs to do: 

Develop Design Codes. Design codes are a well-established means of raising the standard of housing 

design. All Planning Authorities will be required to develop a design code.  Some codes, for example, the 

Essex Design Guide have played an important role in maintaining the quality and character of housing in a 

locality. Planning Authorities in Worcestershire presently rely on supplementary planning guidance (SPG) that 

will also be repurposed as part of proposed changes. Districts should develop and implement a joined-up plan 

for design codes appropriate for different parts of the county in line with the National Model Design Code. The 

design code process is a departure from current practice and will benefit from a common, lessons-learned 

approach.  

Page 38 Agenda Item 4



 

Worcestershire Housing Strategy |  29 

Advance preparation for the introduction of new Fire Safety requirements and housing management 

reforms. Management of public housing will be subject to significant change during the early part of the 

housing strategy resulting in much more controlled approach to fire safety management and improved rights 

of representation for tenants.  The new safety regime for occupied higher-risk buildings will apply to occupied 

buildings that are either over 18m or over 7 storeys high22.  Housing authorities and public sector providers 

should aim to prioritise the implementation of these measures as a means of improving housing services. This 

can be done by securing representative buy-in and by commencing elements of the change programme 

ahead of the finalisation of primary and secondary legislation.  County, Borough and District Councils will not 

have a role in the registration, assessment, or assurance of safety regimes for higher-risk buildings. 

  

 

22 Details of the new safety regime for occupied higher-risk buildings were published as part of a consultation in July 2022.  

https://www.gov.uk/government/consultations/consultation-on-the-new-safety-regime-for-occupied-higher-risk-buildings/consultation-on-
the-new-safety-regime-for-occupied-higher-risk-buildings 

Page 39 Agenda Item 4



 

Worcestershire Housing Strategy |  30 

Priority Area 3 – Health and Well-Being 

Vision Statement or Objective for 2040 

Housing has a central role in ensuring good Health and Wellbeing for 

everyone in Worcestershire: 

Local Authorities and their partners make it a priority to work to ensure that 

Worcestershire is a great place to live for everyone. 

Why? 

• Housing plays a crucial role in contributing to quality of life in 

Worcestershire. Secure and warm housing is essential for good health. 

Avoiding fuel poverty and homelessness is part of this. Worcestershire has 

pockets of significant need associated with affordability, security of tenure 

and access to services. The Strategy prioritises reducing health 

inequalities, improving the life chances of more disadvantaged people 

alongside the wider population. 

• Local Authorities and health partners in Worcestershire collaborate to 

deliver great services to citizens, centred around the home. 

• Housing is recognised as having a key role to place in the provision of 

adult social care.  Worcestershire’s Integrated Care  ystem provides a 

well-developed and collaborative approach to health and social care. The 

housing strategy will integrate with the Herefordshire and Worcestershire 

Integrated Care Board. The valuable touchpoints that housing services 

provide to people with complex care needs will be used to support care pathways. 

Strategic Levers 

Lever 1 

• Increase the delivery of a 

diverse range of affordable and 

social housing to suit the needs 

of citizens at all stages of life.  

This will equip Worcestershire 

to address care issues including 

acute housing needs, 

homelessness, and wider 

provision for later living more 

effectively.  

Lever 2 

• Develop a role for housing in 

the delivery of health and 

wellbeing services. This could 

potentially include service hubs 

working out of community 

facilities developed as part of 

housing schemes.  

Alternatively, contact points 

associated with housing 

services could be used. 

Integrate with other services 

that support wellbeing including 

leisure services. 

Lever 3 

• Adopt an area-based operating 

model that integrates the 

community with public and 

private housing providers and 

other service providers 

including leisure facilities. 

Jobs to be done 

Job 1 

• Take steps to improve the life 

chances of people living in poor 

quality housing. This will include 

the coordination of Net Zero 

Carbon retrofit programmes to 

reduce fuel poverty, tackle 

damp and mould and deliver 

improvements to amenities and 

Job 2 

• Develop later independent living 

housing products in line with an 

expected increase in the elderly 

share of the population, meeting 

the needs of both locals and 

inward migrants. The products 

should include co-living and 

Job 3 

• Promote mixed communities, 

with care supported by digital 

technologies. This will be 

achieved by working with a 

diverse range of housing 

providers, particularly in 

connection with larger scale 

development. 

14.4% of households are 

affected by fuel poverty 

in Worcestershire 

compared to the national 

average of 13.4% 

 

The number of people 

diagnosed with dementia 

is forecast to increase by 

56% between 2016 and 

2035. 

 

By 2035, the number of 

people living alone in 

Worcestershire is 

expected to rise by 36%. 

 

Page 40 Agenda Item 4



 

Worcestershire Housing Strategy |  31 

 

Making it happen (essential actions): 

 

Strategic Lever: Increase the delivery of a diverse range of affordable and social housing 

Opportunity 

• Good quality housing plays an 

important role in quality of life. 

Affordability is important in 

Worcestershire due to below 

average wage levels.  

• Homelessness and acute 

housing need will only be 

addressed if additional housing 

is developed to meet the need.  

• Housing aimed to the needs of 

different groups including single 

adults and older residents will 

help to secure those specific 

needs can be readily met.  

Solution 

• A diverse range of housing will 

be delivered by a partnership 

approach. It will include the 

involvement of specialist 

service providers, housing 

developers, the public sector 

and the third sector. 

• New housing will meet the 

needs of currently underserved 

groups including families and 

single young adults at risk of 

homelessness. 

• The planning system will play a 

key role in the matching of 

demand and supply – backed 

by an evidence-base of need. 

Outcome 

• More good quality, healthy, 

affordable housing will improve 

health outcomes – particularly 

for people whose choice of 

housing is limited due to 

personal circumstances. 

• Levels of measurable 

deprivation including 

homelessness will fall. 

• Housing, health, and social 

care services will be better 

integrated with some services 

being accessible through the 

use of digital technology 

enabling access to digital 

consultation and online services 

in community settings. 

Jobs to be done - Take steps to improve the life chances of people living in poor quality housing 

Opportunity 

• Poor quality housing is known 

to contribute directly to health 

inequality. Fixing problems with 

Solution 

• Net zero retrofit should be 

prioritised to improve the 

energy performance of the local 

Outcome 

• Worcestershire’s net zero 

retrofit programme delivers 

public spaces to encourage 

active lifestyle choices. 

 

extra-care developments to 

meet market expectation.  

Who is involved? 

• County Council – social care and public health 

• District Council – housing, development, and planning 

• Integrated Care System Partners 

• Herefordshire and Worcestershire Health and Care Trust 

• Worcestershire Primary Care Network 

• Registered Providers and other housing providers 

 

The outcome – how Worcestershire will be different: 

• Worcestershire has a diverse mix of healthy housing that directly contributes to improved health 

outcomes. 

• Worcestershire has sufficient housing to need all housing needs. Homelessness and acute housing 

need are reduced as a result. 

• Herefordshire and Worcestershire Integrated Care Board works closely with providers of housing 

and housing services to ensure that housing contributes improved health and wellbeing. 

• Social and health services delivery takes place via the home and community, focused on the needs 

of people.  

• Housing developments are planned to include active travel, community, and social facilities from 

the outset. 

Page 41 Agenda Item 4



 

Worcestershire Housing Strategy |  32 

existing housing through retrofit 

programmes will result in better 

health outcomes.  Improving 

accessibility in housing will also 

increase independence and will 

improve quality of life. 

• Homelessness is closely 

associated with poor physical 

and mental health.  

• Worcestershire has an ageing 

population. Many older 

residents live in their own 

homes. Many of these homes 

also need to be updated to 

make them warm, dry, secure, 

and accessible. 

housing stock and tackle issues 

with damp and mould. 

• Public programmes should 

prioritise poor quality housing 

first. 

• Disposal of ‘hard to improve’ 

housing which will slow down 

improvement works by public 

bodies should not be permitted. 

• Housing providers should 

develop more dedicated 

accommodation for the 

homeless, including making use 

of PDR powers to develop new 

accommodation in suitable 

locations. 

• Independent living housing 

should be developed to meet 

the needs of local residents, 

enabling existing properties to 

be improved and reused. 

healthy homes to the most-

needy residents before 2030. 

• Public retrofit programmes 

prioritise housing that is in the 

poorest condition. 

• Housing provision for the 

homeless meets the needs of 

all groups including single 

people and families. 

• Elderly homeowners can 

access help and support to 

improve their homes or to move 

to more suitable 

accommodation. 

 

Other Strategic Levers: 

 
Develop a role for housing in the delivery of health and wellbeing services. Opportunities include the 

integration of housing services contact points with other aspects of support for people with additional care and 

service needs. Use of digital technologies for housing management and for in-home care will also provide new 

long-term opportunities to integrate pathways associated with housing, social care, and healthcare. 

Adopt an area-based operating model that integrates the community with public and private housing 

providers. Community-based approaches such as the Asset Based Community Development (ABCD) 

approach should be considered in the County as a means of organizing services in both existing and new 

communities. The principle should be that services are developed in consultation with local communities and 

build on the foundations of existing initiatives rather than replacing with new, centralized models. Initial work 

using the ABCD model has commenced in Worcestershire. These pilot projects should inform the 

development of a broadly-based strategy for community engagement through to 2040. 

Other jobs to do: 

Develop Later Living products including co-living, independent living, and extra-care. Support the 

development of dedicated/ tailored later living accommodation to enable Worcestershire residents to have a 

wider range of options including downsizing. Enable development at sufficient scale across the county so that 

it can be operated economically – attracting more investment. Integrate later living developments as hubs into 

county-wide social and healthcare provision. 

Promote mixed communities, with care supported by digital technologies. The strategy recommends 

that pathways associated with housing should be used to support the delivery of health and social care 

services. Two opportunities facilitated by the planning system are the provision of communal hub facilities in 

new development including within co-living and extra-care settings, and the embedding of devices and 

connectivity to facilitate digitally enabled support and care.  Districts should set and meet challenging targets 

for the delivery of accessibility modifications to increase the independence of elderly residents. 

 

  

Page 42 Agenda Item 4



 

Worcestershire Housing Strategy |  33 

Priority Area 4 – Net Zero Carbon and Climate Change 

 

23 BEIS. Heat and Building Strategy. October 2021 
24 Energy Company Obligation Scheme. Under ECO energy providers fund housing improvement programmes for low-income 

households. ECO4 will commence in April 2022. 

Vision Statement or Objective for 2040 

Climate change is one of the most important challenges that the housing strategy will address. A large 

share of the housing stock in Worcestershire will need retrofit by 2040 to meet net-zero targets in line with 

the Heat and Buildings Strategy23 (HBS): 

Specific roles have been identified in the strategy for Local Authorities, 

including planning for decarbonisation, decarbonising local authority stock, 

providing information, and raising awareness of support available for the 

decarbonisation. Above all, Local Authorities must continue to prioritise the 

tackling of climate change over the extended period to 2050. 

Why? 

• Government data suggests that 87% of homes in Worcestershire will require substantial retrofit 

investment to meet net-zero targets. Retrofit investments will create warmer, healthier homes with lower 

fuel bills helping to improve well-being (by tackling damp and mould issues) and eliminate fuel poverty.  

• Local planning authorities in Worcestershire have opportunities and powers under the Environment Act to 

intervene to promote biodiversity recovery and improvements to air and water quality. 

• Energy transition is a big economic opportunity and Worcestershire already benefits from employment 

created by Worcester Bosch. There is an opportunity to further develop a low-carbon heat eco-system 

based on consulting, and installation services focused on the local market.  

Strategic Levers 

Lever 1 

• Support the development of 

local low-carbon supply chains 

to deliver high-quality, best 

value retrofit to the public and 

social and affordable housing 

sector. This initiative will build 

on the long-term finance offered 

by the Social Housing 

Decarbonisation Fund launched 

in 2021.  

• District councils should promote 

the adoption of PAS2035 on 

programmes beyond the scope 

of LAD and ECO24 

• Adapt procurement models 

used for the Decent Homes 

programme such as Fusion 21 

to create local jobs, maximise 

programme buying power and 

manage retrofit portfolios. Work 

with registered providers and 

other large-scale housing 

Lever 2 

• Promote the development of 

sustainable communities based 

in part on the 20-minute town 

model. 20-minute towns 

combine a diverse range of 

homes in different tenures, 

employment, social and welfare 

services, and green space 

within an area that can easily be 

accessed using public and 

active travel options. 

Sustainable communities 

should also be designed to be 

healthy and resilient, with ample 

green space to support exercise 

and biodiversity as well as long-

term responses to climate 

change threats.  

The benefits of promoting a 

sustainable community’s model 

are that it is a holistic response 

to all of the challenges 

Lever 3 

• Develop a coordinated plan for 

benefits realisation associated 

with the implementation of the 

Environment Act in connection 

with housing development. 

• Develop a framework for the 

agreement of biodiversity net 

gain investments to enhance 

public realm and public 

amenity. 

• Consider biodiversity net-gain 

as an integral part of wider 

programmes associated with 

protected and priority species 

and habitats. 

In Worcestershire fuel 

poverty affects around 

14.4% of households 

Page 43 Agenda Item 4



 

Worcestershire Housing Strategy |  34 

owners to create a large-scale 

retrofit programme.  

• Develop capacity for energy 

planning and mapping for 

decarbonisation in anticipation 

of the introduction of heat 

network zoning in 2025. 

 

highlighted in the Housing 

Strategy. 

 

 

 

Jobs to be done 

Job 1 

• Develop a public engagement 

strategy aligned to the extended 

timescales of the HBS. Plan to 

engage with homeowners 

through to 2050 to raise 

awareness of retrofit 

opportunities. 

• Design the programme and 

specification to focus on 

privately rented and owner-

occupied housing aligned to 

incentives outlined in the HBS. 

• Raise awareness of existing 

and planned incentives for 

decarbonisation so that NZC 

opportunities are considered 

when homes are upgraded. 

Keep the engagement 

programme under regular 

review to assess impact and to 

align to new incentives as they 

are developed. 

 

Job 2 

• Progress on decarbonization as 

quickly as possible targeting the 

worst performing housing. 

Prioritise securing funding 

through ECO, Local Authority 

Delivery Scheme and Social 

Housing Decarbonisation. 

• Develop county-wide strategies 

and targets in line with the long-

term evolution of national 

decarbonization strategies. 

Anticipate direction of travel and 

adjust in response to detail such 

as the 2026 decision on 

hydrogen gas heating. This 

applies to new build and retrofit. 

 

 

Job 3 

• Develop an approach to the net-

zero carbon retrofit of homes in 

Worcestershire focused initially 

on homes in the public sector 

but with a long-term target to 

encourage the upgrade of 

private homes.  

This will initially build on existing 

schemes including ECO/ECO+ 

and over time will expand to 

cover the wider private sector 

including the rental sector. 

This will anticipate the effect of 

incentives including funding and 

triggers for improvement. 

• The Worcestershire plan will go 

beyond the strategy by 

promoting a common 

assessment process through an 

early emphasis on public 

engagement. 

Who is involved? 

• County Council – planning, public health, sustainability, and transport 

• District Council – housing, management, housing development and planning 

• DLUHC 

• Midlands Energy Hub 

• Registered Providers and other housing providers 

• Energy generators contributing to ECO. 

• National, regional and SME housing developers. 

• Regional construction supply chain  

• Housing third parties including funders, insurers etc. 

• Training providers including the Higher Education sector. 

 

Worcestershire’s plan – how it will be different: 

• Worcestershire will make rapid progress in the development of a decarbonisation plan and will be 

ahead of programme with respect to decarbonisation of existing public and private sector housing 

through retrofit by 2040. 

Page 44 Agenda Item 4



 

Worcestershire Housing Strategy |  35 

 

Making it happen (essential actions): 

 

Strategic lever: Develop local low-carbon supply chains to be capacity to deliver the retrofit 

programme 

Opportunity 

• Net zero carbon retrofit will 

require the development of a 

completely new supply chain. 

• Adoption of the PAS 2035 

standard will promote the 

development of a competent 

supply chain for the roll-out of 

retrofit at scale. 

• The development of the supply 

chain will require a programme 

of work, competent assured 

contractors, trained operatives, 

and a materials supply network. 

• Local authorities will have 

access to Social Housing 

Decarbonisation Funding and 

wider programmes in 

connection with the retrofit of 

the non-residential public estate 

to accelerate the development 

of this local capacity. 

Solution 

• This initiative will rely on the 

long-term development of 

funding solutions for net zero 

carbon retrofit in the public 

sector building on the platform 

of the Social Housing 

Decarbonisation Fund. 

• Local Authorities have 

developed locally based supply 

chains for previous 

programmes such as Decent 

Homes. A good exemplar is the 

Fusion 21 programme 

developed for the 2008 Decent 

Homes programme. 

• Fusion 21 featured a visible 

pipeline of work, a framework of 

local contractors, a training 

programme, a bulk material 

purchasing programme and a 

pre-agreed pricing framework. 

Outcome 

• The development of a local 

supply chain for retrofit 

accredited to PAS 2035 is an 

essential step to ensuring that 

Worcestershire people fully 

benefit from net zero carbon – 

accelerating home 

improvement and creating local 

jobs and a local SME retrofit 

network. 

• The outcome of the strategy will 

be made more certain using 

proven supply chain models. 

• Expanded capacity for retrofit in 

Worcestershire will enable the 

rate of progress to be 

maintained and may also 

achieve savings related to scale 

economies. 

• The supply chain should be 

accessible by the public and 

private sector.  

 

 

Jobs to be done: Develop a public engagement strategy to encourage private sector decarbonisation 

Opportunity 

• Most homes in Worcestershire 

are privately owned. The HBS 

anticipates that most 

homeowners will undertake 

their own retrofits in line with 

heating system upgrades. 

• Most homes in Worcestershire 

will require improvement works, 

so it makes sense to make early 

progress on ‘no-regret’ solutions 

that improve home comfort. 

• Eventually home-owners will 

need to install a low-carbon 

heat source like a heat pump. 

However, the right solution 

might not yet be available. 

Solution 

• The HBS is a long-term strategy 

designed to work with the ‘grain 

of consumer behaviour’. An 

engagement strategy needs to be 

similarly long-term. 

• Actively participate in ‘inward 

engagement’ through public 

consultation by Government, so 

the needs of Worcestershire are 

considered in policy 

development. 

• Encourage public adoption of 

existing and future advice 

sources as highlighted in the HBS 

including the Simple Energy 

Advice platform.  

Outcome 

• Raised awareness of the 

importance of homes in tackling 

climate change. Citizens accept 

the need for substantial change 

to buildings and behaviours 

needed to retrofit / decarbonise 

housing. 

• Accelerated adoption of energy 

and carbon saving measures in 

line with the long-term trajectory 

needed to meet net zero 

targets. 

• People in Worcestershire are 

aware of the changes that are 

coming and have the time to 

prepare.  

• New communities developed in Worcestershire will be master planned, designed and built to be 

sustainable from the outset.  

• Worcestershire will have a coordinated approach to the implementation of the Environment Act, 

which will support enhancements to biodiversity and resilience across the County. 

Page 45 Agenda Item 4



 

Worcestershire Housing Strategy |  36 

Making the right changes at the 

right time is critical. 

• Raising awareness of low 

carbon opportunities for existing 

homeowners will increase take-

up of solutions over the 30-year 

period of the HBS. 

• Promote awareness of the 

availability of support including 

advice and grants 

• Promote the awareness of retrofit 

incentives including upgrades to 

EPCs and other planned 

changes. 

• Housing retrofitted to met NZC 

principles will be free of damp 

and mould. 

• Active participation by 

Worcestershire in policy 

formulation relevant to housing 

decarbonisation. 

 

 

 

Other Strategic Levers: 

Promote the development of sustainable communities. Sustainable communities are a product of the 

people who live in a place and the homes and other facilities that support them. Sustainable communities 

should be mixed and diverse, readily accessible and should have facilities that meet the needs of all members 

of the community. These communities should also be designed to be sustainable in the face of climate change 

and other environmental challenges. Worcestershire will see large-scale housing development over the 20 

years of the strategy. One of the most effective ways of meeting the objectives of all four priority areas will be 

to ensure that the largest-scale developments make a full contribution to climate change mitigation. This will 

be enabled by ambitious early master planning supported by local authorities, potentially facilitated by 

Supplementary Plans and development bodies including Urban Development Corporations.  

Strategic lever 2. 

Develop a coordinated plan for benefits realisation following the implementation of the requirements 

of the Environment Act in connection with housing development, including biodiversity net gain.  Integrate 

the plan with housing planning and development so as to support the creation of sustainable, resilient 

communities.  Consider joint working across Worcestershire where this will deliver better outcomes for the 

local environment. 

Other jobs to do: 

Accelerate progress on decarbonisation as quickly as possible. The HBS is designed to allow for the 

adoption of decarbonising technologies with the ‘grain’ of consumer behaviour. The strategy also promotes 

‘no-regrets’ associated with new-build and off-grid homes where measures taken now will deliver benefit. 

Public sector retrofit should proceed as quickly as possible with initial support from the Social Housing 

Decarbonisation Fund.  

Targets to increase adoption of low-carbon technologies are challenging, and work to create momentum in 

Worcestershire allied to existing low-carbon industries will increase the pace of uptake. 

Develop an approach to the net-zero carbon retrofit. Most low carbon retrofit will take place in privately 

owned homes. Standardised approaches to retrofit based on PAS 2035 will help to improve standards, quality, 

and confidence for the consumer. This work will be delivered by the private sector, but Worcestershire will 

play a key role in facilitating a common approach. This is likely to involve working with Central, Regional and 

Local Government Partners to refine common standards suitable for use in the private housing sector. 

 

 

Page 46 Agenda Item 4



 

Worcestershire Housing Strategy |  37 

5 2023-2025 Action Plan 
It will be the responsibility of each district council to consider the ambitions set out in this strategy and develop its own action plan. 

This section of the report sets out proposals for consideration in the development of these district-level action plans.  As the strategy sets out a 20-year 

ambition, the proposals are at three levels of detail: 

• A 100-day plan to create momentum and to promote awareness of the strategy across affected parties. 

• A 5-year action plan setting out key priorities across the four priority areas. 

• A twenty-year road map, showing how the components of the strategy will come together to support the delivery of the vision. 

5.1 The 100-day plan 

The purpose of the Housing Strategy is to deliver a step-change in housing provision in Worcestershire. 

This is summed up in the Vision for Housing: 

As set out in this strategy, this vision will be delivered through coordinated action over 20-years across four broad areas of policy: 

 

 

 

 

 

In order to create momentum in 2023, we propose a simple 100-day plan focused on the creation of momentum and awareness. The plan should act as 

a call for action around the following major opportunities: 

• Creating a culture of positive action in housing and planning authorities to secure that Worcestershire is a dynamic, growing, and great place for 

everyone to live. 

• Organising and actively collaborating in housing and planning authorities across Worcestershire. Taking assertive steps to meet the policies and 

aspirations that are set out in Development Plans.  

• Using large scale development to set the standard for sustainable development including place-based amenities and services. 

• Develop and manage affordable and social housing as an integral part of new and existing communities to increase inclusion in Worcestershire. 

• Engaging with, organising, and supporting public and private homeowners to meet net zero targets. 

Worcestershire will be known for excellent housing. Everyone will have the choice of how and where they live. Local homes will be warm, healthy 

and will lead the way towards Net Zero. Worcestershire housing will add to a better quality of life. 

 

P
age 47

A
genda Item

 4



 

Worcestershire Housing Strategy |  38 

 

Actions during the first 100 days: 

We recommend the following key actions: 

1. Obtain approvals and political support. 
2. Develop individual district-level action plans with consideration being given to the proposals in this strategy. 
3. Agree areas of collaboration. 
4. Develop governance. 
 

This Strategy serves several purposes: 

• It is a vision for housing in the county to 2040. 

• It provides a statement of intent focused on specific priorities. 

• It provides the foundation of a set of more detailed action plans to cause the necessary changes and actions to happen and be delivered. 

• It provides an opportunity to evolve Worcestershire’s housing market offer to meet the needs of its citizens and business over the longer term. 

improving quality of life. 

  P
age 48

A
genda Item

 4



 

Worcestershire Housing Strategy |  39 

5.2 Action Plan 2023-2025  

The proposed action plan summarises the series of key next steps to be implemented during the period 2023 to 2025 in order for the strategy to achieve 

its purpose. These are organised by the four priority areas, together with a series of important enabling actions. The proposed actions need to be 

developed by Partners, collectively and where necessary at individual organisational level to respond to the items proposed below. 

 

 Proposed Actions Outcome Benefits 

Enabling actions 

Engagement 

strategy 

• Prepare and implement bespoke 

targeted stakeholder engagement 

programme. 

 

• Aligned stakeholders support for the 

strategy and implementation of its 

recommendations / next steps. 

• Quick and frictionless implementation of 

strategy delivering early benefits. 

 

Strategy update 

• Agree strategy monitoring and 

evaluation process.  

• Agree strategy review periods - we 

recommend a review every 12 months 

and a refresh every 3 years. 

• Develop review and refresh process. 

• Constant focus on delivery and evolution 

of strategy. 

• Maintenance of evidence base of impact 

and benefits delivered – enabling ongoing 

stakeholder support. 

• Strategy remains ambitious and future 

looking. 

• Strategy remains up to date and 

relevant to Worcestershire, its citizens, 

and stakeholders. 

• Worcestershire remains the most 

attractive place to live, work, learn and 

enjoy leisure time in the UK. 

 

Governance 

• Monitor the effectiveness of existing 

governance arrangements as part of 

the strategy roll-out. 

• Consider establishment of housing 

board. 

• Streamlined governance model mobilised. • Identification and recognition of linkages 

between economic / housing / health 

activity leading to more impactful 

decision making and greater benefits 

being delivered.  

• Development of culture of positive 

action and collaboration – task and 

finish approach. 

Government support 

& involvement of 

DLUHC 

• Develop key areas from the strategy 

where Government intervention, 

support or policy change is required to 

deliver the best possible outcomes. 

• Strategy outcomes are delivered efficiently 

and effectively through recognition that 

support is required and changes in policy 

are made that positively impact delivery 

through the life of the strategy. 

 

• The type and quality of homes required 

are delivered in Worcestershire. 

 

 

 

 

P
age 49

A
genda Item

 4



 

Worcestershire Housing Strategy |  40 

• Initiate and act on strategic case for 

Homes England support around key 

interventions and initiatives. 

 

• Homes England resources are deployed to 

support the Worcestershire agenda. 

Evidence Base 

• Develop a Plan for collecting, 

measuring, and reviewing data/ to form 

an evidence base for decision making 

and policy changes/support. 

 

• Evidence base to demonstrate to 

developers that a step change in activity in 

Worcestershire is required – for example 

NZC and independent living homes 

• The type and quality of homes required 

are delivered in Worcestershire. 

Economic Growth and Jobs 

Opportunity Pipeline • Develop 5+ year public sector pipeline 

of development sites. 

• Review existing known sites for 

housing and identify new possibilities 

e.g., WOPEP estate rationalisation, 

land promotion, change of use. 

• Classification, appraisal, prioritisation 

of sites; identifying capacity, viability, 

timescales, and wider benefits. 

 

• Initial programme of sites for development. 

• Increased rate of delivery of social and 

affordable housing. 

• Visible pipeline for the development of 

Offsite Manufacture 

• Barriers and enablers to development 

identified and plans to mitigate prepared. 

• Pipeline informs opportunity for 

alternative housing delivery models. 

• Drives efficiency opportunities through 

better use of assets and associated cost 

savings. 

• Underpins confidence in ability to 

directly influence housing market. 

Development of 

housing delivery 

capacity 

• Use Local Plans to assess the most 

appropriate way of bringing the sites 

forward for development  

• Consider alternatives to land sale 

including establishment of delivery 

vehicle(s). 

• Establish a clearing house function to 

consolidate demand for MMC. 

• Assess alternative delivery vehicles 

considering a range of factors. 

• Explore potential partners such as 

Homes England, Registered Providers 

etc. 

• Establishment of Delivery Vehicle capacity 

within district councils or option to sell 

assets to traditional market - aligned to 

stakeholder ambitions. 

• Delivery of a diverse range of housing to 

meet the needs of all citizens. 

• Direct delivery sets standards and 

expectations for large-scale development 

including sustainable communities. 

• Ability to accelerate delivery of 

affordable housing (or other tenure) 

aligned to county’s social, economic, 

and environmental needs. 

• Setting benchmarks on design quality. 

• Opportunity to explore new innovations 

and drive forward agreed initiatives e.g., 

net zero carbon, modern methods of 

construction, healthy homes etc. 

• Best value capital and revenue 

generation. 

 

*See Quality and Standards action 

 

P
age 50

A
genda Item

 4



 

Worcestershire Housing Strategy |  41 

Effective deployment 

of housing resources 

• Build on (existing) collaborative cross-

county working practices between 

district councils to prepare for 

additional workload and requirements 

for new capability that will come from 

planning reform. 

• Address / assess in terms of ‘jobs to 

be done’ and how best to deliver; 

recognising the significant 

opportunities transformation could 

realise. 

• Adopt a consistent approach to dealing 

with development parties to secure the 

necessary supply of social housing.  

 

• Positive action and collaboration between 

the district councils that is able to respond 

to the Strategy and adapt to the changes 

and additional workload that will likely 

result from planning reform 

• Efficiency of delivery / lower cost to 

deliver / greater capacity to deliver / 

higher quality of delivery. 

• Joined up consistent approach to 

market leading to better housing being 

delivered across the county. 

• Best practice developed and applied 

with a ‘local lens’. 

Quality and standards 

Support the 

adoption of MMC 

housing by 

collaboration across 

boundaries to 

consolidate MMC 

demand. 

• Public sector and Registered Provider 

housing developers to support 

adoption of MMC solutions at scale. 

• Clearing house to be established 

across the county to consolidate 

demand from multiple programmes. 

• Access to MMC capacity in the county is 

enhanced. 

• Procurement of MMC housing is simplified 

for public bodies in the county. 

• Quality of housing delivered in the county 

will be enhanced and productivity will 

increase. 

• Increased housing delivery capacity in 

Worcestershire based on a more 

diverse housebuilder supply chain. 

• Delivery of better-quality housing 

Plan for the 

implementation of 

planning reform to 

encourage great 

quality development 

• Prepare to use planning reform to 

promote great quality development. 

• Develop local standards, design 

guides and codes as needed to secure 

high-quality development. 

• Building planning capability to manage 

large scale consents.  

• Plan for a faster planning process and 

secure opportunities for participation. 

• Effective implementation of major changes 

to the planning system. 

• Better quality development with more 

amenity for the community. 

• Improved engagement with stakeholders 

as part of future housing planning activity 

• Smooth implementation of reform to 

planning. 

• A housing offer that underpins / 

supports economic growth. 

• Increased volume of house building to 

meet targeted need. 

• Better use of planning resources across 

the county. 

 

P
age 51

A
genda Item

 4



 

Worcestershire Housing Strategy |  42 

• Prepare to implement digital 

technologies as part of planning 

reform. 

Develop local supply 

chain capacity 

• Prepare for opportunities associated 

with growth in new build and retrofit 

markets. 

• Collaborate with local businesses, 

training providers and other partners to 

plan for development of supply chain 

capacity. 

• Consider business capacity as well as 

skills. 

 

• Sufficient capacity is planned to meet the 

requirements of the housing strategy. 

• Local people have the opportunity to 

participate in the housing sector. 

• Housing requirements are met. 

• The housing market supports good 

quality jobs and local enterprise. 

• Worcestershire economy benefits from 

further diversification 

Design Codes and 

Quality Standards  

 

 

 

 

 

• Develop a common approach to 

development of localised Design 

Codes across the county. 

• Set minimum standards and 

expectations for large scale 

development / settlements. 

• Take a lead on permitted development 

rights in town centres. 

• Driving the delivery of housing aligned to 

Worcestershire's economic and community 

/ citizen needs. 

• Delivery of citizen centric, mixed 

sustainable communities with high quality 

placemaking principles as standard. 

 

• Housebuilders in Worcestershire deliver 

beautiful homes that meet the needs of 

all occupiers. 

• Worcestershire is the best place to live 

in England. 

• Zero carbon communities are 

developed with increased resilience to 

climate change and lower cost of 

retrospective measures. 

 

Advance preparation 

for the introduction 

of new Fire Safety 

requirements for 

existing residential 

buildings 

• Develop a plan to implement 

forthcoming building safety legislation 

in connection with Local Authority and 

Registered Provider managed housing 

over 11m in height (where relevant). 

• Integrate the plan with wider reforms in 

connection with the management of 

social housing. 

 

 

 

 

• Worcestershire will have a county-wide 

plan to implement building safety 

management programmes as soon as 

practicable. 

• Reforms will be implemented as a single 

programme. 

• People living in affected housing will 

benefit from improved safety 

management practice. 

P
age 52

A
genda Item

 4



 

Worcestershire Housing Strategy |  43 

Health, wellbeing, and inclusion.  

Increase the delivery 

of a diverse range of 

affordable and social 

housing.  

 

 

 

 

• Develop an accurate model to forecast 

demand for lower-cost housing. 

• Design of affordable housing 

requirements in the planning system to 

meet diverse housing needs. 

• Wide range of tenures in large-scale 

developments including urban 

extensions. 

• Local authority participation in 

development. 

• Data-led approach to affordable and social 

housing provision. 

• Supply of housing aligned to the needs of 

the local working population. 

• Greater diversity of housing supply, 

particularly in larger development. 

 

• Worcestershire meets the housing 

needs of all citizens. 

• More choice of social and affordable 

housing increases social mobility. 

• Homes and jobs are located more 

closely together. 

Tackling 

homelessness 

• Review the findings and 

recommendations of the 

Homelessness and Rough Sleeping 

Strategy to align ambition and 

direction.  

 

• A joined-up approach to resolving the 

challenges of homelessness and rough 

sleeping. 

• The strategy will seek to deliver a long-

term housing solution to the homeless 

of Worcestershire. 

Improve the life 

chances of people 

living in poor quality 

accommodation 

• Prioritise net zero retrofit to deal with 

poorest quality housing first. 

• Develop dedicated housing to meet the 

needs of the homeless. 

• Prohibit the disposal of hard to 

decarbonise homes in public 

ownership. 

• Promote private sector retrofit 

schemes to older residents in privately 

owned homes. 

• Worcestershire’s most needy residents 

benefit from warm, healthy 

accommodation. 

• Public retrofit funding is focused on 

housing that is in the poorest condition. 

• Fewer people are homeless. 

• Elderly homeowners can access support to 

improve their homes. 

• Improved health outcomes for 

Worcestershire’s most needy residents. 

• Greater equality in access to healthy 

housing. 

• Greater independence for elderly 

homeowners who will be helped to 

improve their homes. 

Deliver housing 

suitable for later 

living in line with 

forecast demand 

• Anticipate growth following the reform 

of funding for social care including 

sector-specific forecasts. 

• Work with partners to provide evidence 

base to support and promote the 

adoption of ‘Lifetime Homes 

• Planned housing supply in line with 

predicted demand. 

• Resilient new housing able to meet the 

requirements of all potential residents. 

• Increased interest from the development 

supply chain in the development of age-

specific housing. 

• Worcestershire meets the needs of an 

important and growing housing cohort. 

• Older residents live in suitable housing. 

• Family homes are recycled for younger 

families. 

P
age 53

A
genda Item

 4



 

Worcestershire Housing Strategy |  44 

Standards’ to reflect better the 

demographics of the county. 

• Work with partners to provide evidence 

base to support and promote later 

living housing through the planning 

system. Enable private sector 

operators to achieve scale in the 

county. 

• Work with extra-care housing providers 

to respond to the post-COVID-19 

landscape and in raising the quality of 

existing accommodation to meet 

market expectation and need. 

• Extended life of existing sheltered housing 

stock. 

• Health issues associated with loneliness 

and fuel poverty etc are addressed. 

Develop a role for 

housing in the 

delivery of health 

and wellbeing 

services. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

• Collaborate with Integrated Care 

System Partners with the need to 

identify opportunities to better integrate 

housing service and healthcare 

pathways. 

• Identify opportunities to pilot health 

and well-being hubs using existing 

community facilities. 

• Learn from assisted tech pilot 

undertaken by Community Housing 

and current initiatives and commission 

a single strategy to explore how digital 

technology can be used to facilitate 

healthcare in the home (over the long-

term). 

 

• Build on existing collaborative initiatives. 

Make full use of the contact opportunities 

created by housing services to provide 

other support as needed. 

• Develop a partnership-based model for 

shared community services and activities 

focused on the shared community facilities 

delivered by new build housing 

development. 

• Accelerate the adoption of digital care 

services. 

• More joined-up working centred on the 

home. 

• Effective use of community facilities to 

host outreach activities and events. 

• Early appreciation of the potential of 

digitally enabled home healthcare 

ahead of growth of demand in 

Worcestershire. 

Net zero-carbon and climate change 

Public engagement 

• Develop long-term plan for public 

engagement to increase awareness of 

the need for home decarbonisation 

and access to resources  

• Worcestershire people understand the 

issues, are engaged and are ready when 

they need to act to decarbonise. 

• Faster rate of decarbonisation 

• Wider base of support for 

decarbonisation measures 

• More homes that are healthier, less 

polluting and free of damp and mould. 

P
age 54

A
genda Item

 4



 

Worcestershire Housing Strategy |  45 

• Fewer chances to progress 

decarbonisation are missed because of 

better knowledge. 

  

Healthy, sustainable 

communities 

• Set standards and expectations for the 

delivery of high quality, mixed-tenure 

sustainable communities. 

• Promote the development of 

sustainable communities based in part 

on the 20-minute town model. 

• Carry out feasibility study / pilot project 

on creating a model of “Worcestershire 

Healthy Housing”. 

 

• Development of sustainable communities 

that are great places for everyone to live. 

• Evidence base developed for new model of 

housing development. 

• Healthier more economically active 

population. 

• Places that promote healthy, 

economically active lifestyles leading to 

lower costs for public services. 

• Reduced long-term cost of health and 

social care to the public sector. 

Worcestershire is seen as a trailblazing 

county – the healthiest in England. 

Net-zero carbon 

retrofit 

• Review current and planned NZC 

initiatives in the county and beyond 

including engaging with Registered 

Providers to assess size of opportunity 

/ demand / need. 

• Develop a common approach to the 

retrofit challenge for both social and 

private housing based on PAS 2035. 

• Promote awareness and benefits of 

Net Zero Carbon retrofit to 

homeowners. 

• Prioritise / pilot poor quality housing 

with multiple issues e.g., high energy 

costs, risks to health through for e.g., 

damp and mould. 

• Develop local low-carbon supply 

chains to deliver retrofit to the public 

sector. 

• Consider the countywide economic 

model where the public sector takes a 

proactive/ interventional role in 

delivering retrofit to the private sector. 

• Worcestershire local authorities have a 

plan for retrofit and are active participants 

in discussions about funding and 

implementation. 

• A common approach minimises duplication 

of resources and inconsistent standards. 

• Homeowners are engaged early, creating 

awareness. 

• Worcestershire develops a local supply 

chain to deliver assured net zero carbon 

retrofit. 

• Early progress and quick wins on the 

biggest housing challenge affecting 

Worcestershire. 

• Consistent implementation minimises 

operational disruption to Local Authority 

housing teams. 

• Capture the economic benefits through 

local supply chain opportunities. 

• Accelerate the transition to a zero-

carbon county. 

• Accelerate retrofit programmes to 

improve quality standards of existing 

homes with better energy efficiency and 

being free of damp and mould. 

 

 

P
age 55

A
genda Item

 4



 

Worcestershire Housing Strategy |  46 

Public engagement 

• Develop long-term plan for public 

engagement to increase awareness of 

the need for home decarbonisation 

and access to resources  

• Worcestershire people understand the 

issues, are engaged and are ready when 

they need to act to decarbonise. 

• Fewer chances to progress 

decarbonisation are missed because of 

better knowledge   

• Faster rate of decarbonisation 

• Wider base of support for 

decarbonisation measures 

• More homes that are healthier and less 

polluting. 

5.3 Long-term transformational road map 

 
The road map summarises the main activities that are described and explained in the priorities section in the sequence required to deliver the 2040 

objective. 

The road map highlights the integrated nature of the strategy and the long-term nature of the actions required to deliver the expected level of change. 

This emphasises the importance of the five opportunities highlighted in the strategy: 

• Creating a culture of positive action in housing and planning authorities to secure that Worcestershire is a dynamic, growing, and great place for 

everyone to live. 

• Organising and actively collaborating in housing and planning authorities across Worcestershire. Taking assertive steps to meet the policies and 

aspirations that are set out in Development Plans.  

• Using large scale development to set the standard for sustainable development including place-based amenities and services. 

• Integrating affordable housing into new development in all communities. 

• Engaging with, organising, and supporting public and private homeowners to meet net zero targets. 

 

P
age 56

A
genda Item

 4



 

Worcestershire Housing Strategy |  47 

  

 

P
age 57

A
genda Item

 4



 

 

Arcadis UK 

80 Fenchurch Street 

London EC3M 4BY 

United Kingdom 

T: +44 (0) 20 7812 2000 

 

arcadis.com 

 

Page 58 Agenda Item 4

http://www.arcadis.com/


REDDITCH BOROUGH COUNCIL 

Executive 25th July 2023 

1 

 

Financial Recovery Plan 

 

Relevant Portfolio Holder  Councillor Luke Court,  
Finance and Enabling Portfolio Holder 

Portfolio Holder Consulted  Yes 

Relevant Head of Service Michelle Howell 

Report Author Job Title: Head of Finance & Customer Services 
email: michelle.howell@bromsgroveandredditch.gov.uk  
Contact Tel: 0152764252 

Wards Affected N/A 

Ward Councillor(s) consulted N/A 

Relevant Strategic Purpose(s) All 

Non-Key Decision 

If you have any questions about this report, please contact the report author in 
advance of the meeting. 

 
1. SUMMARY  
 

The purpose of this report is to set out the processes the Council has been following to 
rectify a deterioration in its financial position and processes due to the impact of the 
implementation of a new financial system in February 2021 during the C-19 pandemic 
period. This follows on from a report presented on the 6th September 2022 and also the 
discussions over the S24 Statutory Recommendations that took place in Audit, 
Governance & Standards Committee, Executive and Council in November and 
December 2022.  
 

2. RECOMMENDATIONS 
 

Executive are asked to Resolve that: 
 

1) Progress made on the financial recovery be noted including: 
 

o Delivery of the Statutory Accounts 
o Delivery of Statutory Financial Returns 
o Improvements in the Control Environment 

  
2) The work still under way to move back to a best practice operation and 

the associated timetable for completion of this work, as contained in this 
Report, be noted. 

 
3. KEY ISSUES 
 
 Financial Position 
 
3.1 The Council implemented a new financial system in February 2021.  The existing 

financial system was at the end of its useful life and would not deliver process 
improvements required to move the Council forward. This implementation has not been 

Page 59 Agenda Item 5

mailto:michelle.howell@bromsgroveandredditch.gov.uk


REDDITCH BOROUGH COUNCIL 

Executive 25th July 2023 

2 

 

smooth and has led to a deterioration of the Councils financial position.  This has 
included:  

    

 Non completion of the 2020/21, and 2021/22 Accounts. 

 Non delivery of monitoring information during the 2021/22 financial year. 

 Non delivery of Government financial returns. 

 Incomplete take-up of the new system by both Finance and Service Users. 

 Loss of key financial staff. 
 
3.2 A finance recovery programme was put in place from April 2022 to start to rectify the 

situation. This was reported through to Executive in September 2022.    
 
3.3 These issues build on comments from the External Auditors relating to 2019/20 accounts, 

which were only approved in the fall of 2021 and the subsequent issuing of the S24 
Recommendation on the 31st October 2022 due to non-delivery of the 2020/21 Statement 
of Accounts. Comments on the 2019/20 accounts highlighted issues on working papers 
were highlighted as a significant issue. 

 
3.4  Audit, Governance and Standards Committee, Executive and then Council debated the 

S24 Recommendation and the Draft 2020/21 External Audit Report in November and 
December 2022.  The outcome of Council was that: 

 the Section 24 Statutory Recommendation be accepted, and that Council review the 

recommendation, endorse the actions included in the management responses which 

form the rectification process required as per legislation. 

Subsequent to the Council meeting on the 14th November, it was also agreed 

commission a Corporate Peer Review by the Local Government Association (LGA) to 

look into Corporate Governance linked to the Section 24 Notice report and the draft 

External Audit Report for 2020/21.  This would be done jointly with Bromsgrove District 

Council. 

3.5 And in terms of the 6 Key Recommendations and 13 Performance recommendations in 

the draft External Audit Report for 2020/21 that 

 the 6 Key Recommendations and 13 Improvement Recommendations within this 

report be agreed. 

 Council agree that the Management Actions contained within this report will rectify 

these issues 

 3.6 The Council continue to move forward with the rectification processes and in particular: 

 A Peer Challenge did take place in early March, which was a joint review with 
Bromsgrove, and the associated action plans were discussed at Executive on the 13th 
June 2023.  This included a “finance action plan”, to meet the Peer Challenge’s 
recommendations. 

 Redditch, at its Executive meeting on the 13th June, approved to implement the 
recommendations of the Bromsgrove Task Group of Audit, Standards and 

Page 60 Agenda Item 5



REDDITCH BOROUGH COUNCIL 

Executive 25th July 2023 

3 

 

Governance Committee whose objective was to carry out the root and branch review 
on how the Council arrived at the Section 24 recommendations.  This Task Group met 
in February and its findings were initially presented to Audit, Governance and 
Standards Committee on the 23rd March. 

 That Audit, Governance and Standards Committee as a standing agenda agenda 
item review progress against the Audit recommendations, and national and local 
deadlines.  

  
 Rectification Process 
 
3.7 The Reports presented to Council in November set out the Management Action Plans in 

place to rectify the issues set out in the S24 Recommendations and the draft 2020/21 
External Audit Report. These are also set out in the Peer Review report Appendix G.  
This report now concentrated on movement since those formal responses. 

 
3.8 Interactions with Members since the 14th November 2022 have included: 

 An Emergency Audit, Governance and Standards Committee convened on the 15th 
December to review the draft Accounts for comment (minutes available). 

 Audit Standards and Governance Committee on the 26th January, reviewed progress 
on tasks to date. 

 Auditors reporting they were on site from Wednesday 25th January.  They have 
started their work by reviewing the data transfer balances (old to new system) and it 
has been agreed between the Auditors and the Council that draft 20/21 Accounts will 
be provided to Auditors after both sides have signed off the data take on balances. 

 The Bromsgrove Task and Finish Group findings were reviewed by Audit Governance 
and Standards Committee on the 23rd March and the findings recommended to 
Executive in its June Meeting.  The recommendations of the Task Group are included 
in this report as Appendix A. 

 Audit, Governance and Standards Committee on the 23rd March also had an update 
on progress on the Statement of Accounts and progress on finance key deliverables 
(Accounting Policies Report), the Internal Audit Progress Report and an update on the 
Actuarial valuations of the pension fund, which was a significant savings item in the 
budget.  The Committee also agreed to change its frequency to every 2 months to 
ensure challenging progress and ensuring the recommendations of the S24 
Statement and the Draft External Audit Report were implemented. 

 On the 30th May, the Audit Standards and Governance Committee had its second 
Accounting Policies Report.  The Accounting Policies Report sets out: 

o The Accounting Policies being used their Source and associated Governance 
Arrangements be noted.  

o The Accounting Policies report be considered at each Audit, Governance and 
Standards Committee meeting to alert Members to possible no compliance 
issues.  

  
3.9 In terms of closure work, the following actions have taken place/been agreed with our 

External Auditors: 

 Data Take on working paper had completed ready for Auditors (efin to tech1) 
including description of issues found while undertaking the reconciliation. First 

Page 61 Agenda Item 5



REDDITCH BOROUGH COUNCIL 

Executive 25th July 2023 

4 

 

meeting with the external auditors with all this information held on the 11th January 
2023. Data take on is key given that treatments have to be agreed as the starting 
point and this is where the Auditors are starting their work.   

 A Solution to the Cash Receipting issues was finally resolved in the live environment 
on the 5/6th November 2022. 

 Draft accounts produced between 6 November and 14th December for Audit 
Committee. In the Audit Committee meeting it was highlighted that items in suspense 
were still higher than wanted and will work on driving numbers down before have to 
issue the final draft accounts.   

 Audit deliverables list supplied by External Auditors on the 16th January in 
preparation for arrival on 23 January. Following meetings with the External Auditors 
through to June 2023 the timetable has been slightly amended as follows: 

 Closure 2020/21 
o Agreement of Treatment of Take on Balances – This will now take place in 

early July 23 as significantly more testing is required by the External Auditors 
o Provision of Draft 2020/21 Accounts to Audit (to begin Audit) July 23.  This is 

dependent on the External Auditors confirmation that they have approved both 
Council’s take-on balances work.  The auditors are having issues in how they 
need to test the transactional data due to their “normal” models not working on 
our data. 

o 2020/21 Audit – July to September 23 (estimated) 
o Sign Off of 20/21 Accounts - November 2023 

 Closure 2021/22 
o Updated Outturn position – August 2023 
o Draft Accounts to Auditors November 2023 (following external Auditors sign off 

of 20/21 Accounts) 
o Audit of Accounts December to April 
o Sign off of the Accounts – May/June 2024 

 Closure 2022/23 
o Budget Manager Closure Training – 23rd-28th March 2023 – 83 staff attended 

closure training at the end of March. 
o Provisional Outturn Report – Executive Report for July 2023.  This will show 

outturn as well as amount in suspense to be cleared.  This will enable the 
2022/23 Revenue Outturn Report to be presented to DLUHC on the 31st July 
2023 as per Government deadlines. 

o Draft 2022/23 Accounts to Audit – June 24 (following External Auditors sign off 
21/22 Accounts) 

o Sign off of the Accounts – November 2024 
 
3.10 Wider recovery programme actions include: 

 Finance Delivery Plan and overall deliverables converted to more BAU with an 
Assurance Meeting (last Wednesday CMT each month) taking items on board. 
Updated report format showing deliverables (linked to the Accounting Policies Report) 
launched in March 2023. 

 Lanluas, a TechOne consultancy, has undertaking a TechOne Health check on 
7/8/16/17 November with deliverables reports.  This identifies areas where the 

Page 62 Agenda Item 5



REDDITCH BOROUGH COUNCIL 

Executive 25th July 2023 

5 

 

Council can move the system forward. Following the upgrade more independent 
resource will be commissioned to ensure full system functionality is leveraged.  

 TechOne now using AMS days to ensure other priorities delivered now that the cash 
receipting solution has been fixed on 5/6 November 

 The Council are Upgrading TechOne to latest version with regression testing under 
way. It was expected this would go live in March 2023 but the Council are delaying 
this to June and will move to the latest version on the 10th July. The delay is due to 
the fact that TechOne Cash Receipting consultants will be in the UK in Early June and 
their time has been booked so this work can be done “face to face” given the Council 
is still the only TechOne Cash Receipting user and specific testing must be 
undertaken in this area. 

 Additional reconciliation staff were engaged in February to address the backlog in 
suspense and key reconciliations to get the Council up to date. 

 Back Office Protocols launched in December.  This sets out what the “back office” 
provides and what the expectations are for Service managers.  Finance services are 
a considerable part of these protocols. 

 Implementation of controls is very dependent on completing clearance of suspense 
items which we have engaged additional staff. 

 Still an issue replacing staff – due to Market shortages which are now more acute and 
driving up day rates.  The Head of Finances maternity leave has been covered for a 
year with the replacement starting in the first week of May to allow handover. Chief 
Accountant has been recruited and a Head of Management Accountancy being 
sought.  

 
3.11 Progress on the following key financial and compliance indicators are reported monthly to 

CMT monthly and to both Audit Committees bi-monthly by the S151/Deputy 151 Officers. 

There is a requirement to report all finance deliverables as per the Recommendations of 

the Audit Task Group: 

 
o Budget 

o Delivered by 11th March in preceding financial year – delivered Feb 2023 
o Council Tax Base – Yearly – 2023/24 delivered in January 2023 
o Council Tax Resolution – Yearly 2023/4 delivered in February 2023 
o Council Tax Billing – Yearly (2 weeks before 1st DD is due to be taken) – Bills 

distributed in March 2023 
o Closure 

o Draft Accounts delivered to Audit by 30th June 
o Audit Completed by 30th November (will change in 22/23 Audit) 

o Government Returns 
o VAT – Monthly 

 Still to be delivered for 20/21 – dependent on closure of accounts 
o Revenue Outturn Reports – July 

 Still to be delivered for 20/21 – dependent on closure of accounts 
o Capital Outturn Reports – July 

 Still to be delivered for 20/21 – dependent on closure of accounts 
o Quarterly Revenue Outturn Estimates 

Page 63 Agenda Item 5



REDDITCH BOROUGH COUNCIL 

Executive 25th July 2023 

6 

 

 Quarters 1-3 delivered (have warnings from previous year as not 
delivered) 

o Quarterly Capital Outturn Estimates 
 Quarters 1-3 delivered (have warnings from previous year as not 

delivered) Q4 to be delivered on 21st April 2023 
o Quarterly Borrowing Return 

 22/23 Quarterly Returns delivered - Q4 delivered on 11th April 2023 
o Quarterly Council Tax and Business Rates Returns 

 22/23 Quarterly Returns delivered - Q4 due 5th May 2023 
o Whole of Government Accounts Returns – August 

 Still to be delivered for 20/21 – dependent on closure of accounts 
o RA – Revenue Budgets – April 

 2022/23 Delivered on the 5th May 2022 and 2023/24 delivered on 14th 
April 2023 

o Capital Estimates Return – to be delivered by 24th March 2023 
o Public Works Loans Board Certainty Rate – April 

 2022/3 delivered on 28th April 2022 
o Pooling of Housing Capital Receipts – May 

 2022/23 Delivered 13th May 
o NNDR1 Return (Business Rates) – January 

 Delivered December 2021 for 2022/23 and January 2023 for 2023/24 
return 

o NNDR3 Return (Business Rates) – June and September 
 Delivered in June 22 for 2022/23 
 Draft 22/23 NNDR3 provided to Worcestershire County Council for 

view of the pool. Final draft NNDR3 to be submitted to DLUHC by 30th 
April 2023 

o Housing Benefit Subsidy Return – Yearly 
 Sent 29th April 2022 
 2022/23 subsidy return due to be delivered on 28th April 2023 

o DHP Claim – Yearly 
 Sent 29th April 2022 

o CTB1 (Council Tax Base) – October 
 Sent October 2022 

o CTR1(Council Tax Requirement) – March 
 22/23 sent 16 March 2022 
 23/24 sent 7 March 2023 

o Policies 
o Treasury and Asset Management Strategies 

 Initial Strategies as part of the MTFP – 2023/4 Strategy Approved in 
March 2023 

 Half Yearly Report 

 Update provided in Q1 Revenue Return 
 Yearly Outturn Report 

 To be produced in July 
o Council Tax Support Scheme – Yearly – Approved in Jan 2023 after 

consultation 

Page 64 Agenda Item 5



REDDITCH BOROUGH COUNCIL 

Executive 25th July 2023 

7 

 

o Minimum Revenue Provision – yearly – Approved as part of the 2023/4 to 
2025/6 Medium Term Financial Plan 

 Local indicators include: 

 Financial Monitoring – quarterly – quarters 1-3 2023 delivered in September, 
November and March. Outturn report is on this agenda 

 Risk Management – quarterly – 2023 updates delivered in July, November, 
January and June 

 Financial Controls (still in development 
o Clearance of suspense accounts 
o Bank Reconciliation 

 Over £500 spending. 
o Updated to March 2023 

 
3.12 The key returns that have still not been delivered are the Revenue and Capital Outturn 

forms for 2020/21 and 2021/22 and the VAT returns.  Although the Government now 
allow these returns to be completed based on estimates, the level of uncertainty due to 
the Cash Receipting means these cannot be completed until the External Auditors sign 
off the Councils take on balances and the Council provides the draft accounts to Audit. 

 
3.13 There are a number of areas where compliance will be measured going forwards. 

Compliance to process and timetable is a key underlying theme of the Draft External 

Audit Report 2020/21. These items are being measured to improve how we work and 

change behaviours. This will lead to an improved financial health/knowledge across both 

Councils. Not all these measures can be put in place instantly but there should be the full 

suite by the middle of the summer (Debt indicators depend on the clearing of suspense 

and the updating of the bank reconciliations). 

 Training: 

 Number on Closure Training 23, 24, 27, 28 March – by Service Area – 83 attended. 

 Mandatory Budget Manager Training – July - by Service Area – Corporate Finance 
team trained on budget loading processes in April but issues due to cash receipting 
changes have led to budgets not being loaded until June. Also waiting the Upgrade 
so training will also encompass that as well. 

 Mandatory Financial Awareness Training – July/August – by Service Area 

 TechOne Budget Manager Training July/August – by Service Area. 

 Number on Payments Purchase Order Training (Monthly) by Service Area. 
 
It should be noted that training was going to take place in June but has been delayed 
until after the upgrade to the financial system in mid July. 

 

Errors: 

 Non delivery of GPC Card Data (monthly basis) – will begin at the end of Quarter 1. 

 Mis-codings on TechOne per month – by Service Area - will begin at the end of 
Quarter 1 due to April closure issues taking priority. 
 

Page 65 Agenda Item 5



REDDITCH BOROUGH COUNCIL 

Executive 25th July 2023 

8 

 

Process updates: 

 Finance time to respond to queries in the following areas being developed: 

o Finance 

o Payments and Insurance 

o Income  

 Procurement 

o The new ‘No Compliance No Order’ process has been live a month now. We 

have a few issues to resolve with T1 but hoping these will be resolved with the 

upgrade on the system.  

o Many departments are now proactively getting quotations for lower value 

works.  A lot of the issues we have are now training issues that are being 

resolved. 

o We still have no contracts for garage related matters, but we now have dates 

for these to be resolved by and a meeting is to be set up monthly to ensure 

progress on these. 

o The number of contracts in place is growing regularly and we are confident that 

this process is having a positive effect.  We hope that eventually we get to the 

place where the number of orders coming to us is minimal.  

o A spreadsheet is being collated for requests with no contracts and we will 

discuss this with teams going forward.  We hope that eventually we get the 

place where the number of orders coming to us is minimal.  

 General Finance Indicators: 

o Council Tax collection rates – 2022/23 RBC 95.7%, 2022/23 BDC 97.8%, April 
2023 so far RBC 8.9%, April 2023 so far BDC 8.7% 

o Business rates collection rates - 2022/23 RBC 94.8%, 2022/23 BDC 94.6%, 
April 2023 so far RBC 6.8%, April 2023 so far BDC 6.6% 

o Number of invoices paid within 30 days – update to be provided in next report 
o Outstanding debt over 30 days (Accounts Receivable) – RBC £1.7m, BDC 

£1.1m, Rubicon £0.2m 
o Bank reconciliations – significant progress on 2021/22 reconciliation 
o Volume of items in suspense: 

 

 2021/22 

(work ongoing to transfer items out 

of suspense) 

2022/23 

 Number of Transactions on 

Suspense Codes (including 

any correcting lines) 

Value 

(£m) 

Number of Transactions 

on Suspense Codes 

(including correcting lines) 

Value 

(£m) 

RBC 28,846 (17.9) 18,146 25.1 

Rubicon - - 2,994 1.3 

 
 

Page 66 Agenda Item 5



REDDITCH BOROUGH COUNCIL 

Executive 25th July 2023 

9 

 

3.14 Following the work undertaken, the following list are the actions that are now being 
delivered to rectify issues highlighted in the S24 Recommendation as well as key 
recommendations of the draft 2020/21 External Audit Report: 

 
 The Accounting Policies Report will go to every Audit Committee. 

 The key closure deliverables for each financial year are set out below. The owner of 

these deliverables are the S151 and Deputy S151 Officers. Closure and Audit of the 

2020/21 Accounts delivers the S24 Recommendations. The owners of these 

deliverables are the S151 and Deputy S151 Officers. 

 Progress on the following key financial and compliance indicators are reported 

monthly to CMT monthly and to both Audit Committees bi-monthly by the 

S151/Deputy 151 Officers. There is a requirement to report all finance deliverables as 

per the Recommendations of the Audit Task Group. 

 Delivery of Financial training detailed in this document will move staff to right level of 

skills. 

 TechOne will be upgraded to the latest version in June 2023. 

 Once TechOne is updated the Council will engage with Lanlaus for further system 

improvements and efficiencies. 

 Quarterly combined financial and performance monitoring will continue in 2023/4. 

 The 2024/5 MTFP will start in the summer.  As part of this process the approach to 

consultation will be rethought. 

 The MTFP will include Scenario analysis given short term Government guidance on 

central support. 

 Integrate/endorse Audit Task Group Recommendations 

 Run Risk workshops to assess Risk Appetite of Executive and Audit Committees. 

 Implement Internal Audit Risk Review recommendations. 

 Change order of Audit Committees to deal with risk earlier as per the 

Recommendations of the Audit Task Group.  

 
 
4. Legal Implications 
 
4.1 No Legal implications have been identified. 
 
5.  Strategic Purpose Implications  
 
 Relevant Strategic Purpose 
 
5.1 The Strategic purposes are included in the Council’s corporate plan and guides the 

Council’s approach to budget making ensuring we focus on the issues and what are most 
important for the borough and our communities. Our Financial monitoring and strategies 
are integrated within all of our Strategic Purposes. 

  

 
 
 

Page 67 Agenda Item 5



REDDITCH BOROUGH COUNCIL 

Executive 25th July 2023 

10 

 

Climate Change Implications 
 
5.2 The green thread runs through the Council plan. Every report has potential financial 

implications and these in term can have implications on climate change.  These will be 
addressed and reviewed through individual reports when relevant by climate change 
officers will ensure the correct procedures have been followed to ensure any impacts on 
climate change are fully understood. 

 
6. Other Implications 
 

Customer / Equalities and Diversity Implications  
 
6.1 None as a direct result of this report. 
 
 Operational Implications 
 
6.2  Managers meet with finance officers to consider the current financial position and to 

ensure actions are in place to mitigate any overspends. 
 
7. RISK MANAGEMENT  
 
7.1 The financial monitoring is included in the corporate risk register for the authority 

 
 

8. APPENDENCES 
 

Appendix A – Audit Task Group Recommendations 
 
AUTHOR OF REPORT 
 
Name:  Pete Carpenter– Interim Director of Finance (S151) 
E Mail: Peter.Carpenter@bromsgroveandredditchbc.gov.uk 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 68 Agenda Item 5

mailto:Peter.Carpenter@bromsgroveandredditchbc.gov.uk


REDDITCH BOROUGH COUNCIL 

Executive 25th July 2023 

11 

 

Appendix A – Audit Task Group Recommendations 
 

Appendix A  Recommendations of the Audit Task Group 

The following 10 general recommendations and 4 ERP recommendations are the findings of the 

Audit Task Group which reported to both Bromsgrove Audit Standards and Governance 

Committees on the 9th March 2023 and Redditch Audit Governance and Standards Committee 

on the 23rd March 2023.  These recommendations now form part of the overall finance recovery 

program. 

1. Recommendations  

 

1. BDC to ensure that subject specialists, internal or external, are involved in the design of 

relevant procurement specifications for all major projects.  

2. Given a number of substantial and important projects on the horizon for BDC, set up a 

permanent Project Management Office at BDC to support the full range of projects undertaken 

by the Council. This Project Management Office would report to CMT/ SMT as part of its remit. 

CMT is tasked with setting out the requirements of this new programme office and resource 

requirements to ensure compliance with the recommendations in this Report. This Report will be 

presented to the first Cabinet meeting after the BDC elections in May 2023.  

3. In order to establish that a system chosen is fit for purpose, future scoring criteria as part of 

all procurement exercises will include the need for evidence that the system on offer to BDC is 

tried and tested.  

4. Internal Audit should be cited on all major projects, together with a professional member of 

the Project Management Office. If necessary, independent or peer validation of technical 

specifications and/or bid due diligence should be considered.  

5. Staff required on any major projects should be backfilled, to ensure no work over-load 

impacting BDC staff well-being.  

6. Should staff training be required as part of any new system or project implementation, BDC 

as a purchaser of that system/solution, should ensure that all training requirements are included 

as part of the project specification.  

7. The Agile Working Policy should take account of the need, from time to time, for officers to 

work collaboratively and in line with the needs of the project.  

8. The Council should fully and accurately record action points at project board meetings (and 

potentially, other Council meetings). They should then be implemented by the specific person 

responsible and reported upon at the following project meeting within a suitable and reasonable 

time scale. Where this is not possible, there should be RAG rating to escalate this further, to 

secure a suitable resolution is discussed by the relevant project team.  

9. Officers, as a standard Report, will highlight to Audit, Standards and Governance Committee 

any possible finance and governance issues in the next six months not delivering to standard or 

timescales. This will include the timescales of delivery of finance training, delivery of VAT 

returns, delivery of the 2021/22 and 2022/23 accounts.  

Page 69 Agenda Item 5



REDDITCH BOROUGH COUNCIL 

Executive 25th July 2023 

12 

 

10. The Corporate Risk Register to be discussed as an early item on the agenda at meetings of 

the Audit, Standards and Governance Committee. Any risks are to be clearly flagged to the 

members of the Committee, particularly where they are rated as red. 

 

ERP Recommendations  

 

1. All finance staff and Council users are to be trained as a matter of urgency and no later than 

by 31st August 2023 on how to use the ERP system and that the progress with this is reported 

to the next meeting of the Audit, Standards and Governance Committee as a regular agenda 

item. 2. BDC to work with a specialist with the knowledge of the TechOne system and Cash 

Receipting to help in real time with the completion of the implementation of the new ERP system 

and all of its components and to help with any training needs and improvements to the system.  

3. VAT returns to be up to date for 2020-21 and 2021-2022 by the end of May 2023 and for 

2022-2023 by the end of August 2023.  

4. The 2021-2022 Accounts to be in draft format by 30th June 2023. 5. The 2022-2023 

Accounts to be in draft format by 30th September 2023.  

(All of the above milestones will be dependent on resources and will be reported to the 

Committee as per recommendation 9 above.) 

 

 
 

Page 70 Agenda Item 5



REDDITCH BOROUGH COUNCIL 

Executive 25th July 2023 

1 

 

Approval to Spend Report 

 

Relevant Portfolio Holder  Councillor Luke Court,  
Finance and Enabling Portfolio Holder 

Portfolio Holder Consulted  Yes 

Relevant Head of Service Michelle Howell 

Report Author Job Title: Head of Finance & Customer Services 
email:michelle.howell@bromsgroveandredditch.gov.uk 
Contact Tel: 0152764252 

Wards Affected N/A 

Ward Councillor(s) consulted N/A 

Relevant Strategic Purpose(s) All 

Non-Key Decision 

If you have any questions about this report, please contact the report author in 
advance of the meeting. 

 
 
1. SUMMARY  
 

The purpose of this report is to set out to Executive the key implications of the New 
Procurement Bill which the Council has to comply with from 1st April 2024, and what the 
Council needs to do to meet its obligations.   
 

2. RECOMMENDATIONS 
 

Executive are asked to Recommend to Council that: 
1) On a quarterly basis a “Approval to Spend Report” will be provided to 

Executive which sets out the Council’s Procurement Pipeline for approval to 
be included on the forward plan and an analysis of spending over the past 4 
years.  

o   This report will also identify spending with suppliers over the £200k limit 
to ensure this spending is converted to properly contracted 
expenditure. 

2) That the Council investigate and put in place processes that allow local 
businesses to access Council procurements more easily, following the 
passage of the Procurement Bill.    

3) The Key Decision threshold is raised to £200k.  
4) The “Approval to Spend Report” report also provides a list of all 

procurement between £50k and £200k, which Executive can request further 
detail and subject to additional scrutiny where they see fit.  

5) That items from the initial pipeline report at the appropriate Key Decision 
level, as set out in Appendix C, are added to the forward plan. 

 

 

 

Page 71 Agenda Item 6



REDDITCH BOROUGH COUNCIL 

Executive 25th July 2023 

2 

 

3. KEY ISSUES 
 
 Introduction 
 
3.1 This report sets out the key implications of the new Procurement Bill, which needs to be 

enacted by 1st April 2024.  The Bill brings even more transparency to how Councils 
undertake their business.  The report sets out: 

 the key parts of the new Bill 

 Transparency arrangements already in place at the Council 

 Council procurement governance requirements  

 An analysis of present procurements and comparison of limits against local 
Councils 

 The proposed way forward. 
 
 The Procurement Bill 

 
3.1 The Bill will reform the UK’s public procurement regime, making it quicker, simpler, more 

transparent and better able to meet the UK’s needs while remaining compliant with our 
international obligations 

 
3.2 It will introduce a new regime that is based on value for money, competition and objective 

criteria in decision-making. It will create a simpler and more flexible, commercial system 
that better meets our country’s needs. And it will more effectively open up public 
procurement to new entrants such as small businesses and social enterprises so that 
they can compete for and win more public contracts.     

 
3.3 It will strengthen the approach to excluding suppliers where there is clear evidence of 

their involvement in Modern Slavery practices, and running throughout each part of the 
Bill is the theme of transparency. 

 
3.4  Contracting authorities must have regard to delivering value for money, maximising 

public benefit, transparency and acting with integrity. Integrity must sit at the heart of the 

process. It means there must be good management, prevention of misconduct, and 

control in order to prevent fraud and corruption. The Bill also includes a duty on 

contracting authorities to have regard to the particular barriers facing SMEs, and to 

consider what can be done to overcome them. 

 Key Points within the Bill 

 Undertaking a Procurement  

3.5 The Bill introduces a new procedure for running a competitive tendering process - the 

competitive flexible procedure - ensuring for the very first time that contracting authorities 

can design a competition to best suit the particular needs of their contract and market. 

 Contract Management 

Page 72 Agenda Item 6



REDDITCH BOROUGH COUNCIL 

Executive 25th July 2023 

3 

 

 3.6 The important work on procurement does not stop once a contract has been awarded. 
Part four of the Bill sets out steps that must be taken to manage a contract. This includes 
the strengthening of rules ensuring that suppliers are paid on time and new requirements 
to assess and publish information about how suppliers are performing. 

 
  

Transparency Notices 
 

3.7 The Bill proposes a number of measures to ensure greater transparency to make it easier 

to scrutinise procurement decisions. In particular, contracting authorities will be required 

to publish: 

 a "pipeline notice" where contracting authorities consider that they will spend more 

than £100 million on certain types of procurement in the next financial year; 

 a tender notice at the commencement of the procurement procedure; 

 more detailed information about the evaluation to unsuccessful bidders; 

 a contract award notice before (instead of after) entering into a public contract; 

 information about contracts after they have been concluded; 

 a copy of any public contract with a value exceeding £2 million within 90 days of it 

being entered into; 

 information about payments under public contracts to enable scrutiny by the 

general public; 

 a contract implementation notice to update on performance against KPIs:  

 a contract change notice in advance of implementing amendments; and: 

 a contract termination notice ahead of the expiry or termination of a contract. 
  
 

Measures already in place 
 

3.8 Whist the above may appear daunting, the recent work that the Council has already done 

to put measures in place means that the majority of the requirements under the new Bill 

are already being met with a few changes required for transparency purposes. 

Our existing measure include:  

 No Compliance No Order which was implemented on the TechOne system on the 1st 

April 2023. With this, an order cannot be raised unless it’s linked to a contract or an 

identifiable procurement route. We are 3 months into this process and in the short 

term we will allow orders not linked to contracts as long as the contracting process is 

under way (which is checked/approved by the Procurement Team.  By the end of the 

Page 73 Agenda Item 6



REDDITCH BOROUGH COUNCIL 

Executive 25th July 2023 

4 

 

Calendar year we expect high compliance as contracts will have been set up for all 

significant expenditure.  

 Presently, orders are raised to purchase goods or services on the TechOne system. 

The No Compliance No Order links the orders to contracts as well as the supplier (to 

ensure we are getting best value from our contracts). 

 All new suppliers have to be approved by the procurement and payments teams.  Up 

to September 2022 new suppliers were approved just by the payments teams. The 

new route ensures that we are making the most value of contracting and reducing 

rogue non contract linked expenditure. 

 Monthly spending of over £500 is placed on the Councils Website.  Please use this 

link https://www.redditchbc.gov.uk/council/finance/supplier-payments-over-

%C2%A3500.aspx 

 That the Council has an EPC Card system for small expenditure. Controls are in place 

using these Cards:  

o Maximum monthly expenditure.  

o Individual transaction limits. 

o Merchant Category Group code blocking  

 Each supplier is classified with a Category Group code. Any number of 

these codes can be blocked or left unblocked to ensure compliance with 

business policies. 

 The contracts register is available to Officers, Members and the Public – See 

Appendix C. 

 The Procurement team is available for monthly meetings with HOS and this ensures 

the procurement team has visibility of what service departments are procuring to 

ensure contracts are set up to ensure compliance to the No Compliance No Order 

regime. 

 Procurement training is provided to the teams on request in order for them to 

understand the new and wider procurement requirements.  The procurement team 

recently provided a series of training in September 2022. 

 Monthly Accounts payable training delivered to ensure that those administering 

procurements within Service Departments understand how to use the TechOne 

system to properly code those requisition and orders. 

 There is a dedicated Procurement Teams Page (See Appendix A) for Officers which 

covers:  

o The Procurement Process  

o Award Procedures 

o Frameworks Commonly Used 

o How we Advertise our Contract Information 

o Requests for Training 

o Social Value 

o Glossary of Procurement Terms 

Page 74 Agenda Item 6

https://www.redditchbc.gov.uk/council/finance/supplier-payments-over-%C2%A3500.aspx
https://www.redditchbc.gov.uk/council/finance/supplier-payments-over-%C2%A3500.aspx


REDDITCH BOROUGH COUNCIL 

Executive 25th July 2023 

5 

 

o Template documents  

Council Governance 

3.9 Part 5 of the Constitution sets out the Schemes of Delegation.  The schemes of 
delegation set out what decisions can be delegated to Executive and individual Officers.  
These are set out in Appendix B.     

 
3.10 The Council Constitution sets out that from a financial basis a “key decision” is any item 

that has a combined financial spend (either as a single item or for the length of the 
contract) of £50,000.   

 
3.11 Key decisions need to be on the Council’s forward plan.  Then  

 Executive Decisions are actioned via a Executive Report; 

 Decisions delegated to Officers are actioned via an Officer Decision notice.  

 

This includes Revenue, Capital and S106 allocations. 

 

The Present Council Procurement Pipeline 

 
3.13 The Council’s Procurement Pipeline, which is presently based on the Contracts Register, 

is set out in Appendix C along with the initial “pipeline document”.  The Procurement 

Pipeline provides a forward look of potential contracting opportunities and when existing 

contracts are due to expire.  The initial pipeline document which has been derived from 

the Council’s existing Contracts database. However, as set out in section 3.8 above, this 

is in the process of being built and so departmental procurement officers have been 

asked to update the Pipeline document for any procurements that they have coming up in 

2023 and 2024 that are over £50k for the life of the contract and are not already on the 

contract register. 

3.14 The key task of the pipeline is to allow for proper planning of procurements to ensure 

the Council maximises its contracting opportunities by 

 Alerting Officers and Members to contracts coming to the end of their terms; 

 Reducing the likelihood of duplicating contracts;  

 Ensuring that if decisions are Key that they are on the appropriate Key Decision 

Registers 

3.15 By having an up to date procurement pipeline, and ensuring procurements and the 

associated key decisions are efficiently planned, we will ensure that the Council is 

delivering fully to the new Procurement Bill which becomes a requirement on the 1st April 

2024. 

3.16 The Council, when entering into framework contracts, relies on the governance 

processes of those frameworks to ensure that objectives such as “Social Value” are 

Page 75 Agenda Item 6



REDDITCH BOROUGH COUNCIL 

Executive 25th July 2023 

6 

 

being delivered by prospective suppliers.  However, feedback from local businesses is 

that Council procurement requirements are a barrier for them to bid for work directly. As 

such the Council will investigate ways to encourage local suppliers to be able to bid for 

Council work directly.  A local example of a Council undertaking this approach is 

Wolverhampton.   The Council will accelerate this process as it will ensure ”Council 

Funds” are being invested locally. 

3.17 Assessing the current joint procurement register we have the following levels, by 

spending, of contracts: 

 Contracts Register – taken as at 17th June 

 Over £200k – 44 Contracts 

 £100K to £200k – 32 Contracts 

 £50k to £100k – 36 Contracts 

 £10k to £50k – 94 Contracts 

 Up to £10k – 62 Contracts 

 Capital (Just Redditch) – taken from the present capital programme approved in 

February 2023 

 Over £200k – 13 Schemes 

 £100k to £200 – 6 Schemes 

 £50k to £100k – 2 Scheme 

3.18 It is clear from this data that the present £50k threshold for Key Decisions covers far too 

many projects as many contracts last for multiple years.  The majority of Councils have 

traditionally set the key decision limit at the EU Threshold level of £179k.  Other Councils 

in Worcestershire have the following key decision limits: 

 Wyre Valley - £50,000 

 Worcester City – £164,176 in 2017, suggests not required in present structure 

As a further Comparison we have 

 Birmingham – Capital £1m, Revenue £500k, Chief Officers £200k 

 Solihull - £500k 

 Wolverhampton - £250k 

Proposal 

3.19 Given the above points, it is proposed that:  

 The Key Decision threshold is raised to £200k.  The logic of this is for revenue 

expenditure using GCloud, contract lengths can be up to 4 years.  As such this is the 

Page 76 Agenda Item 6



REDDITCH BOROUGH COUNCIL 

Executive 25th July 2023 

7 

 

existing £50K limit expanded to the full term of revenue contracts. This new threshold 

will apply to all classes of delegated decision. 

 On a quarterly basis a report “the approval to spend report” will be provided to 

Executive which sets out from the Procurement Pipeline those procurements that 

should be talking place over the next year.  This report will be refreshed every quarter 

and can be converted once approved by Executive into the ongoing forward plan. 

 That as part of this report an analysis of spending will be made of the past 3 years to 

identify spends with suppliers over the £200k limit to ensure this spending is 

converted to properly contracted expenditure. 

 The “Approval to Spend” report includes a list of all procurement between £50k-

£200k. 

 That the Council investigate and put in place processes that allow local businesses to 

access Council procurements more easily. 

 

 
4. Legal Implications 
 
4.1 No Legal implications have been identified. 
 
5.  Strategic Purpose Implications  
 
 Relevant Strategic Purpose 
 
5.1 The Strategic purposes are included in the Council’s corporate plan and guides the 

Council’s approach to budget making ensuring we focus on the issues and what are most 
important for the borough and our communities. Our Financial monitoring and strategies 
are integrated within all of our Strategic Purposes. 

  

 
Climate Change Implications 

 
5.2 The green thread runs through the Council plan. Procurements by their nature have 

potential financial implications and these in term can have implications on climate 
change.  These will be addressed and reviewed through individual reports when relevant 
by climate change officers will ensure the correct procedures have been followed to 
ensure any impacts on climate change are fully understood. 

 
6. Other Implications 
 

Customer / Equalities and Diversity Implications  
 
6.1 None as a direct result of this report. 
 
 Operational Implications 
 

Page 77 Agenda Item 6



REDDITCH BOROUGH COUNCIL 

Executive 25th July 2023 

8 

 

6.2  Managers meet with procurement officers to consider their current procurement position 
and to ensure actions are in place to mitigate any expenditure that is not contracted 
properly. 

 
7. RISK MANAGEMENT  
 
7.1 The financial monitoring is included in the corporate risk register for the authority 

 
 

8. APPENDENCES 
 

Appendix A – Dedicated Procurement Team Page 
Appendix B – Bromsgrove Scheme of Delegation 
Appendix C – Forward Pipeline and Contracts Register 

 
AUTHOR OF REPORT 
 
Name:  Pete Carpenter– Interim Director of Finance (S151) 
E Mail: Peter.Carpenter@bromsgroveandredditchbc.gov.uk 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 78 Agenda Item 6

mailto:Peter.Carpenter@bromsgroveandredditchbc.gov.uk


REDDITCH BOROUGH COUNCIL 

Executive 25th July 2023 

9 

 

Appendix A – Dedicated Procurement Teams Page 

 

 

Page 79 Agenda Item 6



REDDITCH BOROUGH COUNCIL 

Executive 25th July 2023 

10 

 

 

 
 

Total value of 

spending (including 

repeat spending on 

the same thing) 

Award procedure 

Written evidence you 

need on file (emails are 

ok) 

Retain 

evidence for 

£0- £3,000 

Order off a Framework* 

 

or 

 

There must be evidence of competitive enquiries being 

undertaken, with details of final selection criteria 

recorded and retained for one year from date of purchase 

(this can be in by email)Good practice is to get three 

quotes. This can be via email with a required response 

date. 

 

Send your final choice to Procurement for logging on 

the Contracts Register & ERP. 

Framework agreement 

 

or 

 

Your enquiries and how 

you decided 

Purchase date 

or contract end 

date plus one 

year 

£3,001 - £25,000 

Order off a Framework* 

 

or 

 

Get at least 3 written quotations and record how you 

decided which supplier to award to, this can be completed 

by email. 

 

Send your final choice to Procurement for logging on the 

Contracts Register & ERP. 

Framework agreement 

 

or 

 

Your quotes and how you 

decided 

Purchase date 

or contract end 

date plus one 

year 

Page 80 Agenda Item 6



REDDITCH BOROUGH COUNCIL 

Executive 25th July 2023 

11 

 

 

Optional: Ask Procurement to advertise the opportunity 

for you! 

£25,001- £50,000 

Order off a Framework* 

 

or 

 

Contact Procurement to advertise an invitation for 

businesses to quote 

 

Send your final choice to Procurement for logging on the 

Contracts Register & ERP. 

Framework agreement 

 

or 

 

All procurement 

documentation 

 

Purchase date 

or contract end 

date plus five 

years 

£50,001 – £177,897.50 

(goods and services) 

or £4,447,447.50 

(works) 

 

Figures exclusive of 

VAT 

Order off a Framework* 

 

or 

 

Contact Procurement to advertise an invitation to 

tender via the Proactis Portal managed by Procurement 

Team. 

 

Send your final choice to Procurement for logging on the 

Contracts Register & ERP. 

Framework agreement 

 

or 

 

All procurement 

documentation 

Purchase date 

or contract end 

date plus five 

years 

Over £177,897.50 

(goods and services) 

or £4,447,447.50 

(works) 

 

Figures exclusive of 

VAT 

Order off a Framework* 

 

or 

 

Contact Procurement to Advertise on 'Find a 

Tender' and via the Proactis Portal managed by 

Procurement Team. 

 

Send your final choice to Procurement for logging on the 

Contracts Register & ERP. 

Framework documentation 

 

or 

 

All procurement 

documentation 

Purchase date 

or contract end 

date plus five 

years 

 
*Where there is no adequate framework (see below) we can establish our own mini-framework of suppliers to meet a 

procurement need. Please ask. 
 

Frameworks we commonly use 
 

Frameworks go to the market so you don't have to. 

They invite suppliers to compete to win business from multiple framework customers (us, and organisations like us). 

This saves time for you, and can mean significantly better prices too, because framework suppliers aren't just 

competing for your business - they're competing for the business of every customer who comes to 

that framework. Frameworks can be a simple, low admin way to procurement compliance. 

Other sector specific frameworks are available, so if you don't see what you need here or these frameworks don't 

have what you need on them, please ask. 

 Yorkshire Purchasing Organisation (YPO) http://www.ypo.co.uk/ 

 ESPO http://www.espo.org/supplier-area/becoming-a-supplier.aspx 

 Crown Commercial Service https://www.gov.uk/government/organisations/crown-commercial-service   

 LHC https://www.lhc.gov.uk/ 

 Fusion 21 https://www.fusion21.co.uk/ 

Page 81 Agenda Item 6

http://www.ypo.co.uk/
http://www.espo.org/supplier-area/becoming-a-supplier.aspx
https://www.gov.uk/government/organisations/crown-commercial-service
https://www.lhc.gov.uk/
https://www.fusion21.co.uk/


REDDITCH BOROUGH COUNCIL 

Executive 25th July 2023 

12 

 

 EEM Ltd http://eem.org.uk/ 

 PFH http://procurementforhousing.co.uk/ 

 NHS SBS Procurement Services - NHS SBS 

 Procure Partnership Procure Partnership Frameworks | Procurement For The Public Sector 

(procurepartnerships.co.uk) 

Here's some more information on what a framework is, from the Crown Commercial Service. 

How we advertise our contract information 

 

We use the Proactis Pro Contract (Due North) platform, and sometimes we use Government platforms too. 

 All our contracts: Proactis Pro Contract (Due North). Users can sign up for alerts. 

 Our lower value contracts but over £25k: HM Government Contracts Finder   

 Our higher value contracts over £177,897.50 (goods and services) or £4,447,447.50 (works): HM 

Government Find a Tender 

We also use Proactis for our contract register, which is a public record of all our contracts. 

Request training 

 
Procurement training is mandatory if you purchase for our councils.  The Procurement team offer regular training 

sessions across the councils, but you can request your own bespoke training at any time by contacting the team. 

We recognise that one size does not fit all! 

Request training anytime by contacting Procurement. Training documents that support the key areas of 

procurement are available in the Files tab of this channel. 

Social Value 
 

Social value in procurement is about making sure that what you buy creates additional benefits for society. To get it 

right, you need to start thinking as early as possible about how to apply it to what you are buying. 

Here's a link to Crown Commercial Service article on Social Value. 

Glossary of Procurement Terms 

 
Running a procurement can involve technical language that can sometimes be a little daunting. We want to 

help you understand some of the common terms and abbreviations you may come across.  

Related documents and files 
 

See the Files tab in this channel. 

Page 82 Agenda Item 6

http://eem.org.uk/
http://procurementforhousing.co.uk/
https://www.sbs.nhs.uk/total-purchasing-solutions
https://procurepartnerships.co.uk/
https://procurepartnerships.co.uk/
https://www.crowncommercial.gov.uk/news/what-is-a-framework-procurement-essentials
https://procontract.due-north.com/Opportunities/
https://www.contractsfinder.service.gov.uk/Search
https://www.find-tender.service.gov.uk/Search
https://www.find-tender.service.gov.uk/Search
https://procontract.due-north.com/ContractsRegister/Index?resetFilter=True&applyFilter=True&p=1bc74770-63ce-e511-810c-000c29c9ba21&v=1
https://www.crowncommercial.gov.uk/news/social-value-procurement-ccs
https://www.crowncommercial.gov.uk/glossary
https://www.crowncommercial.gov.uk/glossary%C2%A0
https://bromsgroveandredditchgovu.sharepoint.com/:f:/s/All.Internal/EpK1Yezs6SlFuvntnAYTxj8Bj082jY7HZO-ww96wl7aYlA?e=xFjgHl


REDDITCH BOROUGH COUNCIL 

Executive 25th July 2023 

13 

 

 
 
Appendix B – Redditch Scheme of Delegation 
 
Link to the Council’s Scheme of Delegation 
 
https://moderngovwebpublic.redditchbc.gov.uk/documents/s48093/05.1%20Delegations%20Intr
o%20and%20Index%20May%202023.pdf 
 
 
 
Appendix C – Contracts Register and Forward Pipeline 
 
Link to the Council’s Contracts Register 
 

Contracts register (due-north.com) 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Forward Pipeline – Redditch Specific – over £200k 

 
 

Page 83 Agenda Item 6

https://procontract.due-north.com/ContractsRegister/Index?resetFilter=True&applyFilter=True&p=1bc74770-63ce-e511-810c-000c29c9ba21&v=1


REDDITCH BOROUGH COUNCIL 

Executive 25th July 2023 

14 

 

Redditch Capital Pipeline 
Towns Fund Projects 
UKSPF 
Car Parks Maintenance 
Footpaths Maintenance 
Disabled Facilities Grant 
Improved Parking (Localities) 
Public Buildings 
Fleet Replacement 
Arrow Park – 5 Weirs Scheme 
Server Replacement Programme 
Laptop Replacement Programme 
Ipsley Church Lance Cemetery 
Fire Compentalisation Work in Corporate Buildings 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 84 Agenda Item 6



REDDITCH BOROUGH COUNCIL 

Executive 25th July 2023 

1 

 

Draft Treasury Management Outturn Report 2022/23 

 

Relevant Portfolio Holder  Councillor Luke Court,  
Finance and Enabling Portfolio Holder 

Portfolio Holder Consulted  Yes 

Relevant Head of Service Michelle Howell 

Report Author Job Title: Head of Finance & Customer Services 
email:michelle.howell@bromsgroveandredditch.gov.uk 
Contact Tel: 0152764252 

Wards Affected N/A 

Ward Councillor(s) consulted N/A 

Relevant Strategic Purpose(s) All 

Non-Key Decision 

If you have any questions about this report, please contact the report author in 
advance of the meeting. 

 
 
1. SUMMARY  
 

This report for 2022/23 presents the draft outturn position on the Council’s Capital and 
Treasury Management Strategies, including all prudential indicators.  There is the 
requirement for progress to reported through Executive to Council.   
 

2. RECOMMENDATIONS 
 

Executive are asked to Recommend to Council that: 

 Council note the Treasury Outturn position for 2022/23.   

3. KEY ISSUES 
 
 Introduction 
 
3.1 In June 2022 the Authority adopted the Chartered Institute of Public Finance and 

Accountancy’s Treasury Management in the Public Services: Code of Practice (the 

CIPFA Code) which requires the Authority to approve treasury management semi-annual 

and annual reports.  

3.2 The Authority’s treasury management strategy for 2022/23 was approved at a meeting on 

27th June 2022. The Authority has invested substantial sums of money and is therefore 

exposed to financial risks including the loss of invested funds and the revenue effect of 

changing interest rates. The successful identification, monitoring and control of risk 

remains central to the Authority’s treasury management strategy. 

 

3.3 The 2021 Prudential Code includes a requirement for local authorities to provide a Capital 

Strategy, a summary document approved by full Council covering capital expenditure and 

Page 85 Agenda Item 7



REDDITCH BOROUGH COUNCIL 

Executive 25th July 2023 

2 

 

financing, treasury management and non-treasury investments. The Authority’s Capital 

Strategy, complying with CIPFA’s requirement, was approved by full Council on 27th June 

2022. 

 

 External Context 

3.4 Economic background: The war in Ukraine continued to keep global inflation above 

central bank targets and the UK economic outlook remained relatively weak with the 

chance of a mild recession. The economic backdrop during the January to March period 

continued to be characterised by high energy and commodity prices, high inflation, and the 

associated impact on household budgets and spending.  

 

3.5 Central Bank rhetoric and actions remained consistent with combatting inflation. The Bank 

of England, US Federal Reserve, and European Central Bank all increased interest rates 

over the period, even in the face of potential economic slowdowns in those regions. 

 

3.6 Starting the financial year at 5.5%, the annual CPI measure of UK inflation rose strongly to 

hit 10.1% in July and then 11.1% in October. Inflation remained high in subsequent months 

but appeared to be past the peak, before unexpectedly rising again in February. Annual 

headline CPI registered 10.4% in February, up from 10.1% in January, with the largest 

upward contributions coming from food and housing. RPI followed a similar pattern during 

the year, hitting 14.2% in October. In February RPI measured 13.8%, up from 13.4% in the 

previous month. 

 

3.7 Following the decision by the UK government under Rishi Sunak and Jeremy Hunt to 

reverse some of the support to household energy bills announced under Liz Truss, further 

support in the form of a cap on what energy suppliers could charge household was 

announced in the March Budget to run from April until end June 2023. Before the 

announcement, typical household bills had been due to rise to £3,000 a year from April. 

 

3.8 The labour market remained tight albeit with some ongoing evidence of potential loosening 

at the end of the period. The unemployment rate 3mth/year eased from 3.8% April-June to 

3.6% in the following quarter, before picking up again to 3.7% between October-December. 

The most recent information for the period December-February showed an unemployment 

rate of 3.7%.  

 

3.9 The inactivity rate was 21.3% in the December-February quarter, slightly down from the 

21.4% in the first quarter of the financial year. Nominal earnings were robust throughout 

the year, with earnings growth in December-February at as 5.7% for both total pay 

(including bonuses) and 6.5% for regular pay. Once adjusted for inflation, however, both 

measures were negative for that period and have been so throughout most of the year. 

Page 86 Agenda Item 7



REDDITCH BOROUGH COUNCIL 

Executive 25th July 2023 

3 

 

 

3.10 Despite household budgets remaining under pressure, consumer confidence rose to -36 

in March, following readings of -38 and -45 in the previous two months, and much improved 

compared to the record-low of -49 in September. Quarterly GDP was soft through the year, 

registering a 0.1% gain in the April-June period, before contracting by (an upwardly 

revised) -0.1% in the subsequent quarter. For the October-December period was revised 

upwards to 0.1% (from 0.0%), illustrating a resilient but weak economic picture. The annual 

growth rate in Q4 was 0.6%. 

 

3.11 The Bank of England increased the official Bank Rate to 4.25% during the financial year. 

From 0.75% in March 2022, the Monetary Policy Committee (MPC) pushed through rises 

at every subsequent meeting over the period, with recent hikes of 50bps in December and 

February and then 25bps in March, taking Bank Rate to 4.25%. March’s rise was voted by 

a majority of 7-2, with two MPC members preferring to maintain Bank Rate at 4.0%. The 

Committee noted that inflationary pressures remain elevated with growth stronger than 

was expected in the February Monetary Policy Report. The February vote was also 7-2 in 

favour of a hike, and again with two members preferring to keep Bank Rate on hold. 

 

3.12 After reaching 9.1% in June, annual US inflation slowed for eight consecutive months to 

6% in February. The Federal Reserve continued raising interest rates over the period with 

consecutive increases at each Federal Open Market Committee meetings, taking policy 

rates to a range of 4.75%- 5.00% at the March meeting. 

 

3.13 From the record-high of 10.6% in October, Eurozone CPI inflation fell steadily to 6.9% in 

March 2023. Energy prices fell, but upward pressure came from food, alcohol, and tobacco. 

The European Central Bank continued increasing interest rates over the period, pushing 

rates up by 0.50% in March, taking the deposit facility rate to 3.0% and the main refinancing 

rate to 3.5%. 

3.14 Financial markets: Uncertainty continued to be a key driver of financial market sentiment 

and bond yields remained relatively volatile due to concerns over elevated inflation and 

higher interest rates, as well as the likelihood of the UK entering a recession and for how 

long the Bank of England would continue to tighten monetary policy. Towards the end of 

the period, fears around the health of the banking system following the collapse of Silicon 

Valley Bank in the US and purchase of Credit Suisse by UBS caused further volatility. 

3.15 Over the period the 5-year UK benchmark gilt yield rose from 1.41% to peak at 4.70% in 

September before ending the financial year at 3.36%. Over the same timeframe the 10-

year gilt yield rose from 1.61% to peak at 4.51% before falling back to 3.49%, while the 20-

year yield rose from 1.82% to 4.96% and then declined to 3.82%. The Sterling Overnight 

Rate (SONIA) averaged 2.24% over the period. 

Page 87 Agenda Item 7



REDDITCH BOROUGH COUNCIL 

Executive 25th July 2023 

4 

 

3.16 Credit review: Early in the period, Moody’s affirmed the long-term rating of Guildford BC 

but revised the outlook to negative. The agency also downgraded Warrington BC and 

Transport for London. 

3.17 In July Fitch revised the outlook on Standard Chartered and Bank of Nova Scotia from 

negative to stable and in the same month Moody’s revised the outlook on Bayerische 

Landesbank to positive. In September S&P revised the outlook on the Greater London 

Authority to stable from negative and Fitch revised the outlook on HSBC to stable from 

negative.  

3.18 The following month Fitch revised the outlook on the UK sovereign to negative from stable. 

Moody’s made the same revision to the UK sovereign, following swiftly after with a similar 

move for a number of local authorities and UK banks including Barclays Bank, National 

Westminster Bank (and related entities) and Santander. 

3.19 During the last few months of the reporting period there were only a handful of credit 

changes by the rating agencies, then in March the collapse of Silicon Valley Bank (SVB) 

in the US quickly spilled over into worries of a wider banking crisis as Credit Suisse 

encountered further problems and was bought by UBS. 

3.20 Credit Default Prices had been rising since the start of the period on the back of the 

invasion of Ukraine, and in the UK rose further in September/October at the time of the 

then-government’s mini budget. After this, CDS prices had been falling, but the fallout from 

SVB caused a spike on the back of the heightened uncertainty. However, they had 

moderated somewhat by the end of the period as fears of contagion subsided, but many 

are still above their pre-March levels reflecting that some uncertainty remains. 

 

3.21 On the back of this, Arlingclose reduced its recommended maximum duration limit for 

unsecured deposits for all UK and Non-UK banks/institutions on its counterparty list to 35 

days as a precautionary measure. No changes were made to the names on the list. 

 

3.22 As market volatility is expected to remain a feature, at least in the near term and, as ever, 

the institutions and durations on the Authority’s counterparty list recommended by 

Arlingclose remains under constant review. 

 

3.23 Local authorities remain under financial pressure, but Arlingclose continues to take a 

positive view of the sector, considering its credit strength to be high. Section 114 notices 

have been issued by only a handful of authorities with specific issues. While Arlingclose’s 

advice for local authorities on its counterparty list remains unchanged, a degree caution is 

merited with certain authorities. 

Page 88 Agenda Item 7



REDDITCH BOROUGH COUNCIL 

Executive 25th July 2023 

5 

 

 Local Context 

3.24 On 31st March 2023, the Authority had net borrowing of £93.3m arising from its revenue 

and capital income and expenditure. The underlying need to borrow for capital purposes 

is measured by the Capital Financing Requirement (CFR), while usable reserves and 

working capital are the underlying resources available for investment. These factors are 

summarised in Table 1 below. 

Table 1: Balance Sheet Summary 

 

31.3.23 

Actual 

£m 

Draft total CFR 149.2 

Less:  

External borrowing (103.9) 

Internal borrowing 45.3 

   Less: Draft Usable reserves/working capital (48.0) 

Net Borrowing 93.3 

* Figures are draft as still to close 20/21 and 21/22 Statements of accounts which impact 

opening 2022/23 opening balances 

 

3.25 The Authority pursued its strategy of keeping borrowing and investments below their 

underlying levels, sometimes known as internal borrowing, in order to reduce risk and keep 

interest costs low. 

3.26 The treasury management position at 31st March 2023 and the change during the year is 

shown in Table 2 below. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 89 Agenda Item 7



REDDITCH BOROUGH COUNCIL 

Executive 25th July 2023 

6 

 

Table 2: Treasury Management Summary 

 

31.3.22 

Balance 

£m 

Movement 

£m 

31.3.23 

Balance 

£m 

31.3.23 

Rate 

% 

Long-term borrowing 

Short-term borrowing  

103.9 

0 

0 

0 

103.9 

0 

3.42% 

0 

Total borrowing 103.9 0 103.9  

Long-term investments 

Short-term investments 

Cash and cash equivalents 

0 

34.0 

0 

0 

(23.4) 

0 

0 

10.6 

0 

0 

4.52% 

0 

Total investments 34.0 (23.4) 10.6  

Net Borrowing 69.9 (23.4) 93.3  

 

Borrowing Update 

3.27 CIPFA’s 2021 Prudential Code is clear that local authorities must not borrow to invest 

primarily for financial return and that it is not prudent for local authorities to make any 

investment or spending decision that will increase the capital financing requirement, and 

so may lead to new borrowing, unless directly and primarily related to the functions of the 

Authority. PWLB loans are no longer available to local authorities planning to buy 

investment assets primarily for yield unless these loans are for refinancing purposes. 

 

3.28 The Authority has is reviewed its capital programme in light of changes to the CIPFA 

Prudential Code and PWLB lending arrangements to ensure that borrowing to invest 

primarily for commercial return is no longer undertaken.  

 

Borrowing Strategy and Activity 

 

3.29 As outlined in the treasury strategy, the Authority’s chief objective when borrowing has 

been to strike an appropriately low risk balance between securing lower interest costs and 

achieving cost certainty over the period for which funds are required, with flexibility to 

renegotiate loans should the Authority’s long-term plans change being a secondary 

objective. The Authority’s borrowing strategy continues to address the key issue of 

affordability without compromising the longer-term stability of the debt portfolio and, where 

Page 90 Agenda Item 7



REDDITCH BOROUGH COUNCIL 

Executive 25th July 2023 

7 

 

practicable, to maintain borrowing and investments below their underlying levels, 

sometimes known as internal borrowing. 

 

3.30 The cost of both long and short-term borrowing rose dramatically over the year, with rates 

at the end of March around 2% - 4% higher than those at the beginning of April. Rate rises 

have been driven primarily by inflation and the need for central banks to control this by 

raising interest rates. Particularly dramatic rises were seen in September after Liz Truss’ 

‘mini-budget’ included unfunded tax cuts and additional borrowing to fund consumer 

energy price subsidies: over a twenty-four-hour period some PWLB rates increased to 6%. 

Rates have now fallen from September peaks but remain volatile and well above recent 

historical norms. The PWLB 10 year maturity certainty rate stood at 4.33% at 31st March 

2023, 20 years at 4.70% and 30 years at 4.66%.  

 

3.31 A new HRA PWLB rate of gilt yield plus 0.4% (0.4% below the currently available certainty 

rate) was announced on 15th March 2023. This discounted rate is to support local 

authorities borrowing for Housing Revenue Accounts and the delivery of social housing 

and is expected to be available from June 2023, initially for a period of one year. 

 

3.32 At 31st March 2023 the Authority held £103.9m of loans, the same as at the 31st March 

2022, as part of its strategy for funding previous and current years’ capital programmes. 

Outstanding loans on 31st March are summarised in Table 3 below. 

 

Table 3A: Borrowing Position 

 

31.3.22 

Balance 

£m 

Net 

Movement 

£m 

31.3.23 

Balance 

£m 

31.3.23 

Weighted 

Average 

Rate 

% 

31.3.23 

Weighted 

Average 

Maturity 

(years) 

Page 91 Agenda Item 7



REDDITCH BOROUGH COUNCIL 

Executive 25th July 2023 

8 

 

Public Works Loan 

Board 

Banks (LOBO) 

Banks (fixed-term) 

Local authorities 

(long-term) 

Local authorities 

(short-term) 

98.9 

0 

5.0 

 

0 

0 

0 

0 

0 

 

0 

0 

98.9 

0 

5.0 

 

0 

0 

3.35% 

0 

4.71% 

 

0 

0 

12.2 

0 

9 

 

0 

0 

Total borrowing 103.9 0 103.9 3.42% 12 

 

 

Table 3B: Long-dated Loans borrowed 

 
Amount 

£m 

Rate  

% 

Period  

(Years) 

PWLB Maturity Loan 1 

PWLB Maturity Loan 2  

PWLB Maturity Loan 3 

PWLB Maturity Loan 4 

Commercial Loan 1 

15.0 

25.0 

40.0 

18.9 

5.0 

3.01 

3.30 

3.44 

3.50 

4.71 

15 

20 

25 

30 

25 

Total borrowing 103.9   

 

3.33 The Authority’s borrowing decisions are not predicated on any one outcome for interest 

rates and a balanced portfolio of short- and long-term borrowing was maintained.  

Treasury Investment Activity  

3.34 CIPFA published a revised Treasury Management in the Public Services Code of Practice 

and Cross-Sectoral Guidance Notes on 20th December 2021. These define treasury 

management investments as investments that arise from the organisation’s cash flows or 

treasury risk management activity that ultimately represents balances that need to be 

invested until the cash is required for use in the course of business. 

 

3.35 The Authority holds significant invested funds, representing income received in advance 

of expenditure plus balances and reserves held. During the year, the Authority’s investment 

balances ranged between £34 million and £10.6 million due to timing differences between 

income and expenditure. The investment position is shown in table 4 below. 

Page 92 Agenda Item 7



REDDITCH BOROUGH COUNCIL 

Executive 25th July 2023 

9 

 

 

Table 4: Treasury Investment Position 

 

31.3.22 

Balance 

£m 

Net  

Movement 

£m 

31.3.23 

Balance 

£m 

31.3.23 

Income 

Return 

% 

31.3.23 

Weighted 

Average 

Maturity 

days 

Banks & building societies 

(unsecured) 

Covered bonds (secured) 

Government (incl. local 

authorities) 

Corporate bonds and loans 

Money Market Funds 

Other Pooled Funds Real 

Estate Investment Trusts 

0 

0 

26.0 

 

0 

8.0 

0 

0 

0 

(20.3) 

 

0 

(3.1) 

0 

 

0 

0 

5.7 

 

0 

4.9 

0 

 

 

0 

0 

4.52 

 

0 

3.99 

0 

 

 

0 

0 

30.7 

 

0 

29.7 

0 

 

Total investments 34.0 (23.4) 10.6   

 

 

3.36 Both the CIPFA Code and government guidance require the Authority to invest its funds 

prudently, and to have regard to the security and liquidity of its treasury investments before 

seeking the optimum rate of return, or yield.  The Authority’s objective when investing 

money is to strike an appropriate balance between risk and return, minimising the risk of 

incurring losses from defaults and the risk of receiving unsuitably low investment income. 

 

3.37 Bank Rate has increased from 0.75% at the beginning of the year to 4.25% at the end of 

March 2023. Short-dated cash rates, which had ranged between 0.7% - 1.5% at the 

beginning of April, rose by around 3.5% for overnight/7-day maturities and 3.3% for 6-12 

month maturities. 

 

3.38 By end March 2023, the rates on DMADF deposits ranged between 4.05% and 4.15%. 

The return on the Council’s sterling Low Volatility Net Asset Value (LVNAV) Money Market 

Funds ranged between 0.61% p.a. in early April and 3.99% at the end of March. 

 

Page 93 Agenda Item 7



REDDITCH BOROUGH COUNCIL 

Executive 25th July 2023 

10 

 

3.39 Externally Managed Pooled Funds: The Authority currently does not invest in any of 

these vehicles. 

 

3.40 The change in the Authority’s funds’ capital values and income earned over the 12-month 

period is shown in Table 4. 

  

3.41 Because these funds have no defined maturity date, but are available for withdrawal after 

a notice period, their performance and continued suitability in meeting the Authority’s 

medium- to long-term investment objectives are regularly reviewed. Strategic fund 

investments are made in the knowledge that capital values will move both up and down on 

months, quarters and even years; but with the confidence that over a three- to five-year 

period total returns should exceed cash interest rates.  

 

3.42 The Authority had budgeted £1,296,000 income from these investments in 2022/23. 

Income received was £1,121,000, whist a further £10,000 has been declared and is due 

to be paid by April/May.  

3.43 The DLUHC published a consultation on the IFRS 9 pooled investment fund statutory 

override for English authorities for fair value gains and losses on pooled investment funds 

which was due to expire with effect from 2023/24. The options under evaluation were to 

allow the override to lapse, to extend it, or to make it permanent. The override will be 

extended for two years and therefore remain in place for the 2023/24 and 2024/25 financial 

years. Under the Regulations, gains and losses resulting from unrealised fair value 

movements relating to treasury pooled investment funds, that otherwise must be 

recognised in profit or loss under IFRS 9, are not charges to the revenue account, and 

must be taken into an unusable reserve account. 

 

Non-Treasury Investments 

3.44 The definition of investments in CIPFA’s revised 2021 Treasury Management Code covers 

all the financial assets of the Authority as well as other non-financial assets which the 

Authority holds primarily for financial return. Investments that do not meet the definition of 

treasury management investments (i.e. management of surplus cash) are categorised as 

either for service purposes (made explicitly to further service objectives) and or for 

commercial purposes (made primarily for financial return). 

3.45 Investment Guidance issued by the Department for Levelling Up Housing and 

Communities (DLUHC) and Welsh Government also broadens the definition of 

investments to include all such assets held partially or wholly for financial return.  

3.46 The Authority also held £0.9m of such investments in  

Page 94 Agenda Item 7



REDDITCH BOROUGH COUNCIL 

Executive 25th July 2023 

11 

 

 Office complex in Oak Tree Park in 2019 held for regenerative purposes but with a 

commercial return – total value of investment is £0.9m. 

 

3.47 The Authority held £0m of investments made for commercial purposes. 

3.48 Fully let these investments will generate £76k of investment income for the Authority. 

Treasury Performance  

3.49 The Authority measures the financial performance of its treasury management activities 

both in terms of its impact on the revenue budget and its relationship to benchmark interest 

rates, as shown in table 6 below. 

Table 6: Performance 

 
Actual 

£m 

Budget 

£m 

Over/ 

Under 

£m 

Actual 

% 

PWLB Debt – HRA 98.9    

Bank Loan – HRA 5.0    

Total borrowing 103.9    

PFI and Finance 

leases 
0    

Total debt 103.0 130.5 (27.5) 78.9% 

Other Local 

Authorities 
5.7    

Money Market 

Funds 
4.9    

Total treasury 

investments 
10.6 12.4 (1.8) 85.5% 

 

Compliance  

3.50 The Interim Director of Finance reports that all treasury management activities undertaken 

during the year complied fully with the CIPFA Code of Practice and the Authority’s 

approved Treasury Management Strategy apart from the movement up of the Councils 

Page 95 Agenda Item 7



REDDITCH BOROUGH COUNCIL 

Executive 25th July 2023 

12 

 

operational limit for its bank which increased to £2m. Compliance with specific investment 

limits is demonstrated in table 7 below. 

3.51 Compliance with the authorised limit and operational boundary for external debt is 

demonstrated in table 7 below. 

Table 7: Debt Limits 

 
2022/23 

Maximum 

31.3.23 

Actual 

2022/23 

Operational 

Boundary 

2022/23 

Authorised 

Limit 

Complied? 

Yes/No 

Borrowing 103.9 103.9 165.0 175.0 Yes 

PFI and Finance 

Leases 
0 0 1.5 1.5 Yes 

Total debt 103.9 103.9 166.5 176.5 Yes 

 

3.52 Since the operational boundary is a management tool for in-year monitoring it is not 

significant if the operational boundary is breached on occasions due to variations in cash 

flow, and this is not counted as a compliance failure. 

Table 8: Investment Limits 

 
2022/23 

Maximum 

31.3.23 

Actual 

2022/23 

Limit 

Complied? 

Yes/No 

Any single organisation, except the 

UK Government 
£3.8m £3.8m 

£5m 

each 
Yes 

Any group of organisations under the 

same ownership 0 0 unlimited Yes 

Any group of pooled funds under the 

same management 0 0 
£5m per 

group 
Yes 

Negotiable instruments held in a 

broker’s nominee account 0 0 
£5m per 

manager 
Yes 

Limit per non-UK country  0 0 
£5m per 

country 
Yes 

Registered providers and registered 

social landlords 0 0 
£2.5m in 

total 
Yes 

Page 96 Agenda Item 7



REDDITCH BOROUGH COUNCIL 

Executive 25th July 2023 

13 

 

Unsecured investments with building 

societies 0 0 
£2.5m in 

total 
Yes 

Loans to unrated corporates 0 0 
£1m in 

total 
Yes 

Money Market Funds £11m £4.9m 
£20m in 

total 
Yes 

Real Estate Investment Trusts 0 0 
£2.5m in 

total 

Yes 

 

 

Treasury Management Indicators 

3.53 The Authority measures and manages its exposures to treasury management risks using 

the following indicators. 

3.54 Security: The Authority has adopted a voluntary measure of its exposure to credit risk by 

monitoring the value-weighted average credit rating of its investment portfolio. This is 

calculated by applying a score to each investment (AAA=1, AA+=2, etc.) and taking the 

arithmetic average, weighted by the size of each investment. Unrated investments are 

assigned a score based on their perceived risk. 

 

 
31.3.23 

Actual 

2022/23 

Target 
Complied? 

Portfolio average credit rating AAA A Yes 

 

3.55 Liquidity: The Authority has adopted a voluntary measure of its exposure to liquidity risk 

by monitoring the amount available to meet unexpected payments within a rolling three-

month period, without additional borrowing. 

 
31.3.23 

Actual 

2022/23 

Target 
Complied? 

Total cash available within [3] months £4.9m £2.5m Yes 

Total sum borrowed in past [3] months 

without prior notice 
0 0 Yes 

 

Page 97 Agenda Item 7



REDDITCH BOROUGH COUNCIL 

Executive 25th July 2023 

14 

 

3.56 Interest Rate Exposures: This indicator is set to control the Authority’s exposure to 

interest rate risk. The upper limits on the one-year revenue impact of a 1% rise or fall in 

interest was:  

Interest rate risk indicator 
31.3.23 

Actual 

2022/23 

Limit 
Complied? 

Upper limit on one-year revenue impact 

of a 1% rise in interest rates 
0 500,000 Yes 

Upper limit on one-year revenue impact 

of a 1% fall in interest rates 
0 500,000 Yes 

 

3.57 The impact of a change in interest rates is calculated on the assumption that maturing 

loans and investment will be replaced at current rates. 

3.58 Maturity Structure of Borrowing: This indicator is set to control the Authority’s exposure 

to refinancing risk. The upper and lower limits on the maturity structure of all borrowing 

were: 

 
31.3.23 

Actual 

Upper 

Limit 

Lower 

Limit 
Complied? 

Under 12 months 0% 50% 0% Yes 

12 months and within 24 

months 
0% 50% 0% Yes 

24 months and within 5 years 14.4% 50% 0% Yes 

5 years and within 10 years 28.9% 50% 0% Yes 

10 years and above  56.7% 100% 0% Yes 

 

Time periods start on the first day of each financial year. The maturity date of borrowing is 

the earliest date on which the lender can demand repayment.  

 

3.59 Principal Sums Invested for Periods Longer than a year: The purpose of this indicator 

is to control the Authority’s exposure to the risk of incurring losses by seeking early 

repayment of its investments. The limits on the long-term principal sum invested to final 

maturities beyond the period end were: 

Page 98 Agenda Item 7



REDDITCH BOROUGH COUNCIL 

Executive 25th July 2023 

15 

 

 2022/23 2023/24 2024/25 

Actual principal invested beyond year 

end 
£5.7m 0 0 

Limit on principal invested beyond year 

end 
£1.5m £1.0m £0.5m 

Complied? No Yes Yes 

 
 
4. Legal Implications 
 
4.1 No Legal implications have been identified. 
 
5.  Strategic Purpose Implications  
 
 Relevant Strategic Purpose 
 
5.1 The Strategic purposes are included in the Council’s corporate plan and guides the 

Council’s approach to budget making ensuring we focus on the issues and what are most 
important for the borough and our communities. Our Financial monitoring and strategies 
are integrated within all of our Strategic Purposes. 

  

 
Climate Change Implications 

 
5.2 The green thread runs through the Council plan. Procurements by their nature have 

potential financial implications and these in term can have implications on climate 
change.  These will be addressed and reviewed through individual reports when relevant 
by climate change officers will ensure the correct procedures have been followed to 
ensure any impacts on climate change are fully understood. 

 
6. Other Implications 
 

Customer / Equalities and Diversity Implications  
 
6.1 None as a direct result of this report. 
 
 Operational Implications 
 
6.2  None as a direct result of this report, service requirements which form the Capital 

Programme are the base data for this report. 
 
7. RISK MANAGEMENT  
 
7.1 The financial monitoring is included in the corporate risk register for the authority. 

Page 99 Agenda Item 7



REDDITCH BOROUGH COUNCIL 

Executive 25th July 2023 

16 

 

 
 

8. APPENDENCES 
 

 
 
AUTHOR OF REPORT 
 
Name:  Pete Carpenter– Interim Director of Finance (S151) 
E Mail: Peter.Carpenter@bromsgroveandredditchbc.gov.uk 
 
 
 
 

Page 100 Agenda Item 7

mailto:Peter.Carpenter@bromsgroveandredditchbc.gov.uk


 

 
 

Overview and 

Scrutiny 
Committee 

  

 

Thursday, 8th June, 2023 

 

 

 Chair 
 

 

 

MINUTES Present: 

  
Councillor Sid Khan (Chair), Councillor Sharon Harvey (Vice-Chair) and 
Councillors Imran Altaf, Joanna Kane, Emma Marshall, Jane Spilsbury 
and Monica Stringfellow 
 

 Also Present: 
 

 Councillor Matthew Dormer – Leader of the Council and Portfolio Holder 
for Planning, Economic Development, Commercialism and Partnerships 
 

 Officers: 
 

 Sue Hanley, Peter Carpenter (on Microsoft Teams), Claire Felton (on 
Microsoft Teams), and Deb Poole (on Microsoft Teams). 
 

 Democratic Services Officers: 
 

 Mat Sliwinski 

 
 

1. APOLOGIES AND NAMED SUBSTITUTES  
 
Apologies for absence were received from Councillors Ashley and 
Holz. 
 

2. DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST AND OF PARTY WHIP  
 
Councillor Marshall declared that she was a member of the 
Executive Committee at the time Section 24 Notice was issued to 
Redditch Borough Council. It was noted that the nature of the 
interest declared did not preclude Councillor Marshall from full 
participation in the discussion, and voting on, any of the items on 
the meeting’s agenda. 
 
There were no other declarations of interest or of party whip. 
 

3. MINUTES  
 
The minutes of the meetings held on 23rd February and 16th March 
2023 were submitted for Members’ consideration. 
 

Page 101 Agenda Item 8



   

Overview and 

Scrutiny 
Committee 

 
 

Thursday, 8th June, 2023 

 

RESOLVED that 
 
the Minutes of the Overview and Scrutiny Committee meetings 
held on 23rd February and 16th March 2023 be approved as a 
true record and signed by the Chair. 
 

4. PUBLIC SPEAKING  
 
There were no registered public speakers on this occasion. 
 

5. CORPORATE PEER CHALLENGE - ACTION PLAN - PRE-
DECISION SCRUTINY  
 
The Deputy Chief Executive Officer provided an overview of the 
report on Corporate Peer Challenge – Action Plan and in doing so 
explained what happened during the Peer Review Challenge visit 
that took place at the Council between 7th and 10th March 2023 and 
presented the feedback report from the Local Government 
Association (LGA) Peer Review team on the Peer Review visit. This 
feedback included six key recommendations for the Council, which 
were as follows: 
 

1. The council needs to review its strategic priorities and realign 
resources accordingly. 

2. The organisation should consider a governance review to 
improve decision-making. 

3. Embed the 2022-2026 Workforce Strategy and develop an 
action plan which needs to be implemented at pace. 

4. Agile working principles and policies need to be implemented 
consistently. 

5. Ensure the Section 24 Notice and Interim Annual Audit 
Report recommendations are fully implemented. 

6. Use engagement, shared values, and improved processes to 
create a positive democratic culture. 

 
It was explained that Appendix B to the main report provided the 
Council’s response and action plan against each of the six key 
recommendations. These responses had been submitted for the 
Executive Committee to consider alongside supporting action plans 
included at Appendices C to G. 
 
It was reiterated that Members views were particularly sought as to 
what, if anything, else the Council should do to address 
Recommendations 2 and 6 
(Appendix D). 
 

Page 102 Agenda Item 8



   

Overview and 

Scrutiny 
Committee 

 
 

Thursday, 8th June, 2023 

 

Following the main presentation, Members had the opportunity to 
make comments and question the Officers in attendance. The 
following comments and suggestions were made by Members, and 
responses provided by Officers: 
 

 It was reiterated that residents, elected members, local 
partners from public and private sectors, and members of 
staff all had the opportunity to take part in the peer review. 
There were resident, elected member, and staff focus groups 
to facilitate participation from these groups. In total, the peer 
team gathered information and views from around 55 
meetings and spoke to over 130 people over the course of 
the peer review for Redditch and Bromsgrove Councils. 

 It was raised by some Members that consideration should be 
given to altering the dates of Overview and Scrutiny 
meetings so that they aligned better with dates of Executive 
Committee meetings, thereby enabling Members of 
Overview and Scrutiny to have maximum possible time 
period to access Executive Committee papers that had been 
chosen for pre-scrutiny. 

 It was explained that for the purposes of the Council agile 
working was defined as the ability of staff to work from 
different locations, and that as part of the strategy indicators 
to monitor customer/resident experience were being 
developed. Progress on this would be reported to Council on 
a quarterly basis. 

 With regards to procuring external support to implement the 
six key recommendations, it was explained that support from 
LGA was available, and the Council already paid a 
subscription so there would be no additional cost implication. 
A support could also be sought, if required, from the Centre 
for Governance and Scrutiny (CfGS), and based on 
anecdotal evidence from other authorities, the cost 
implication would be up to, but no more than, £10,000. 

 
It was proposed by Councillor Spilsbury, and agreed by the 
Committee, that each key recommendation would be discussed and 
voted on in turn.  
 
With regards to recommendation 1, Councillor Kane proposed, 
seconded by Councillor Spilsbury, that the additional action be 
inserted as an addendum to the action plan (at Appendix B) for 
recommendation 1 as follows: 
 
“to produce a new engagement plan so that residents have the 
opportunity to shape new Council policies at the development 
stage. The plan should be co-produced with residents ensuring a 

Page 103 Agenda Item 8



   

Overview and 

Scrutiny 
Committee 

 
 

Thursday, 8th June, 2023 

 

broad selection of people with no political bias are involved in 
producing the plan.” 
 
During the discussion, it was highlighted that residents had the 
opportunity to engage with the Council through the Community 
Panel, with around 800 residents signed up. These residents were 
volunteers who agreed to be contacted by the Council at any time 
for taking part in surveys and similar engagement activity. It was 
also highlighted that most Council surveys were open to all 
residents but those signed up received direct notifications.  
 
For surveys undertaken by the Council, it was reported that these 
were usually advertised for residents to take part online. Hard 
copies were nevertheless provided at Town Hall reception and, 
residents could request that a paper copy of a survey questionnaire 
be sent to them through the post. Social media channels were also 
utilised in order to engage younger demographic.  
 
Whilst some Members opined that 800 residents engaged in 
Community Panel represented a significant part of the community 
that was directly engaged with Council activity, other Members 
noted that the LGA Corporate Peer Challenge feedback report 
clearly highlighted a room for improvement in the Council’s 
engagement with the public and that the Council should be 
ambitious in terms of its public engagement aims. It was also 
highlighted that engaging with residents through surveys was often 
not the most effective way of understanding the real concerns of 
residents and that the Council should consider more focus group 
and discussion type activities with residents. 
 
Following the discussion, the proposed addition to recommendation 
1 was put to the vote, and it was agreed that the Executive 
Committee be asked to add this addendum outlined above to the 
action plan for recommendation 1. 
 
With regards to recommendation 2, a proposal was put forward by 
Councillor Marshall that the Council might consider creating a 
member advisory group or cabinet/executive advisor posts on the 
model of Worcestershire County Council (WCC) in order to 
strengthen governance arrangements. This would necessitate 
updating Council’s constitutional governance arrangements. 
Members were advised that any elected member could put such 
proposal to the Constitutional Review Working Party who were the 
most appropriate forum for Members to raise constitution-related 
proposals. Following this clarification, Councillor Marshall agreed to 
withdraw the above proposal and instead proposed that any 
proposals on governance be referred to the Constitutional Review 

Page 104 Agenda Item 8



   

Overview and 

Scrutiny 
Committee 

 
 

Thursday, 8th June, 2023 

 

Working Party for consideration. The resolution was worded as 
follows:  
 
“That it be reaffirmed, in relation to Recommendation 2 of the 
Corporate Peer Challenge, that elected member proposals relating 
to governance arrangements be referred to the Constitutional 
Review Working Party as the forum that facilitates engagement of 
all elected members in improving the Council’s decision-making 
processes.” 
 
On being put to the vote, the above resolution was agreed, and it 
was agreed that the action plan to recommendation 2 should be 
endorsed by the Overview and Scrutiny Committee without 
changes. 
 
With regards to recommendation 3, Members sought clarification 
with regards to the Workforce Strategy Action Plan as it was 
observed that some of the actions contained in this Strategy should 
exist as business-as-usual for an organisation, not as something to 
be developed. Officers clarified that the Workforce Strategy Action 
Plan presented was alongside an operational action plan that 
contained significant amount of detail on business-as-usual matters. 
This resulted in a great number of actions being highlighted in the 
main Workforce Strategy. Members requested that a briefing note 
be prepared that highlights which actions in the Workforce Strategy 
were already in place and which were in the development stage. 
 
In response to queries about the planned new council chamber and 
arrangements for live webcasting of council meetings, Officers 
reported that proposals for new chamber in terms of webcasting 
technology, frequency and type of council meetings that would be 
streamed would be brought before Members. In terms of layout of 
the new council chamber, it was commented that it was planned at 
this point that in ‘blind spots’ screens would be installed so that 
elected members would still be able to observe the dais and the 
centre of the chamber from these places. Architects’ drawings 
would be shared with all Members. 
 
On being put to the vote, it was agreed that the action plan for 
recommendation 3 should be endorsed by the Overview and 
Scrutiny Committee without changes. 
 
With regards to recommendation 4, a proposal was put forward by 
Councillor Harvey, seconded by Councillor Kane, that an additional 
action be inserted to the Corporate Peer Challenge Action Plan (at 
Appendix B) for recommendation 4 as follows: 
 

Page 105 Agenda Item 8



   

Overview and 

Scrutiny 
Committee 

 
 

Thursday, 8th June, 2023 

 

“‘that the Implementation Plan for Agile working (included at 
Appendix F) includes the assessment of the needs of residents in 
accordance with the Council’s Agile Working Policy. This should 
include undertaking an Equality Impact Assessment (EIA).” 
 
During the discussion, it was highlighted that evaluating the impact 
that agile working had on residents’ ability to resolve enquiries with 
the Council and access to Council services should be a priority, 
however, no reference to the effect of agile on customers of the 
Council, the residents, was made in the Agile working action plan 
(Appendix F). It was with this in mind that the above addition to the 
action plan was proposed. Members also raised consideration of 
technological solutions such as ‘communication pods’ put in 
locations across the Borough that would enable residents to speak 
directly with Officers via a remote connection should continue to be 
considered. 
 
Following the discussion, the proposed addition to recommendation 
4 was put to the vote, and it was agreed that the Executive 
Committee be asked to add this addendum outlined above to the 
Corporate Peer Challenge Action Plan for recommendation 4. 
 
With regards to recommendation 5, it was agreed that the action 
plan in response to recommendation 5 should be endorsed by the 
Overview and Scrutiny Committee without changes. 
 
With regards to recommendation 6, it was agreed that the action 
plan in response to recommendation 6 should be endorsed by the 
Overview and Scrutiny Committee without changes. 
 
RECOMMENDED to the Executive Committee 
 

1) That the following additions be inserted to the Council’s 
Corporate Peer Challenge Action Plan (response to 
Peer Challenge recommendations) included at 
Appendix B to the report: 
 
Recommendation 1: “to produce a new engagement 
plan so that residents have the opportunity to shape 
new Council policies at the development stage. The 
plan should be co-produced with residents ensuring 
a broad selection of people with no political bias are 
involved in producing the plan.” 
 
Recommendation 4: “that the Implementation Plan for 
Agile working (included at Appendix F) includes the 
assessment of the needs of residents in accordance 

Page 106 Agenda Item 8



   

Overview and 

Scrutiny 
Committee 

 
 

Thursday, 8th June, 2023 

 

with the Council’s Agile Working Policy. This should 
include undertaking an Equality Impact Assessment 
(EIA).” 

 
RESOLVED  
 

2) That it be reaffirmed, in relation to Recommendation 2 of 
the Corporate Peer Challenge, that elected member 
proposals relating to governance arrangements be 
referred to the Constitutional Review Working Party 
as the forum that facilitates engagement of all elected 
members in improving the Council’s decision-making 
processes. 
 

6. EXECUTIVE COMMITTEE MINUTES AND SCRUTINY OF THE 
EXECUTIVE COMMITTEE'S WORK PROGRAMME - SELECTING 
ITEMS FOR SCRUTINY  
 
The Committee requested that the following items from the 
Executive Committee’s Work Programme be added as pre-scrutiny 
items to the Committee’s Work Programme: 
 

 Playing Pitch and Built Facilities Strategies 

 Parking Enforcement Service Level Agreement 

 Matchborough and Winyates Regeneration Proposals 

 Decarbonisation of the Council Fleet 

 Carbon Reduction Strategy – Annual Review 

 Review of Governance Arrangements for Rubicon Leisure 
Limited 

 Future Plans for Auxerre House. 
 
In addition, it was requested that the following items from the 
Executive Work Programme be referred to the Budget Scrutiny 
Working Group for its consideration:  
 

 Treasury Outturn Report 22/23 

 Draft Council Tax Support Scheme 2024/25  

 HRA Rent Setting 2024/25. 
 
RESOLVED that 
 
the Overview and Scrutiny Work Programme be updated with 
items from the Executive Committee’s Work Programme as per 
the pre-amble above. 
 

7. OVERVIEW AND SCRUTINY WORK PROGRAMME  
 

Page 107 Agenda Item 8



   

Overview and 

Scrutiny 
Committee 

 
 

Thursday, 8th June, 2023 

 

The Democratic Services Officer explained that there had been a 
number of items identified by Members for inclusion in the 
Committee’s work programme during the overview and scrutiny 
training event held on 5th June 2023. The suggestions made by 
Members at the training event would be considered as an agenda 
item at the next meeting of Overview and Scrutiny Committee on 
20th July 2023. 
 
RESOLVED that 
 
the Overview and Scrutiny Work Programme be noted. 
 

8. TASK GROUPS, SHORT SHARP REVIEWS AND WORKING 
GROUPS - UPDATE REPORTS  
 
Updates on Task Groups and Working Groups were provided as 
follows: 
 

a) Budget Scrutiny Working Group – Chair, Councillor Kane 
 
Councillor Kane reported that a number of meetings of the Working 
Group had now been scheduled. 
 

b) Performance Scrutiny Working Group – Chair, Councillor 
Holz 

 
As Councillor Holz had submitted his apologies, he could not 
provide an update. It was reported, however, that meeting dates for 
this Working Group had now been arranged. 
 

c) Consideration of any outstanding Task Groups – All 
Councillors 

 
Members present agreed that the Bulky Waste and Fly Tipping 
Task Group should be launched and undertaken in the first 
instance. 
 
RESOLVED that 
 
the Task Groups, Short Sharp Reviews and Working Groups 
Update Reports be noted. 
 

9. EXTERNAL SCRUTINY BODIES - UPDATE REPORTS  
 
Councillor Marshall provided an update in respect of External 
Scrutiny Bodies and in doing so that no meetings of the West 
Midlands Combined Authority (WMCA) Overview and Scrutiny or 

Page 108 Agenda Item 8



   

Overview and 

Scrutiny 
Committee 

 
 

Thursday, 8th June, 2023 

 

the Worcestershire County Council Health Overview and Scrutiny 
(HOSC) had yet taken place in this municipal year. 
 
Councillor Marshall thanked the previous long-time representative 
on external scrutiny bodies, former Councillor Michael Chalk, for his 
regular written reports that were considered at meetings of this 
Committee. She undertook to similarly provide written updates in 
advance of the Committee meetings. 
 
RESOLVED that 
  
the External Scrutiny Bodies updates be noted. 
 
 
 
 
 

The Meeting commenced at 6.30 pm 
and closed at 8.22 pm 

Page 109 Agenda Item 8



This page is intentionally left blank



 

 
 

Executive 
Committee 

  

Tuesday, 13th June, 2023 

 

 

 Chair 
 

 
 

MINUTES Present: 

  
Councillor Matthew Dormer (Chair), Councillor Gemma Monaco (Vice-
Chair) and Councillors Joe Baker, Joanne Beecham, Brandon Clayton, 
Luke Court, Lucy Harrison and Bill Hartnett 
 

 Also Present: 
 

 Councillors Joanna Kane, Kerrie Miles and Jane Spilsbury 
 

 Officers: 
 

 Matthew Bough, Peter Carpenter, Kevin Dicks, Claire Felton, Sue Hanley 
and Michelle Howell 
 

 Principal Democratic Services Officer: 
 

 Jess Bayley-Hill 

 
 

1. APOLOGIES  
 
An apology for absence was received on behalf of Councillor Craig 
Warhurst. 
 

2. DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST  
 
There were no declarations of interest. 
 

3. LEADER'S ANNOUNCEMENTS  
 
The Leader advised that at a meeting of the Overview and Scrutiny 
Committee held on 8th June 2023 Members had pre-scrutinised the 
Corporate Peer Challenge report, due to be considered at Minute 
Item No. 5 at the Executive Committee meeting.  At the end of their 
debate, the Overview and Scrutiny Committee had proposed a 
recommendation on the subject which had been published in a 
supplementary pack for the consideration of the Executive 
Committee.  Members were urged to consider the Committee’s 
proposals alongside the report. 

 

Page 111 Agenda Item 12



   

Executive 
Committee 

 
 

Tuesday, 13th June, 2023 

 

4. MINUTES  
 
RESOLVED that 
 
the minutes of the meeting of the Executive Committee held on 
Tuesday 21st March 2023 be approved as a true and correct 
record and signed by the Chair. 
 

5. CORPORATE PEER CHALLENGE - ACTION PLAN  
 
The Chief Executive presented the Corporate Peer Challenge 
report and action plans for the Executive Committee’s 
consideration. 
 
The Committee was informed that the Corporate Peer Challenge 
had been requested at a Bromsgrove Council meeting held in 
December 2022, following the authority’s receipt of a Section 24 
Notice from the external auditors, Grant Thornton.  The decision 
had subsequently been taken to invite the Local Government 
Association (LGA) to undertake a joint Corporate Peer Challenge 
for Redditch Borough Council and Bromsgrove District Council.   
 
There were a number of key themes that were addressed in all 
Corporate Peer Challenges undertaken through the LGA but in 
addition, Councils could ask for the peers to focus on particular 
areas; for this Corporate Peer Challenge, a request had been made 
for peers to focus on governance and culture as well as Council 
finances, due to the points raised in the Section 24 Notices issued 
to both authorities.  The Corporate Peer Challenge team had 
comprised representatives from a number of different Councils, 
including elected Member representatives, and their report had 
been published prior to the local elections in May 2023.   
 
The Corporate Peer Challenge report had contained a number of 
recommendations and these had already been reviewed by the 
Corporate Management Team (CMT).  In some cases, Officers had 
identified that action was already being taken to address the points 
that had been raised.  The appendices to the report provided further 
detail on the action being taken and Members were asked to note 
the following key points: 
 

 The Corporate Peer Challenge had emphasised that, given 
the financial challenges for local government, the Council 
needed to identify clear priorities and to ensure that these 
informed the content of the authority’s Medium Term Financial 
Plan (MTFP). 

 In respect of the governance issues that had been identified, 
Members were asked to note that there was already a lot of 
work being undertaken with respect to Member training, as 

Page 112 Agenda Item 12



   

Executive 
Committee 

 
 

Tuesday, 13th June, 2023 

 

part of the new Member induction process, as well as the 
ongoing review of the Council’s constitution by the 
Constitutional Review Working Party (CRWP).  In addition, 
CMT had identified that all Member briefings on particular 
topics might need to be organised on a case-by-case basis 
moving forward. 

 A lot of work had already been undertaken in respect of the 
Workforce Strategy, which had previously been approved by 
Members, and a high-level action plan had been developed.  
Many of the projects within this plan were complex and 
required action from Heads of Service and managers and 
progress with this would be monitored.  Some of the priorities 
underpinning this would be considered by CMT shortly and 
would thereafter be managed by a Strategy Working Group. 

 In respect of the Council’s approach to agile working, an Agile 
Working Policy had been developed following a pilot of agile 
working arrangements.  The policy took into account best 
practice and staff briefings had been delivered to help 
communicate the terms of the policy.  There was an Agile 
Working Project Board, which assessed implementation from 
a strategic perspective, although service managers would be 
responsible for ensuring that the policy was applied in the 
most appropriate way to meet the needs of their customers.  
Residents, tenants and the business would all be prioritised 
when determining how agile working should apply in practice 
in different contexts across the organisation and performance 
management would apply to ensure that services continued to 
be delivered effectively. 

 The Finance Delivery Plan detailed the action that was being 
taken to address the issues with financial management that 
had been highlighted in the Section 24 Notice.  This included 
the provision of an Accounting Policies report for consideration 
at every meeting of the Audit, Governance and Standards 
Committee, the frequency of which had increased from four to 
six meetings per year in the 2023/24 municipal year.  The 
report would update the Committee on the progress that was 
being achieved and any issues with non-compliance. 

 
The Corporate Peer Challenge process usually concluded with a 
follow up visit by some of the peers to review the progress that had 
been achieved.  Generally, these follow up meetings occurred 
within six months of the original visit, however, due to the 
forthcoming departure of the current Chief Executive, it was 
suggested that Members might wish to review those timescales to 
involve the new Chief Executive in due course. 
 
Following the presentation of the report, Members commented on a 
number of points in detail: 
 

Page 113 Agenda Item 12



   

Executive 
Committee 

 
 

Tuesday, 13th June, 2023 

 

 The information included in the report regarding community 
engagement and involving Members in this process.  It was 
noted that the Council needed to try to consult with more than 
800 people when undertaking community engagement and 
that the authority also needed to try to engage with a wider 
and more representative demographic. 

 The possibility of holding residents’ forums for engagement on 
particular issues. 

 The potential to improve engagement with more Members in 
Council business. 

 The lack of financial monitoring reports for the period leading 
up to the Council receiving a Section 24 Notice and the 
weaknesses with risk management that had been identified in 
the notice.  Officers highlighted that reports received 
throughout the 2022/23 municipal year had already addressed 
this issue and would continue to be considered at Committee 
meetings and that Risk Management had been discussed 
quarterly at both Executive and Audit, Governance and 
Standards Committee throughout 2022/23. 

 The need for effective systems to enable Members to report 
casework and to receive responses from Officers more swiftly 
than the existing ten-day response rate for the Housing 
Department. 

 The potential for Redditch Executive Committee members to 
hold joint meetings with Bromsgrove Cabinet Members as 
suggested by the Corporate Peer Challenge team.  The 
Leader explained that he would be supportive of this where 
the two authorities were considering reports on the same 
subjects and where it could be demonstrated that this would 
have a beneficial impact in terms of reducing demands on 
officer time.  However, Members were asked to note that, 
following the local elections in May 2023, Bromsgrove District 
Council was exploring various different options which might 
impact on the potential to work together in this way moving 
forward. 

 Concerns were raised regarding the timeframes in which 
reports were provided to Members, particularly scrutiny 
Members, and the need for this to be improved.  It was noted 
that the Council was compliant with the requirement to publish 
agenda packs at least five clear working days before a 
meeting and the focus of Overview and Scrutiny in previous 
years on only pre-scrutinising the Executive reports had 
impacted on timeframes for scrutiny Members to receive 
reports, which would be available once published for the 
Executive Committee meetings.  Adopting a different approach 
to pre-scrutinising issues more holistically, taking into account 
wider issues than just the Executive Committee’s report, could 
help to address this problem alongside potentially reviewing 

Page 114 Agenda Item 12



   

Executive 
Committee 

 
 

Tuesday, 13th June, 2023 

 

the timing of the Overview and Scrutiny Committee meetings 
in relation to Executive Committee meetings moving forward. 

 The progress that had been made with the works on the Town 
Hall hub and the extent to which the financial figures identified 
for this work were “final" in a context in which rates of inflation 
had increased.  Officers explained that the figures had been 
based on quotes provided in the summer of 2022/23.  The 
exact figures remained to be determined, subject to the 
outcomes of the library consultation and the subsequent 
procurement process being undertaken in July – August 2023. 

 The action that had been taken to date with respect to 
increasing use and upgrading the Council’s Enterprise 
Resource Planning (ERP) system.  Officers explained that 
staff had attended recent conferences and were in contact 
with external experts regarding this matter. 

 The members of the Corporate Peer Challenge team were 
thanked for their hard work and support.  Members and 
Officers who had contributed evidence during the challenge 
were also thanked for their contributions. 

 
During consideration of this item, Members referred specifically to 
the Overview and Scrutiny Committee’s pre-scrutiny of the 
Corporate Peer Challenge report at a meeting held on Thursday 8th 
June 2023.  Members commented that there had been a detailed 
discussion of the report at that meeting and the recommendation 
that had been made had been based on the evidence that had been 
considered.  There was general consensus that the 
recommendation proposed sensible action and it was agreed that 
the recommendation should therefore be endorsed. 
 
RESOLVED that 
 
1) the Local Government Association (LGA) Corporate Peer 

Challenge (CPC) Feedback report which took place in 
March 2023 be noted; 
 

2) the Council’s response and supporting action plans be 
endorsed; and 

 
3) That the following additions be inserted to the Council’s 

Corporate Peer Challenge Action Plan (response to Peer 
Challenge recommendations) included at Appendix B to 
the report: 

 
Recommendation 1: “to produce a new engagement plan 
so that residents have the opportunity to shape new 
Council policies at the development stage. The plan 
should be co-produced with residents ensuring a broad 

Page 115 Agenda Item 12



   

Executive 
Committee 

 
 

Tuesday, 13th June, 2023 

 

selection of people with no political bias are involved in 
producing the plan.” 
 
Recommendation 4: “that the Implementation Plan for 
Agile working (included at Appendix F) includes the 
assessment of the needs of residents in accordance with 
the Council’s Agile Working Policy. This should include 
undertaking an Equality Impact Assessment (EIA).” 

 
6. RECOMMENDATIONS FROM THE AUDIT, GOVERNANCE AND 

STANDARDS COMMITTEE - BROMSGROVE AUDIT TASK 
GROUP  
 
The Portfolio Holder for Finance and Enabling presented 
recommendations that had been agreed at a meeting of the Audit, 
Governance and Standards Committee held on 9th March 2023.  
During this meeting, the Committee had considered a report that 
had been produced by the Bromsgrove Audit Task Group, which 
had been launched by the Bromsgrove Audit, Standards and 
Governance Committee, at the request of their Council, in response 
to their Section 24 Notice.  Members were asked to note that the 
Redditch Audit, Governance and Standards Committee had 
responded in a different fashion to the Council’s Section 24 Notice, 
by agreeing to hold more frequent meetings of the Committee than 
had previously been the case and to receive a regular update at 
each meeting of the Committee on the Council’s progress in 
addressing the issues raised in the Section 24 Notice. 
 
The Bromsgrove Audit Task Group had considered hundreds of 
pages of written evidence and had held eight meetings over a 
period of 20 hours in February and early March 2023.  Based on the 
evidence gathered, the group had proposed two groups of 
recommendations; the first group had focused on general lessons 
learned in respect of areas such as project management, the need 
for proper minutes of project board meetings and escalation of 
issues for mitigation whilst the second group of recommendations 
had focused specifically on the issues arising in relation to the ERP 
finance system and the implications for closing the Council’s 
accounts.  The Redditch Audit, Governance and Standards 
Committee had concluded that the recommendations were sensible 
and that they should therefore be endorsed by the Council.  The 
Committee had also proposed that the Executive Committee should 
write to the Bromsgrove Audit Task Group to thank them for their 
hard work. 
 
Since the report had been published, further progress had been 
achieved with the implementation of the ERP system, although it 
was anticipated that the backlog in the cash receipting module 
would not be cleared until the end of the calendar year.  

Page 116 Agenda Item 12



   

Executive 
Committee 

 
 

Tuesday, 13th June, 2023 

 

Bromsgrove District Council’s Cabinet was also due to consider a 
report in respect of the project management arrangements at the 
authority, in line with one of the recommendations in the report. 
 
In concluding the presentation of the report, the Portfolio Holder for 
Finance and Enabling commented that he had consulted with senior 
officers concerning the viability of implementing the Bromsgrove 
Audit Task Group’s recommendations.  They had indicated that, 
whilst further work was required to implement some of the 
recommendations, this would be deliverable and would add value to 
the Council. 
 
Members subsequently discussed the report in detail and in doing 
so commented on the following matters: 
 

 The signficant progress that had been achieved by the 
Council, in terms of addressing the issues identified in the 
Section 24 Notice. 

 The need for lessons to be learned from the challenges that 
had been encountered during the introduction and 
implementation of the ERP system. 

 The benefits in terms of the Council monitoring the work 
delivered by third parties on behalf of the authority. 

 The need for appropriate Council resources to be allocated to 
larger projects and for staff positions to be back filled where 
required. 

 The process by which organisations could procure Software 
as a Service (SAAS) and the implications of this for the 
organisation.  Officers explained that the Council adopted this 
approach to procuring the ERP system from TechOne and, as 
a consequence, the onus was on the Council to manage that 
process, including training and the development of user 
manuals. 

 The difficulties for any organisation arising from being the first 
to adopt a new module in a system, as had been the case with 
the cash receipting part of the system. 

 The need for the Council to take into account a range of 
considerations when procuring new software, not just the 
financial costs involved. 

 
During consideration of this item, Councillor Joe Baker proposed an 
additional recommendation: 
 
“That more regular updates and reports on progress with financial 
compliance should be provided at the Council.” 
 
The recommendation was proposed by Councillor Baker and 
seconded by Councillor Bill Hartnett. 
 

Page 117 Agenda Item 12



   

Executive 
Committee 

 
 

Tuesday, 13th June, 2023 

 

In proposing the recommendation, Councillor Baker commented 
that this would help to provide Members with assurance that 
progress was being achieved and that the issues identified in the 
Section 24 Notice and subsequent Bromsgrove Audit Task Group 
report were being addressed. 
 
In seconding the recommendation, Councillor Hartnett commented 
that it would be helpful for the Executive Committee to receive an 
update on the progress that was being achieved as well as the 
Audit, Governance and Standards Committee. 
 
Members discussed the recommendation, and in doing so noted 
that the Audit, Governance and Standards Committee had already 
agreed to hold extra meetings during the year and were already 
scheduled to receive updates at every meeting on the progress that 
was being made as well as any compliance issues.  Where areas of 
concern were identified, or where the Committee agreed that issues 
needed to be highlighted for the consideration of the Executive 
Committee, the Audit, Standards and Governance Committee could 
make recommendations which would be reported for the 
consideration of the Executive Committee. In this context, it was 
suggested that the recommendation was unnecessary and 
Councillor Baker agreed to its withdrawal. 
 
RESOLVED that 
 
1) any improvements arising from the recommendations in 

the Bromsgrove District Council Audit Task Group Report 
into the issuing of the Section 24 Statement be adopted 
by the Executive Committee; and 

 
2) a formal note of thanks be sent to the Bromsgrove District 

Council Audit Task Group by the Executive Committee. 
 

7. RENEWAL OF THE ENTERPRISE RESOURCE PLANNING (ERP) 
CONTRACT  
 
The Portfolio Holder for Finance and Enabling presented a report in 
respect of the renewal of the Council’s Enterprise Resource 
Planning (ERP) System contract.  The Executive Committee was 
informed that the existing contract was due to expire at the end of 
June 2023 and therefore a new contract was required.  The Council 
was aiming to procure the system using a local government 
framework and the new contract would need to take into account 
that the Council would not be using the HR and Payroll modules, as 
had been originally intended.  There remained a backlog in respect 
of cash receipting, but the Council was on track to clear this by the 
end of the calendar year.  The only other option would be to procure 
another system from an alternative supplier.  However, the cash 

Page 118 Agenda Item 12



   

Executive 
Committee 

 
 

Tuesday, 13th June, 2023 

 

receipting backlog would still need to be cleared on the existing 
system prior to transfer and there would be extra implementation 
time and financial investment required.  The contract for the 
Wincave system, required in relation to cash receipting, was due to 
expire later in the year but would also need to be renewed.  In 
concluding the presentation of the report, the Portfolio Holder for 
Finance and Enabling recognised that there had been challenges 
for the Council in terms of the introduction and implementation of 
the ERP system but Members were asked to note that the 
organisation was generally satisfied with how the majority of the 
system functioned. 
 
After the report had been presented, Members commented on the 
following matters: 
 

 The length of the report and whether this was sufficient to 
make a decision, given the difficulties with the implementation 
of the ERP system and the issues identified in the Section 24 
Notice. 

 The level of savings that would arise from renewing the ERP 
system without including the HR and Payroll module.  
Members were advised that the figures would be subject to the 
outcomes of the tender process, although it was likely to result 
in financial savings. 

 The potential to recoup funding from the software provider.  
Officers explained that pricing would be set out in the 
framework contract, and reductions would be made as not all 
modules originally purchased (HR and Payroll) would be 
repurchased.   This would be the same framework as that 
which had originally been used and it was anticipated that this 
would result in a reduction in the fee by approximately 25 per 
cent. 

 The acronyms and other terminology used in the report and 
the benefits of providing clarification in these types of reports 
in respect of such technical terms, particularly where they 
were referenced in the resolutions or recommendations in a 
report. 

 The implications of postponing taking a decision on this matter 
after the contract had expired.  Officers explained that the 
current contract would remain in place, as there would be a 
requirement to continue to work with the existing contractor for 
at least a further two years to resolve the backlog and have a 
year of “normal running”.  This framework contract duration 
was two years plus two further one-year extensions. 

 The potential for the Leader to provide Members with further 
clarification on the financial costs to the Council involved in 
renewing the contract once the tender process had been 
completed. 

Page 119 Agenda Item 12



   

Executive 
Committee 

 
 

Tuesday, 13th June, 2023 

 

 The potential for Members to raise concerns with the relevant 
Portfolio Holder in respect of the length of reports and detail 
within specific reports in advance of Executive Committee 
meetings. 

 
During consideration of this item, the suggestion was made that, 
due to the subject matter and the issues that had been identified in 
the Section 24 Notice, the proposals detailed in the report should be 
referred to Council for determination.  However, Officers explained 
that, as the finances required to pay for the renewal of the system 
had already been incorporated into the budget framework, a 
decision was required from the Executive Committee, rather than 
Council.  It was noted that other Members could be involved in the 
process, through consideration at a meeting of the Budget Scrutiny 
Working Group and whilst this could not take place now before the 
Executive Committee determined the matter, there was still time for 
the group to scrutinise the background to the decision prior to the 
end of the month and the expiration of the existing contract. 
 
RESOLVED that 
 
1) the Council reprocures TechOne but at a reduced licence 

fee to reflect that HR and Payroll will not be used and 

delegate the finer negotiations to the Executive Director 

of Resources; 

 

2) the AMS contract continues until the Council have 

confidence that their inhouse resource is capable of 

delivering all or part of that function; and 

 
3) the Wincave contract is renewed via a tender process in 

the autumn. 

8. QUARTER 4 PERFORMANCE MONITORING REPORT 2022/23  
 
The Portfolio Holder for Finance and Enabling presented the 
Quarter 4 Performance Monitoring Report for the 2022/23 financial 
year.  Members were advised that usually this report would have 
included financial monitoring data but, to provide time to gather 
more information, a decision had been taken to report the financial 
information in July.  Progress had been made in a range of areas 
since the previous update to the Executive Committee, including 
through a reduction in staff turnover below the national average and 
an increase in Council Tax collection rates to a level that was better 
than expected. 
 
The Executive Committee discussed the report and in doing so 
commented on the delays with respect to the development at 
Edgeworth Close.  Member questioned when the development 

Page 120 Agenda Item 12



   

Executive 
Committee 

 
 

Tuesday, 13th June, 2023 

 

would be progressed further and the financial implications of the 
delay.  Officers explained that initially there had been an aim to 
complete required actions by March 2023, but this had been 
delayed to August due to a range of issues, including challenges 
accessing materials. 
 
Reference was made to the graphs and other images that had been 
included in the report.  As Committee agenda packs were always 
published in black and white, some Members commented that it 
could be difficult to view the graphs on printed copies of the agenda 
as they appeared in different shades of grey.  However, it was 
noted that the full report could be viewed quite clearly in the 
electronic version, as published on the Council’s website and which 
was accessible using the modern.gov app.  The Leader urged 
Members to use the app to access their papers electronically to 
help address this problem moving forward.  The Committee was 
asked to note that modern.gov app training had recently been 
provided to Members and further training could be provided if 
needed. 
 
RESOLVED that 
 
the Quarter 4 Performance data for the period up to 31st March 
2023 be noted. 
 

9. QUARTERLY RISK UPDATE  
 
The Portfolio Holder for Finance and Enabling presented the 
Quarterly Risk Update for Members’ consideration.  The Committee 
was advised that this was the fourth risk update report to be 
presented for the Committee’s consideration since risk monitoring 
reports had been reintroduced at the Council in 2022.  The Council 
had taken a lot of action in this time to address both the corporate 
and departmental risks that had been identified and as a 
consequence, the authority’s risk assurance had improved from a 
limited to a moderate level. 
 
During 2022/23, the number of departmental risks had declined 
from 119 to 58 by March 2023.  The majority of remaining risks 
related to compliance.  The one remaining red flagged risk was in 
respect of the Revenue and Benefits team’s work, where certain 
tasks had to be undertaken manually and there was a high volume 
of work involved.   
 
Corporate risks continued to be monitored by the Council, including 
by CMT.  Many of these corporate risks, such as in respect of cyber 
security, were likely to remain of concern moving forward. 
 
RESOLVED that 

Page 121 Agenda Item 12



   

Executive 
Committee 

 
 

Tuesday, 13th June, 2023 

 

 
the present list of Corporate and Departmental Risks be 
considered and noted. 
 

10. OVERVIEW AND SCRUTINY COMMITTEE  
 
Members considered minutes from meetings of the Overview and 
Scrutiny Committee held on 23rd February and 16th March 2023.  
The Leader confirmed that there were no outstanding 
recommendations due for consideration. 
 
RESOLVED that  
 
the minutes of the meetings of the Overview and Scrutiny 
Committee held on 23rd February and 16th March 2023 be 
noted. 
 

11. MINUTES / REFERRALS - OVERVIEW AND SCRUTINY 
COMMITTEE, EXECUTIVE PANELS ETC - RECOMMENDATION 
FROM THE AUDIT, STANDARDS AND GOVERNANCE 
COMMITTEE  
 
The Leader highlighted that at a meeting of the Audit, Governance 
and Standards Committee held on 30th May 2023, Members had 
recommended that the Portfolio Holder for Finance and Enabling 
should write to the appropriate Government minister to request a 
three-year local government financial settlement in order to provide 
certainty to the local government sector.  This recommendation had 
been forwarded for the consideration of the Executive Committee. 
 
In considering the recommendation, the Portfolio Holder for Finance 
and Enabling explained that he did not feel that it would be 
appropriate to approve this recommendation.  Instead, he 
suggested that the best way to secure a three-year financial 
settlement for the Council would be through working with the LGA.  
Members were informed that the Portfolio Holder for Finance and 
Enabling planned to write to the Chair of the Audit, Governance and 
Standards Committee to explain his position. 
 
During consideration of this item, reference was made to the 
content of the extract from the minutes of the Audit, Governance 
and Standards Committee meeting held on 30th May 2023, which 
had been provided for Members’ consideration.  Members 
questioned whether any further clarity had been received regarding 
the potential increase to the external auditor’s fee for auditing the 
Council’s accounts.  Officers explained that any increase to the 
audit fee had to be agreed with the Public Sector Audit 
Appointments (PSAA) organisation.  The level of increase to the 
audit fee still remained unclear and therefore it could not yet be 

Page 122 Agenda Item 12



   

Executive 
Committee 

 
 

Tuesday, 13th June, 2023 

 

confirmed whether this increase would need to be funded from 
balances. 
 
Members also questioned the progress that had been achieved in 
terms of the external auditor’s audit of the Council’s 2020/21 
accounts.  The Committee was advised that the external auditors 
had assured the Council that Redditch Borough and Bromsgrove 
District Councils would be their priority over the following months.  
However, Officers had been advised that it could take the auditors 
up to six months to complete the audits.  Despite this, the Council 
had been assured that, as these delays were not the fault of the 
authorities, this would not result in further Section 24 Notices being 
presented to the Councils.  Furthermore, Members were asked to 
note that there was a significant backlog nationally, in terms of 
external auditors signing off Councils’ 2021/22 accounts. 
 

12. EXCLUSION OF THE PRESS AND PUBLIC  
 
RESOLVED that: 
 
Under S100 A (4) of the Local Government Act 1972, as 
amended by the Local Government (Access to Information) 
(Variation) Order 2006, the public be excluded from the 
meeting for the following matters on the grounds that they 
involve the likely disclosure of exempt information as defined 
in paragraphs 1, 2 and 3 of Part 1 of Schedule 12 of the said 
act, as amended. 
  
Minute Item No. 13 – Compulsory Purchase of a Long-Term 
Empty Property. 
 

13. COMPULSORY PURCHASE OF A LONG TERM EMPTY 
PROPERTY  
 
The Strategic Housing Services Manager presented a report on the 
subject of the compulsory purchase of a long-term empty property. 
 
(During the consideration of this item, Members discussed matters 
that necessitated the disclosure of exempt information. It was 
therefore agreed to move to exclude the press and public prior to 
any debate on the grounds that information would be revealed 
relating to any individual, which was likely to reveal the identity of 
any individual and which related to the financial and business affairs 
of any particular person (including the authority holding that 
information)). 
 
 
 
 

Page 123 Agenda Item 12



   

Executive 
Committee 

 
 

Tuesday, 13th June, 2023 

 

 
The Meeting commenced at 6.30 pm 
and closed at 8.19 pm 

Page 124 Agenda Item 12



Document is Restricted

Page 125 Agenda Item 12
By virtue of paragraph(s) 1, 2, 3 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A
of the Local Government Act 1972.



This page is intentionally left blank



 

REDDITCH BOROUGH COUNCIL                                                                           
Executive 25th July 2023 

Establishment of a Programme Office 
 

Relevant Portfolio Holder  Luke Court - Cabinet Member for Finance and 
Enabling 

Portfolio Holder Consulted  Yes  

Relevant Head of Service Pete Carpenter – Interim Director of Finance 
Deb Poole - Head of Transformation, OD and 
Digital Services 

Report Author Peter.carpenter@Bromsgroveandredditch.gov.uk 
d.poole@bromsgroveandredditch.gov.uk 
 

Wards Affected NA 

Ward Councillor(s) 
consulted 

NA 

Relevant Strategic 
Purpose(s) 

High Quality Services 

Key Decision / Non-Key Decision 

If you have any questions about this report, please contact the report author in 
advance of the meeting. 

This report contains exempt information as defined in Paragraph(s) 3 of Part I 
of Schedule 12A to the Local Government Act 1972, as amended 

 
1. RECOMMENDATIONS 

 
 The Executive RESOLVES that:-  

 
1) Formal reporting of all projects is undertaken on a monthly basis by 

Officers and this information feeds into the Quarterly Finance and 
Performance Reports for Members. 

2) That a compliance structure is put in place to ensure delivery of projects 
and management of the multiple interdependencies across projects.  This 
includes: 

a. A council programme office be established to provide oversight and 
validation of the delivery of projects across the organisation. 

b. The roles of a programme manager and a programme officer be 
established to provide support for the delivery of this oversight, 
especially for ICT and Organisational Change projects across the 
organisation. 

 
2. BACKGROUND 
  
2.1 An Audit Task Group, comprising of six members of Bromsgrove District Councils 

(BDC) Audit Committee, was established in early 2023 to investigate the reasons 
behind the receipt by BDC of a Section 24 Notice from its external auditors, Grant 
Thornton. The Audit Task Group was also tasked with providing recommendations 
for future similar project implementation, based on any lessons learnt. Redditch, at 
its Executive meeting on the 13th June, approved to implement the 

Page 129 Agenda Item 13

mailto:Peter.carpenter@Bromsgroveandredditch.gov.uk


PMFv1.4 1 

recommendations of the Bromsgrove Task Group of Audit, Standards and 
Governance Committee. 

  
2.2 One of the recommendations from the audit task group for BDC in respect of future 

complex and key projects was that: 
 

A permanent Project Management Office be set up at BDC to support the full 
range of projects undertaken by the Council. This Project Management Office 
would report to CMT/ SMT as part of its remit. 
 

2.3 High level corporate projects are reported quarterly to the Corporate Management 
Team and included as part of the Quarterly Finance and Performance Report. 
However, there are significant numbers of projects that fall below this category.  
 

2.4 The Council already have a number of Officers trained to be project managers at 
Prince 2.  These skills need to be realigned to ensure the staff are, where 
operationally possible, project managing Council projects.  

 
2.5 Recently, the Corporate Management Team reviewed the number of projects that 

are either underway or planned to start across the organisation. Currently, this 
number stands at 59.  These are set out in Appendix A.  However, following the 
review of Projects that was undertaken in February and March an additional 29 
projects were moved to “Business as Usual”.  

 
2.6 In establishing established the number of projects, they were then placed into one 

of four main categories: 
 

 Economic Development and Regeneration. 

 Housing. 

 ICT Related 

 Organisational Change Related 
 
2,7 All projects are expected to deliver to the Councils Project Management 

Framework.  This is included in Appendix B.   
 

2.8 As part of this framework, it is expected that for each project there is a Sponsor, 
and project manager and a business case, risk assessment, and project reporting.  

 
2.9 Public Realm projects already have a governance structure in place called the 

“Project Governance” Group.  This group, which covers projects managed on the 
Councils behalf by NWeDR and in house infrastructure projects, meets on a 6 
weeky basis. Funding for large infrastructure projects include Programme and 
Project management. 
 

2.10 There will be the need to set up a Housing Board which would need to meet on a 4 
weekly basis.  There is a board set up at the moment, but it was specifically set up 
to manage the implementation of the CIVICA system.  It is proposed that this new 
Board covers all Housing projects (General Fund and HRA).  
 

2.11 However, there are significant numbers of projects that fit into the ICT and 
Organisational Change categories.  These projects generally require Council and 
3rd party resource for delivery, and it is the management of the in house resource 

Page 130 Agenda Item 13



PMFv1.4 2 

that is the most acute issues as we are using the same “key” people for multiple 
projects.  These projects can also link into Housing and Public Realm.  As an 
example, for phase 2 of Civica CX, there might be up to 10 ICT related projects.  
These require careful coordination and management. This is just one example 
where a number of projects/initiatives will need to access the same internal 
resource. 
 

2.12 For the ICT and Organisational Change projects there is the requirement for 
additional resource to: 

 Prioritise projects 

 Prioritise resource to those projects 

 Coordinate across projects the interdependencies 

 Ensure projects are delivering – challenge delivery 
 
2.13 It is envisioned that IT and Organisational Change projects will be assessed/ 

reviewed on a monthly basis as part of an extended “Back Office” Working Group 
with the Highlight Report template included in the Project Management Framework.  
Each project will be given a 10 minute slot.  Outputs from these reviews will then 
form part of the monthly assurance report.  
 

2.14 This resource will in addition coordinate overall project reporting across the 4 areas, 
including Governance and Housing projects, into a single monthly report for CMT 
via the monthly Assurance Meeting, and feed outputs into the Quarterly Finance 
and Performance Monitoring Report.  This includes validating that delivery is taking 
place and ensuring projects are completed and closed off properly 

 
2.15 Therefore, to manage and coordinate reporting overall and in particular ensure 

programme management for IT and Organisational change projects it is 
recommended that two roles of a Programme Manager and a Programme Officer be 
established to provide oversight of the delivery of these programmes and projects. 
Typically, the roles and responsibilities of these posts include the following 
activities, however these are not exhaustive lists. 
 
Programme Manager 
 

2.16 A Programme Manager would be responsible for overseeing and coordinating and 
critically challenge the execution of multiple related projects within the organisation. 
This would include planning, organising, and directing resources in a way that 
maximises efficiency and effectiveness. The role of a programme manager typically 
includes the following responsibilities: 

 Development of programme plans: developing a comprehensive plan for the 

delivery of the programme, including timelines, budgets, and resource allocation. 

 Coordinating projects: ensure that all projects within the programme are  aligned 

with the overall programme objectives and are executed according to plan. They 

would also be responsible for identifying and mitigating any risks and issues that 

arose. 

 Managing programme resources: responsible for managing programme 

resources, including people, budget, and equipment. This would involve ensuring 

that resources were allocated effectively and efficiently to achieve programme 

goals. 

Page 131 Agenda Item 13



PMFv1.4 3 

 Monitor and report progress: regularly monitor and report on the progress of the 

programme to senior management. 

 Communicating with stakeholders: responsible for communicating with 

stakeholders, including project teams, senior management, and external partners. 

This would include providing regular updates, addressing concerns, and managing 

expectations. 

 Ensuring programme compliance: ensure that all projects within the programme 

were complying with internal project management standards. 

 Managing programme finances: responsible for managing the programme budget 

and monitoring projects within the programme to ensure they operating within the 

budgets allocated to them. 

 
Programme Officer 
 

2.17 A Programme Officer would be responsible for managing and coordinating and 
critically challenging various programs and projects across the councils. The role of 
a programme officer would typically include the following responsibilities and duties:  

 Project Management: managing and overseeing the delivery of specific projects or 

programmes within the councils. This would include supporting the development of 

project plans in services, setting timelines, and monitoring progress against project 

milestones. 

 Stakeholder Management: maintaining effective relationships with stakeholders, 

including senior leaders, contractors and service project teams. This would involve 

providing regular updates, managing expectations, and addressing any issues or 

concerns that may arise. 

 Budget Management: managing program budgets and ensuring that expenditures 

are within approved limits. This would include working with the finance team to 

create budgets, track expenses, and manage cost variations. 

 Reporting: provide regular reports on programme status and progress to senior 

management in SMT/CMT.  This would involve preparing written reports and 

presenting them to the relevant parties. 

 Risk Management: identifying and mitigating project risks. This includes 

conducting risk assessments, developing risk management plans, and 

implementing appropriate controls. 

 Performance Management: monitoring the performance of project teams  and 

contractors, ensuring that they are meeting program requirements and delivering 

work to the required standard. 

 Evaluation: valuating the effectiveness of programs and projects against their 

objectives. This would involve gathering and analysing data, preparing evaluation 

reports, and making recommendations for improvements. 

 Planning: being involved in the development of service business plans to ensure 

proposed projects are included in any programmes of work. 

 
3. FINANCIAL IMPLICATIONS   
  
3.1 Salaries for Programme Managers and Officers vary depending on the size and 

location of the council and the type of projects being delivered. Based on data from 
a sample of three job websites, Programme Manager salaries in local councils 

Page 132 Agenda Item 13



PMFv1.4 4 

range from between £40,000 to £60,000 per annum. Whilst Programme Officer 
salaries in local authorities range from £30,000 to £50,000 per annum. 
 
The financial implications relate to the provision of additional salary budget as there 
are currently no Programme Manager or Programme Officer roles in the 
establishment. Having looked at current market salaries this provision is estimated 
at between £70,000 to £110,000 pa excluding oncosts.   
 

3.2 With the Project Management Framework being fully complied with (part of the role 
of these positions) funding will be allocated from each individual project. 

   
4. LEGAL IMPLICATIONS 
 
4.1 There are no legal implications as a consequence of this report. 
 
5. STRATEGIC PURPOSES - IMPLICATIONS 
 
 Relevant Strategic Purpose  
 
5.1 High Quality Services 
  

The establishment of additional programme management skills and resources will 
support the delivery of high quality services by ensuring corporate projects and 
programmes are delivered to a high standard with agreed objectives and outcomes 
being met. 
 

 Climate Change Implications 
 
5.2 There are no climate change implications as a consequence of this report. 

 
6. OTHER IMPLICATIONS  
 
 Equalities and Diversity Implications 
 
6.1 There are no equalities implications as a consequence of this report. 
 
 Operational Implications 
 
6.2 There will be a requirement for the programme office to report into a particular Head 

of Service or Director and for regular monitoring to be provided to the senior 
leadership team on a regular basis. There will also be a requirement for a technical 
system to be implemented that will support the monitoring of programme/project 
delivery.  

 
7. RISK MANAGEMENT    
 
7.1  The council have numbers of projects that are inert-related.  This report ensures that 

they are managed at an appropriate level to ensure Council Priorities are met and 
resources properly allocated.  Project management is a Corporate Risk monitored by 
the Risk Board on a quarterly basis. 

 
 
 

Page 133 Agenda Item 13



PMFv1.4 5 

8. APPENDICES and BACKGROUND PAPERS 
 

 Appendix A – Exempt Information 
 Appendix B - The Councils Project Management Framework 
 
9.  REPORT SIGN OFF 
  

Department Name and Job Title Date 

 
Portfolio Holder 
 

 
Cllr L Court 

 

Lead Director / Head of 
Service 
 

Peter Carpenter – Interim 
Deputy Section 151 Officer 

 

Financial Services 
 

Michelle Howell – Head of 
Finance and Customer 
Services 

 

Legal Services 
 

  

Policy Team (if equalities 
implications apply) 
\ 

Deb Poole - Head of 
Transformation, OD and Digital 
Services 

 

Climate Change Officer (if 
climate change 
implications apply) 
 

 
N/A 

 

  
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 134 Agenda Item 13



PMFv1.4 6 

 
Appendix A – Exempt Information 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
  

Page 135 Agenda Item 13



PMFv1.4 7 

Appendix B 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Bromsgrove District Council 
& 

Redditch Borough Council 
 

 
 

Project Management Framework 
 
 
 
  

Department Business Transformation 

Director/Head of Service Head of Transformation & Organisational Development 

Author(s) Deb Poole 

Document Ref 
Date 

PMF03 
21.10.22 

Document Version Number V1.4 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Version control 

Version Date Author Rationale 

    

1.3 24.11.21 Deb Poole Update following Audit 
September 21 

1.4 21.10.22 Helen Mole Update following Audit 
review Sept 22 

 
 
Index           Page 
 
 

Page 136 Agenda Item 13



PMFv1.4 8 

 
1. Introduction         1 

 
2. Project Type         2 

 
3. Data Protection & Equality Impact Assessment information  3 

 
4. Flow chart          4 

     
5. The Framework         5 
 
6. The Approval Process – The Business Case     5 
 
7. The Project Board, Project Team and Stakeholders    6 
 
8. The Business Case        10 

 
9. Monitoring  -  Oversight by Corporate Management Team (CMT)  11 

       
10. The Project Management Templates*      12 

 
  

 Project Scope Document 

 Project Plan 

 Highlight Report 

 Risk Register 

 Issue Log 

 Lessons Learnt 

 Project Closure Report 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

1. Introduction 
 

Page 137 Agenda Item 13



PMFv1.4 9 

The Project Management Framework (Framework) provides the Council with a consistent, 
structured approach to the planning, implementation, management, delivery  and monitoring of 
projects.  
 
The framework uses many elements of the PRINCE2 Project Management Methodology (PRojects 
IN Controlled Environments) and should be used in conjunction with the Councils Five Cases 
Business Case templates. The framework documents are designed to help answer the questions 
below, before work to deliver the project starts: 
 

 What are we trying to do/achieve? 
 When will we start? 
 What do we need? 
 Can we do it alone, or do we need help? 
 How long will it take? 
 How much will it cost? 

 
These questions are usually asked at the start of any project. The answers are the building blocks 
of project management. They define what the project will do and the best way to do it. Structured 
project management orders the project into defined steps to make it logical and organised.  
 
The framework indicates that a project should have: 
 

 An organised and controlled start - organise and plan before starting. 
 An organised and controlled middle - keep projects on track and controlled. 
 An organised and controlled end - on completion, learn and document the experience, 

close off loose ends. 
 
Almost anything that we do to achieve an outcome can be called a project. Using some or all 
elements from this framework will support the project process and provide documentation to 
demonstrate the steps taken, this would be good practice.   Flow chart 3.  
 
The framework is designed to be flexible and easy to use whilst ensuring projects are managed to 
a good standard. The use of a good project management methodology helps to ensure that 
projects deliver the desired outcomes. Use of the framework will also ensure that projects have: 
  

 An approved business case - using the Five Cases templates 

 A Project Board and Project Team 

 An authorised start 

 A structured plan for delivery 

 Clear monitoring and reporting of progress  

 A controlled finish 

 A period of evaluation and lessons learnt 
 
 

2.  Project Type 
 
Projects will fall into the following categories:  
 

Project 
Category 

Description Approval, Management & 
Monitoring 

Documentation to be 
completed  

Category 1: 
Continuous 
Improvement 

These are “Service 
improvement” 
projects.  Usually 
within a service,   
change activity that 
should run 
alongside 

This category of projects 
should be agreed/declined 
and resourced through the 
normal service 
management hierarchy and 
business planning process.  
Responsibility for initiating, 

Project Scope document as 
minimum 

Page 138 Agenda Item 13



PMFv1.4 10 

business-as-usual 
activities. Where 
managers are 
acting on what 
needs to happen, 
doing the right 
thing and making 
necessary 
changes. 
 
 

justifying, and progressing 
these projects rests 
squarely with the Service 
Manager, it is a core part of 
role. 
 

Category 2: 
Service 
Innovation 

These are change 
projects which aim 
to elevate service 
delivery, which 
demonstrate 
enterprise, and/or 
which are likely to 
require specialist/ 
technical resource 
along with agreed 
funding outside of 
established 
budgetary 
boundaries. 
 

This category of projects 
should be progressed 
through the normal service 
management hierarchy 
process but would require 
corporate approval and light 
touch monitoring.  This is 
because they may: (1) be 
requesting resources 
outside the norm; (2) be of a 
different risk profile than the 
continuous improvement 
category; and (3) require 
new competences to be 
brought in. 
 
 

Business Case 
http://orb.bromsgrove.gov.uk/Five 
Case Model Business Case 
Guidance.docx  
 
Corporate and/or Member 
approval process  Report 
guidance may be required 
 
 
 

Category 3: 
Corporate 
Projects 

These are projects 
that have marked 
corporate or 
political impact, or 
where two or more 
service areas must 
work together. Has 
a need for  
significant 
resourcing, 
investment, and 
competence levels.  
Project would be 
deemed Business 
critical. 

This category of projects 
must have corporate 
approval; clear project 
management disciplines; 
and close regular senior 
level monitoring. 

Business Case 
http://orb.bromsgrove.gov.uk/Five 
Case Model Business Case 
Guidance.docx  
 
Corporate and/or Member 
approval process  Report 
guidance may be required 

 

 
3.  Data Protection Impact Assessment 

 
The Data Protection Impact Assessment (DPIA) is a risk assessment and an important means of 
evidencing our accountability under the requirements of the UK General Data Protection 
Regulations.  You need to complete a Data Protection Impact Assessment (DPIA) if you are 
starting a project that involves or could involve any of the following: 
 

- personal data* 
- data sharing 
- new systems for storage and access 
- surveillance and monitoring 
- using existing information in new ways 

Page 139 Agenda Item 13

https://orb.bromsgrove.gov.uk/corporate/transformation/Business%20Cases/The%20Five%20Case%20Model-%20Business%20case%20templates%20and%20guidance/Business%20Case%20Framework%20v1.3.docx
https://orb.bromsgrove.gov.uk/corporate/transformation/Business%20Cases/The%20Five%20Case%20Model-%20Business%20case%20templates%20and%20guidance/Business%20Case%20Framework%20v1.3.docx
https://orb.bromsgrove.gov.uk/corporate/transformation/Business%20Cases/The%20Five%20Case%20Model-%20Business%20case%20templates%20and%20guidance/Business%20Case%20Framework%20v1.3.docx
https://orb.bromsgrove.gov.uk/corporate/Forms/Joint/Report%20Writing%20Guidance.pdf
https://orb.bromsgrove.gov.uk/corporate/Forms/Joint/Report%20Writing%20Guidance.pdf
https://orb.bromsgrove.gov.uk/corporate/transformation/Business%20Cases/The%20Five%20Case%20Model-%20Business%20case%20templates%20and%20guidance/Business%20Case%20Framework%20v1.3.docx
https://orb.bromsgrove.gov.uk/corporate/transformation/Business%20Cases/The%20Five%20Case%20Model-%20Business%20case%20templates%20and%20guidance/Business%20Case%20Framework%20v1.3.docx
https://orb.bromsgrove.gov.uk/corporate/transformation/Business%20Cases/The%20Five%20Case%20Model-%20Business%20case%20templates%20and%20guidance/Business%20Case%20Framework%20v1.3.docx
https://orb.bromsgrove.gov.uk/corporate/Forms/Joint/Report%20Writing%20Guidance.pdf
https://orb.bromsgrove.gov.uk/corporate/Forms/Joint/Report%20Writing%20Guidance.pdf


PMFv1.4 11 

 
*Personal data means any information relating to an identified or identifiable living individual; one who can be identified, 

directly or indirectly, by an identifier such as a name, an identification number, location data, online identifier or to one or 

more factors specific to the physical, physiological, genetic, mental, economic, cultural or social identity of that person).  
 
Processing of data cannot commence until the DPIA is signed off. 

 
DPIA screening questions - Answer the following questions to find out if a full assessment is 
needed: 
 

1. Will the project involve the collection of new information about individuals? 
2. Will the project compel individuals to provide information about themselves? 
3. Will information about individuals be disclosed to organisations or people who have not 

previously had routine access to the information? 
4. Are you using information about individuals for a purpose it is not currently used for, or in a 

way it is not currently used? 
5. Does the project involve you using new technology which might be perceived as being 

privacy intrusive? For example, the use of biometrics or facial recognition? 
6. Will the project result in you making decisions or taking action against individuals in ways 

which can have a significant impact on them? 
7. Is the information about individuals of a kind particularly likely to raise privacy concerns or 

expectations? For example, health records, criminal records or other information that 
people would consider to be particularly private. 

8. Will the project require you to contact individuals in ways which they may find intrusive? 
 

If the answer to any of these questions is yes, a full DPIA will need to be done. Please 
contact the Information Management Team for the form and associated guidance.  Head of 
Business Transformation, Organisational Development & Digital has final sign off. 
 
Equality Impact Assessment 
 

Although the Equality Act 2010 does not specifically require Equality Impact Assessments to be 
carried out, we are legally required to demonstrate that we have given ‘due regard’ to eliminate 
unlawful discrimination, harassment, and victimisation; advance equality of opportunity and foster 
good relations. In practice this means that equality considerations still need to be evidenced in our 
decision-making processes and policies.  
 
Any potential impact on equality should be considered before any key decisions are made and 
should be integrated into day-to-day policymaking, business planning and other decision-making 
arrangements. This is particularly relevant when making difficult financial decisions; if we are 
proposing to stop, reduce or change a service then we must have relevant equalities evidence to 
justify this. The Equality Assessment Guidance is available for officers on the Orb and the from the 
Engagement and Equalities Advisor in the Policy Team’ Policy Team can provide direct support for 
service areas and projects to help them to gather and interpret equalities evidence.  
 

 
4.  Project Management – Flow chart    

Page 140 Agenda Item 13



PMFv1.4 12 

 

 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 

Page 141 Agenda Item 13

https://orb.bromsgrove.gov.uk/corporate/Forms/Joint/Report%20Writing%20Guidance.pdf


PMFv1.4 13 

5. The Framework  
 
The framework uses some of the documents from the PRINCE 2 Project Management 
Methodology alongside the Councils Five Cases Business Case document.  These documents are: 
 

 Business Case - Five Cases Guidance and Template 

 Project Scope Document (PSD) 
 

 Project Plan  

 Risk Register 

 Highlight Report 

 Issues Log 
 

 Lessons Learnt 

 Closure Report 
 
Additional details about these documents, examples of each document and relevant guidance for  
the planning and delivery of a project are outlined in the rest of this document. 
 
Consideration should be given by HoS as to wether Prince II Foundation and/or Practitioner project 
management training is required for their managers prior to those managers leading on a complex 
and / or  high value project. 
 

6. The Approval Process – The Business Case 
 
All business case proposals (predominantly Category 2 & 3)  will need to have the appropriate 
approval prior to delivery. Depending on the type of proposal, business cases will need to be 
approved by either the: 
 

 Corporate Management Team -  commercial projects, service reviews that don’t require 
additional finance or don’t fundamentally change service delivery, high expenditure1 
projects 

 Cabinet/Executive – commercial projects, high expenditure projects, mainly Category 2 & 3. 

 Council – commercial projects, high expenditure projects, Category 2 & 3. 
 
To produce a report and gain approval please ensure that you follow the staps set out in the 
Report Writing guidance Report Guidance.  Approval may be required from Redditch Executive 
and/or Bromsgrove Cabinet.  The process is simplified below but can take time due to timing of 
meetings, please allow adequate time for approval. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
After the appropriate approval has been obtained and the correct procurement has been 
undertaken, in conjunction with Procurement Services, work to develop the project scope 
document and project plan should commence in order to deliver the business case objectives. 
 

                                                 
1 High expenditure translates  to £50,000 or over, however, if any project requires funding outside of an 

existing budget then a business case/budget bid would be required. 

 

 Starting a project 

 
 Managing a project 

 

 Ending a project 

 

 

 
CMT sign off 

 
Leaders Group 

(BDC) or 
Portfolio 

Briefing (RBC) 

 

 
Cabinet (BDC) 
or  Executive / 
Council (RBC) 

Page 142 Agenda Item 13

https://orb.bromsgrove.gov.uk/corporate/Forms/Joint/Report%20Writing%20Guidance.pdf


PMFv1.4 14 

 
7. The Project Board, Project Team and Stakeholders 
 
The Project Board 
All category 2 and 3 projects should be overseen by a Project Board. This should be a small group 
primarily consisting of: 
 

 Project Sponsor - Director/Head of Service 

 Project Manager - external (in some cases) or internal (appropriately skilled ie: internally 
trained or Prince 2 Foundation and/or Practitioner) 

 Senior Manager(s) from service(s) involved 
 
The Project Boards role is to ensure the project delivers against the strategic objectives of the 
original business case, delivers the agreed outcomes, meets its deadlines for delivery and stays 
within allocated budgets. The Project Board, along with the Senior user, is responsible for 
reviewing risk throughout project and have the ability to suspend activity within a project if there are 
problems or if the project is failing in some way. 
nxxn 
The Project Board should meet regularly but less frequently than the Project Team. The Project 
Board should receive highlight reports, budget breakdowns and milestone delivery updates from 
the Project Manager at their board meetings.  Where there is a technical issue or a specialists 
knowledge that needs explaining, it may be appropriate for key stakeholders to report individually 
to the board so there is no misunderstanding of the issue. 
 
The Project Team 
The Project Team should be brought together to discuss the project and establish roles. The team 
should consist of: 
 

 Senior Responsible Officer – Project Sponsor from the Board (occasional attendance at 
project team meetings) 

 Project Manager – internal and external (in some cases) 

 Senior User(s) – Senior Managers from involved services, along with Project Board, 
responsible for reviewing risk throughout project. 

 Senior Supplier(s) – Senior Managers responsible for delivery of the project, external 
supplier (in some cases).   

 Service Representatives/Stakeholders – may have specialist knowledge from within the 
service(s) that will be needed to deliver the project 

 Project Admin – for note taking, minutes etc 
 
The Project Team should meet regularly, probably every two weeks in the early stages of the 
project. Frequency of meetings can be increased if there are problems or reduced if the project is 
progressing according to the project plan. 
 
The Project Team should support the Project Manager to construct the Project Scope Document 
(PSD), the Project Plan and the Risk and Issue Logs. The Project Team should receive highlight 
reports, monitor risks, issues and costs as well as working to produce the key deliverables of the 
project. 
 
Stakeholder Management and Stakeholder Engagement 
Stakeholder engagement and management are some of the most important activities for 
successful project delivery. Stakeholders are individuals or groups with an interest in the project or 
programme because they are involved in the work or affected by the outcomes. Most projects and 
programmes have a variety of stakeholders with different, and sometimes competing, interests and 
influence which can affect the overall success or failure of the project. 
 

Page 143 Agenda Item 13



PMFv1.4 15 

Identifying stakeholders can be done using knowledge, research, discussions, checklists against 
project objectives/outcomes etc. The stakeholders and their areas of interest are usually shown in 
a table known as a stakeholder map (see Fig 1 below). Typical types of stakeholders will include: 
 
 

 individuals and groups performing the work. 
 individuals and groups affected by the work or the success/failure of the project. 
 owners and customers (internal and sometimes external). 
 statutory and regulatory bodies (if applicable) 

 
Each stakeholder will then be classified according to potential impact. This is usually shown in a 
matrix that estimates interest and influence on a simple scale such as low/medium/high. Those 
with an ability to directly affect the outputs or benefits are sometimes referred to as key 
stakeholders. 
 
Stakeholder Map 

 
Fig 1 – Stakeholder Map 
 
 
Stakeholder Engagement 
Stakeholder engagement is the systematic identification, analysis, planning and implementation of 
actions designed to engage with stakeholders and is a vital activity. Stakeholder engagement uses 
a set of techniques that harness the positive influences and minimises the effect of the negative 
influences. 
 
Project managers depend on people to respond to the outputs and benefits that they deliver. 
People will only respond if they are engaged. Project managers can make a substantial difference 
to the success of a project simply by understanding the stakeholders and what they want. To assist 
with this there are ten key principles of stakeholder engagement: 
 
1. Communicate 
Sharing information with stakeholders is important, but it is equally important to first gather 
information about the stakeholders to understand them and their motivations. 
 
2. Consult, early and often 
A project, in the initial stages, may be unclear to its stakeholders e.g., its purpose, scope, risks 
etc.  Early and regular consultation will ensure that requirements are agreed, and a delivery 
approach negotiated that is acceptable to the stakeholders. 
 
 
3. Remember, we are only human 

Page 144 Agenda Item 13



PMFv1.4 16 

Humans do not always behave in a rational, reasonable, consistent, or predictable way. By 
understanding the root cause of stakeholder behaviour, successful ways of working together can 
be developed. 
 
4. Plan it!  
A conscientious and measured approach to stakeholder engagement is essential. Investment in 
careful planning before engaging stakeholders can bring significant benefits. 
 
5. Relationships are key 
Good relationships build trust, so people work together more easily and effectively. Identifying and 
building stakeholder relationships can increase confidence across the project, reduce uncertainty, 
improving problem solving and decision-making. 
 
6. Anticipate issues 
Using foresight to anticipate issues and taking simple and timely actions with stakeholders can 
significantly improve project delivery. Understanding the stakeholders is key. 
 
7. Just part of managing risk 
Stakeholders are important influential resources and should be treated as potential sources of risk 
and opportunity within the project. 
 
8. Compromise 
Agree an acceptable baseline across the stakeholders' diverging expectations and priorities. 
Assess the importance of all stakeholders to establish a weighted hierarchy against the project 
requirements. 
 
9. Understand what success is  
Project success means different things to different people. It is important to establish what the 
stakeholder community perceives success to be for them in the context of project delivery. 
 
10. Take responsibility 
Stakeholder engagement requires everyone to understand and follow the right approach to 
communication and engagement. Good project governance requires clarity about stakeholder 
engagement roles and responsibilities and what is expected of people involved in the project. 
 
Engaging with stakeholders requires the development of a communication plan, where appropriate 
strategies and actions can be defined to support engagement with stakeholders in various parts of 
the project or organisation.  
 
Stakeholder Communication Plan  
Communication with stakeholders is about keeping everybody in the loop. The communication plan 
defines the types of information to be delivered, who will receive it, the format for communicating it, 
and the timing of its release and distribution. It is important to make sure everybody gets the right 
message at the right time, in the right way. 
 
It is important when defining a communication plan (see Fig 2) to analyse what kind of 
communication stakeholders need from the project. Projects produce a lot of information; so, it is 
important not to overwhelm stakeholders with all of it. 
 
Methods of communicating can take many forms, such as written reports, conversations, email, 
formal reports, meetings, databases, schedules etc. The medium chosen, or how this information 
is shared, will depend on several factors, including the timing of when the information needs to be 
shared, access to appropriate technology, ability to use technology, frequency of meetings and the 
action required once information is shared (if any). 
 
The types of information communicated typically include project status, project scope statements 
and updates, project budget information, risks, action items, performance measures, project 
acceptance, and so on. It is important that the information needs of the stakeholders be 

Page 145 Agenda Item 13



PMFv1.4 17 

determined as early in the planning phase of the project as possible so that the project manager 
and project team already know who should receive information and how they should receive it. 
 
Communications with stakeholders who have prominent levels of interest and influence should be 
managed differently from those with stakeholders of low interest and influence. Similarly, 
communications with stakeholders who are inherently positive about the work will be different from 
those with stakeholders who are negative. 
 
Communication Plan  
 

Audience 
 

Who 

Message 
 

What 
 

Medium 
 

How 

Schedule 
 

When 

Responsible 
 

Who 
 

Project Board Highlight reports, 
Issues, Risks, 
Budget 

Board meetings, 
project papers, e-
mails, presentations 

Monthly Project Manager 

Stakeholders Issues, Risks, 
Project Plan 

Project meetings, e-
mails, Intranet 

Monthly Project Manager 

Project Team Project Plan, 
Issues, Risks 

Project meetings, 
orb, e-mails 

Weekly Project Manager 

CMT 
 

Project progress Presentation Quarterly Project Sponsor 

Members 
 

Project progress Presentation Quarterly (by 
exception) 

CMT 

Employees Project progress, 
Impact 

Newsletters, e-
mails, presentation 

Monthly or 
dependent on 
impact 

Project Manager 
Project Sponsor 

Partners Project progress, 
Impact 

Meetings, 
presentations 

Dependent on 
partner 
involvement 

Project Sponsor 
Project Manager 

Fig 2 – Communication Plan 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 146 Agenda Item 13



PMFv1.4 18 

 

8. The Business Case  
 
The business case provides decision makers, stakeholders and the public with evidence of 
transparent decision making and a framework for the delivery, management and monitoring of the 
proposal. Well thought out and robustly evidenced business cases will help the organisation to 
achieve its strategic purposes, deliver clearly defined outcomes and benefits to our communities or 
the organisation. 

The organisation uses the approved Five Case Model for the development of business cases. This 
model has been used by Government departments and the wider public sector for many years. It 
comprises of the following five key components:  

 The Strategic Case 

 The Economic Case 

 The Commercial Case 

 The Financial Case 

 The Management Case 
 
Information about the approval process is detailed in section 6 on page 5. 
 
This framework should be used in association with the Business Case Development Guidance 
document (available on the ORB) which includes guidance on the development of business cases 
and sample templates for use when constructing a business case. This document can be accessed 
via the link below: 
 
http://orb.bromsgrove.gov.uk/Five Case Model Business Case Guidance.docx 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 

Page 147 Agenda Item 13

https://orb.bromsgrove.gov.uk/corporate/transformation/Business%20Cases/The%20Five%20Case%20Model-%20Business%20case%20templates%20and%20guidance/Business%20Case%20Framework%20v1.3.docx


PMFv1.4 19 

9. Monitoring 
 
As covered earlier in this document, the Highlight Report is used to report on stage progress and 
should be produced regularly by the Project Manager to report progress to the Project Board.  
 
In addition to the Project Board, Corporate Management Team (CMT) require assurance around 
outcomes and overall project coordination, CMT therefore will assess quarterly, the status of 
Category 3 projects, Category 2  (ie: complexity/political or budget implications), and where 
applicable receive updates from projects led by third party organisations.   Project Managers will be 
required to report on project scope, time, budget, approvals, direction of travel, phases and 
escalations. 

CMT should be made aware of any concerns on projects not identified as requiring oversight 
(Category 1) at an early stage, so that a decision can be made as to whether to add it onto the 
corporate oversight/monitoring report. CMT will monitor the overall number of projects in each 
category to ensure there is sufficient specialist resources and budgets to manage and deliver all 
projects for the various services.  
 
CMT will be responsible for deciding if projects require reporting to Members on, this will be by 
exception basis. Performance reports will be created by the Policy Team in conjunction with Heads 
of Service  who will provide performance data on a quarterly basis. Any project updates that 
require reporting will be added into this report when necessary.  
 

10. The Project Management Templates 
 
Details and samples of all the documents required to plan and deliver a project are outlined below. 
Items for consideration have also been included in this documentation in italics. These items are 
based on experience gained from the delivery of other projects and are designed to reduce any 
issues or problems arising from the project management process. 
 
Project Scope Document (PSD) 
 
The purpose of the Project Scope Document (PSD) is to briefly outline the requirements for any 
project.  It collates relevant information to move forward and helps guide the path of the project as 
it pulls together the purpose, financial information, roles and responsibilities.  The PSD should be 
constructed either by the person(s) who wrote the business case or with their assistance and 
should be approved by the Project Board. If the project does not require a formal business case to 
be completed, the lead or service manager should complete a PSD as this will assist in gathering 
the information required to  move forward such as financial, resourcing and ICT implications. 
 
It should define the project, in order to form the basis for its management and an assessment of its 
overall success. The PSD gives the direction and scope of the project and (along with the Project 
Plan) forms the ‘contract’ between the Project Manager and the Project Board. It also:  
 

 Ensures that the project has a sound basis before asking the Project Board to make any 
major commitment to the project 

 Acts as a base document against which the Project Board and Project Manager can assess 
progress, issues and ongoing viability questions 

 Provide a single source of reference about the project so that people joining the project 
team can quickly and easily find out what the project is about, and how it is being managed. 

 
In the early stages of a project it is worth considering the following items: 
 

 Outline proposal and options for change - department responsibilities.  Start to discuss this 
with Heads of Service/Managers. Who needs to be involved? 

 Have the budgets been allocated for the project? 

 What resources will be needed to deliver the project?  

Page 148 Agenda Item 13



PMFv1.4 20 

 What are the customer implications? 

 Will there be an impact on other services whilst the project is being delivered? How will this 
be mitigated? 

 How will service be maintained during delivery of the project 
 
 
 

Project Scope Document (PSD template) 
 

Project Name:  
Prepared by:        Date: 

1. Purpose  

Define the purpose of the project and seek approval for the start of the project from the Head of 
Service or Project Board. 

Project Definition and benefits 

What the project is. What it will deliver.  What are the expected benefits and planned outcomes for  
the community and/or organisation?  Deliverables and benefits should be measurable wherever 
possible. 

2. Current position  

Investigation of the current position (Summary and Bullet points) 
The deficiencies of the current position (Summary and Bullet Points).  
The consequent risks arising from these deficiencies (Summary and Bullet Points). 
Any other background information you consider relevant.  

3. Proposal  

Details of the new proposal or information  from approved  business case: 
What is the proposal and why ?or options available, for example:- 

 Option 1 – (one line description only) 

 Option 2 – (one line description only) 

 Option 3 – (one line description only) 
Option (x) was recommended and approved – (One line description). 

4. Overview of the proposal   

Provide a brief overview of the recommended or approved  option, in particular, the nature of the 
recommended option, the impact on enabling services or support required from enabling or other 
services. 
 
5. Costs  
For the approved option provide brief revenue and capital costs and budget allocation. 
 
6. Project Board and Project Team 

Board Role Nominee(s) 

Senior Responsible Officer (Project Sponsor)  

Project Manager  

Senior User(s)  

Senior Supplier (internal and external)  

Project Administrator  

 

 Team Role Nominee(s) 

Project Manager  

Deputy Project Manager (high complexity project 
and budget availablility)  

 

Senior Supplier (internal and external)  

Page 149 Agenda Item 13



PMFv1.4 21 

Service Representatives or Stakeholders  

Project Administrator  

 
7. Timescales 
The project will start on (date) and finish on (date). Refer to the development of the Project Plan 
and any possible slippage or obvious risks to the delivery of the project.  
 
Project Plan  
 
Project management involves the management of a variety of tasks and the people responsible for 
those tasks. It includes planning and scheduling tasks and controlling the budget associated with 
delivering an end-product, in a finite time period. The final outcome will produce a significant 
change in an organisation, service or community. Project management is not business-as-usual 
management. 
 
The project plan is a time and dependency based schedule such as a Gantt Chart that provides a 
breakdown of all the tasks required to deliver the project. It also includes timescales and resources 
allocated to particular tasks.  The project plan usually takes the form of a Gantt chart or 
spreadsheet (see sample below). The following will need to be included in the plan: 
 

 Timeline for whole project  
 

 Stages of the project 
 

 Tasks required to deliver the project – these need to be detailed and any dependencies 
included. 
 

 Start/finish dates for each identified task 
 

 Resources allocated to each task  
 

 Key milestones 
 

 Key deliverables 
 

 Communication points – relating to the communication plan 
 

 Task dependencies – to other parts of the project or to other projects. 
 

 Status of each task – how close to completion is it (usually expressed as a %) 
 
 
 

Page 150 Agenda Item 13



PMFv1.4 22 

Project Plan (Gantt Chart) - Example 
 
 

 
 
 

ID Status Task Name Duration Start

1 52% Stage 1- project definition 29 days Fri 27/02/09

2 100% Draft PID 4 days Fri 27/02/09

3 100% Approve PID 1 day Thu 05/03/09

4 100% Agree project lead and project team 0 days Thu 05/03/09

5 100% Schedule project team meetings 0 days Thu 19/03/09

6 50% Draft project plan 1 day Mon 02/03/09

7 0% Specify Vision and Project Strategy 2 days Wed 25/03/09

8 43% Develop scope and objectives 3 days Fri 27/03/09

9 0% Draft issue log 1 day Wed 08/04/09

10 0% Draft risk log 1 day Wed 08/04/09

11 23% Stage 2 - data gathering 86 days Wed 04/03/09

12 65% Financial data 5 days Mon 23/03/09

13 85% Infrastructure data 9 days Thu 19/03/09

14 100% Skills analysis 10 days Wed 04/03/09

15 14% Contract details 5 days Fri 03/04/09

16 0% Site visits 4 days Mon 27/04/09

17 0% Conduct analysis of baseline data 14 days Thu 30/04/09

18 0% Options appraisals 14 days Thu 30/04/09

19 0% Outline benefits of ss 5 days Mon 25/05/09

20 0% Outline costs of ss 5 days Mon 01/06/09

21 0% Draft business case 24 days Fri 29/05/09

05/03

19/03

W T F S S M T W T F S S M T W T F S S M T W T F S S M T W T F S S M T W T F S S M T W
16 Feb '09 23 Feb '09 02 Mar '09 09 Mar '09 16 Mar '09 23 Mar '09 30 Mar '09

P
age 151

A
genda Item

 13



PMFv1.4 23 

Highlight Report  
 
The Highlight Report is a report on stage progress and should be produced regularly by the Project 
Manager to report progress to the Project Board. The Highlight Report is used to confirm that the 
current stage of the project is running within tolerances and to indicate any possible future 
problems. The Highlight Report should provide a summary of progress against the project plan 
tasks and milestones and includes details about completed work, planned work, overall project 
status and financial information or spend to date.  
 
Risks, issues and concerns are also included in this report but at a less detailed level than the 
Issue or Risk Logs (see later sections in this framework) 
 
The Highlight Report should be produced using the approved template below and sent out to those 
involved in the delivery or monitoring of the project in accordance with the communication plan. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 152 Agenda Item 13



PMFv1.4 24 

Highlight Report - Template 

 

Project Name:  

Period ending:  Prepared by:  

Status:  Red / Amber / 
Green 

% of Project 
Complete:  

 

Project Start date:  Projected 
Completion 
date: 

 

Summary position: 

Provide an overall statement on the position of the project eg: milestones, deliverables etc 

 

 

Planned activities for this period   

List the activities that were  planned 
for this period (which should be the 
same as the list of activities planned 
for next period on the previous report) 

Summarise progress against each activity 

Other progress for this period 

Detail any other progress achieved during the period. 

 

 

Planned activities for next period  

List the activities planned in the next period, with dates due. 

 

Risks, issues and concerns Mitigating Action 

  

Summary of Project Benefits (provide detail on project benefits, expected outcomes etc) 

Detail project benefits as per business case 

 

 

Financial Update/Spend to date 

 

 

 

 
 

Page 153 Agenda Item 13



PMFv1.4 25 

Risk Register - Template 
 
The Risk Register captures and maintains the information (both threats and opportunities) on all identified risks that relate to the project. It 
provides a record of risks, including their status and history. It is used to capture and maintain information on all the identified threats and 
opportunities relating to the project. Information on the status of the risk, resolution or mitigation, is also included. The Risk Log template below 
should be replicated using an Excel spreadsheet to enable more complete information to be put into each section. 
 
 

Risk 
ID 

Author Date 
Registere

d 

Risk 
Category 

Description Probability 
H,M, L 

Likelihood Issue 
Response 

Issue Status Issue 
Owner 

Issue Actioner 

Cause Event Effect   Initial Current Expected   

1   Budget            

2   People            

3   Customer            

4   GDPR            

5   Technical            

6   Reputation            

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

P
age 154

A
genda Item

 13



PMFv1.4 26 

Issue Log 
 
The purpose of the Issue Log is to capture and maintain information on all of the issues that are 
being formally managed.  Issues that may impact on the successful delivery of the project should 
be logged on the Issue Log.  The log should be set up at the start of the project and added to as 
the project progresses and more issues come to light. 
 
Resolved issues should not be deleted off the log but retained for future reference, especially for 
the project completion/lessons learned stages. Issues should be highlighted and discussed at 
Project Team meetings or escalated to the Project Board if they are likely to disrupt or stop the 
progress of the project. The Issue Register should be monitored by the Project Manager on a 
regular basis 
 
The Issue Log template below should be replicated using an Excel spreadsheet to enable more 
complete information to be put into each section  
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 155 Agenda Item 13



PMFv1.4 27 

Issue Log – Template with sample data 
 
 

Issue 
ID 

Issue 
Type 

Date 
Raised 

Raised By Issue 
Owner 

Description Priority Severity Status Date of 
last 

update 

Closure Date 

1 Problem/ 
Concern 

12/09/21 A N Other AB Not confirmed decision for 
purchasing 

HIGH H Closed 04/12/21 01/01/22 

2 Resources 05/11/21 A N Other CD Budget for the new system HIGH M Open 03/12/21 
 

3 Staff 07/11/21 F Smith MO Staff Engagement  HIGH L Closed 07/12/21 30/12/21 

           

           

           

           

           
 

                    

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

P
age 156

A
genda Item

 13



BROMSGROVE DISTRICT COUNCIL  

 
Cabinet  7th June 2023

 
 

PMFv1.4 28 

Lessons Learnt  
 
Lessons learnt are the learnings gained from the process of managing and delivering the 
project and should be an on-going process throughout the life of the project. This activity 
should be encouraged by the project manager from the start of the project. 
 
Project managers, stakeholders, team members and board members should all 
participate in the lessons learned process by reviewing the lessons learned report and 
making decisions on how to use the knowledge gained. 
 
Sharing lessons learnt among project team members helps to prevent the repeating of 
the same mistakes and also allows the team to take advantage of organisational best 
practice. Innovative approaches and good work practices should always be shared with 
others. Lessons learnt should also be used to improve future projects and future stages 
of current projects. 
 
It is not necessary to wait until the end of the project for the learning to occur. Lessons 
can be identified at any point during the project 

The Lessons Learnt report should be started as soon as a point of learning has been 
identified. It should be logged by the Project Team and Project Manager and should be 
used to identify what was learnt by the project team about the planning, management 
and delivery of the project.  
 
The Lessons Learnt Report should be detailed and ask questions about the whole cycle 
of the project. The report should be discussed at the Project Board and used to inform 
the delivery of other projects either in the same programme of work or separate projects 
where the learning can be applied.  
 
The lessons learned process shown below outlines the five steps that define the activities 
required to successfully capture and use lessons learned. These are: identify, document, 
analyse, store and retrieve.  
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Identify Document Analyse Store Retrieve 

Identify 
recommendations 
that could be 
valuable for future 
projects. 

Document and 
share findings. 

Analyse findings 
to identify 
training needs 
or process 
improvements. 

Allocate a 
repository to 
store findings 
e.g. Intranet 

Ensure findings 
can be retrieved 
and used for  
future projects. 

Page 157 Agenda Item 13



BROMSGROVE DISTRICT COUNCIL  

 
Cabinet  7th June 2023

 
 

PMFv1.4 29 

 
Lessons Learnt Report – Template with sample questions 
 

Lessons Learnt Report 

Project Title :  

Date: 

Prepared by: 

 

What went well? 
 
What would you want to do again next time? 
 
 
What went less well and why? 
 
 
What would you do differently next time? 
 
 
Was there a clear definition of success? (Refer back to the PSD and Business Case) 
 
 
Was it achieved? 
 
 
How well were risks and issues managed? 
 
 

 

Did the project team have the right skills in place? 
 
 
Were there any training/skills development needs? If so, were they addressed?  
 
 
Overall project management – How well was the project managed? 
 
 
Opening and closing events – Did this happen?  Were they a success? 
 
 
Funding/budgets approach – did it work? 
 
 
Communication approach – internal and external – did it work? 
 
Any additional lessons learnt? 
 
What recommendations would you make for any future projects? 

 

Page 158 Agenda Item 13



BROMSGROVE DISTRICT COUNCIL  

 
Cabinet  7th June 2023

 
 

PMFv1.4 30 

 
Project Closure Report 
 
The Project Closure process is used to detail how well the project performed against the 
benefit and acceptance criteria outlined in the Business Case and PSD. Project Closure 
is used to identify any outstanding items and to: 
 

 Verify user acceptance of the project’s products/outputs 
 Ensure that project outputs can be supported after the project is disbanded. 
 Review the performance of the project. This is done by comparing the project to 

the baselined documents eg: PSD, Business case etc. 
 Assess the benefits already realised and plan a review of benefits that will be 

realised after the project is complete. 
 Address outstanding issues and risks with a follow-up on action 

recommendations. 
 

This information is provided to the Project Board as a Project Closure Report, as it is the 
Project Board that closes the project; it is the Project Manager who prepares the project 
for closure.  
 
The Project Closure Report details the performance of the project. The Project Manager 
will use the Project Plan, Business Case and any other information from the Project 
Initiation Document to create the Project Closure Report. 
 
The report should consist of two parts: the closure criteria and outstanding items. A clear 
plan of action for the outstanding items should be agreed with the Board. The board will 
need to decide if the outstanding items are such that the project cannot be closed until 
they are completed. If the Board are satisfied that the outstanding items are not critical to 
the successful completion of the project then it can be closed. 
 
The report should be used to officially recommend closure and sign off of the project and 
should be taken to the Project Board when the project is completed. The Project Sponsor 
should sign the document once they are satisfied that the project has delivered its stated 
objectives. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 159 Agenda Item 13



BROMSGROVE DISTRICT COUNCIL  

 
Cabinet  7th June 2023

 
 

PMFv1.4 31 

Project Closure Report - Template 
 

Project Closure Report 

Project Title :  

Date: 

Prepared by: 

The purpose of this report is to seek authorisation from the Project Board that the project 
has met its objectives and acceptance criteria as identified in the project business case 
and other project documentation, such as the Project Scope Document (PSD) and can 
be closed. 

Closure Criteria 

Category (as per Business 
Case and PSD) 

Acceptance Criteria Achieved 
(provide details) 

Costs (Revenue & Capital) Within budget (as defined in the business 
case) 

Y/N 

 Overspend  

 Underspend  

Objectives 
 
 
 

Delivered (state as defined in the PSD, 
Business Case etc) 

 

Benefits  
 
 
 

Delivered (state as defined in the PSD, 
Business Case etc) 

 

Deliverables 
 
 

Completed  

 Accepted by Customer  

 
 
Outstanding Items 

Item Action Owner 

Task activities 
 
 
 

List all activities and tasks that have not 
been completed (as defined in the project 
plan) 

 

Risks 
 
 

List all business risks that have not been 
mitigated. 

 

Issues 
 

List all business issues that are impacting 
on the business and have not been fully 
resolved. 

 

Costs 
 
 

List any outstanding costs to be met.  

 

Page 160 Agenda Item 13



BROMSGROVE DISTRICT COUNCIL  

 
Cabinet  7th June 2023

 
 

PMFv1.4 32 

Signed:………………………………………………………………..……………………………
………..... 
 
Project 
Role:…………………………………………………………………..……………..……………
…. 
 
Date:…………………………………………………………………………..……………………
………….. 
 

 

Page 161 Agenda Item 13



This page is intentionally left blank



Document is Restricted

Page 163 Agenda Item 13
By virtue of paragraph(s) 3 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A
of the Local Government Act 1972.



This page is intentionally left blank


	Agenda
	4 Worcestershire Housing Strategy 2040
	Worcestershire Housing Strategy v11 FINAL ISSUE - Update 22.6.23

	5 Finance Recovery Plan - Update
	6 Approvals to Spend Report
	7 Treasury Outturn Report 22/23
	8 Overview and Scrutiny Committee
	12 Minutes
	Private Minutes 230613 , 13/06/2023 Executive

	13 Establishment of a Programme Office
	Appendix A - Exempt Information


